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Monday, June 15, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  I have to say, Mr. O'Leary, you and Mr. Warren win the prize this year for coloured ties.

MR. WARREN:  We take our triumphs where we can find them.

MR. KAISER:  We are all going to have to pull up our socks.

Good morning, gentlemen and ladies.  We are meeting today in connection with an application filed by PowerStream on October 10th, 2008, under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking approval for changes to the rates that PowerStream charges for electricity distribution effective May 1st, 2009.

This matter has been going on for some time.  The Board had an issues conference on March 9th, 2009, and an issues day a few days later on March 12th, and subsequently on May 29th we received a settlement proposal from all of the parties settling all of the issues, with the exception of one, which was set out at page 8 of that settlement proposal.  This is the matter of PowerStream's individual suite metering activities, and we are here today to hear submissions and evidence with respect to that matter.

Before we turn to that, however, though -- sorry, did I ask for appearances?  I don't think I did.  I will get to that in a moment. 

Before we turn to that, however, Ms. Helt, after we take the appearances, I understand there are some amendments to the settlement agreement, perhaps typographical in nature and otherwise, and also we have an outstanding issue of the confidential documents.

MS. HELT:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Which we would like the deal with.  But before we do that, can we have the appearance, please?
Appearances:

MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Helen Newland appearing on behalf of PowerStream Inc.

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Dennis O'Leary on behalf of the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for VECC.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, Board counsel, and with me, Harold Thiessen, who is the case manager for Board Staff.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's deal first, Ms. Helt, with the amendments to the settlement agreement.
Preliminary Matters:

MS. HELT:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  By way of Procedural Order No. 5, which was issued on June 3rd, the Panel has approved the settlement proposal that was filed. 

Subsequent to the settlement proposal being filed, an e-mail was sent from PowerStream indicating that there was a change to the smart meter cost recovery adder.  Due to an incorrect calculation, the adder changes from $0.28 per customer per month to $0.19 per customer per month.

With that e-mail was a revised schedule G to the settlement proposal which reflected the change that was required.  If the Panel would like, I can provide this -- we can file this as an exhibit, the amendment to schedule G to the settlement proposal.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we file the original agreement as filed with us on May 29th?  Let's give that a number, and let's give the amendment --

MS. HELT:  Certainly.  It was attached to Procedural Order No. 5, but we can mark it as Exhibit K1.1.
Exhibit No. K1.1:  Original settlement agreement filed May 29.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  And the new schedule G is?

MS. HELT:  K1.2 for the new schedule G. 
Exhibit NO. K1.2:  Amended Schedule G.

MS. HELT:  Further, on June the 8th, PowerStream served on all the parties and filed with the Board a letter indicating that there was a typographical error that they noticed in issue 2.1 on page 11 of 32, third paragraph of the settlement proposal.  The error that was reflected was the crossing out of the word "million".  So it was a simple typographical error.

MR. KAISER:  All right, let's make that K1.3.

MS. HELT:  We will mark that as K1.3.
Exhibit NO. K1.3:  Letter dated June 8, 2009 from PowerStream.

MR. KAISER:  I assume, gentlemen, ladies, no objection to the amendments to the settlement agreement?  Thank you.  What's next?

MS. HELT:  We have the issue, then, of the confidential documents that were filed by PowerStream.  By way of Procedural Order No. 4 that was issued on May 8th by the Board, any party to seeking to object to the filing of the confidential information was asked to do so by May 13th.  No such objections were received. 

As the Panel is aware, the settlement hearing convened on May the 19th.  For the purpose of that settlement hearing, it was helpful for the parties to have access to the confidential documents.  Therefore, all of the parties that participated in the settlement hearing did sign declarations and undertakings with respect to that confidential information.

Now that a settlement proposal has been reached, in accordance with the practice directions on confidential filings, we have asked the parties, by way of e-mail that was sent last week on June 11th, to return the confidential documents and to do so today. 

I understand that certain parties may not be able to do that, and then we would request that they then destroy the documents in accordance with the guidelines and have a certificate of destruction filed with the Board.

MR. KAISER:  Why is it they can't return them?

MS. HELT:  If they don't have them available today.

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.  So where are we?  Have we got the certificates or the documents from everyone?

MS. HELT:  I do not yet have the documents from the parties, no.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, PowerStream has received the documents from counsel for VECC and from CCC, from the representative of CCC, so we have received those documents back from two of the intervenors.  We have not received anything from Mr. Shepherd, Energy Probe, Board Staff.

MR. KAISER:  Delinquent again?

MS. NEWLAND:  I think right now outstanding would be Mr. Shepherd and Energy Probe.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I advised Ms. Newland.  I am surprised she hasn't told you this, but I have not been in my office, so I have been unable to destroy them or pick them up.  When I'm back in my office, which will probably be Wednesday, I will destroy them and provide a certificate of destruction.

MS. NEWLAND:  He is correct.  He did advise us of that.  I apologize for forgetting that.  Mr. O'Leary, did your client receive these documents in confidence?

MR. O'LEARY:  No, we did not.

MR. KAISER:  That leaves Energy Probe?

MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Who is the counsel for Energy Probe?

MS. NEWLAND:  I don't believe -- were they represented by counsel?  I don't believe Energy Probe is represented by counsel. It would be -- Mr. MacIntosh would be their representative.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps I can be of assistance, Mr. Chairman.  I exchanged some e-mails with Mr. MacIntosh on the weekend about the confidential documents, and he advised me that he would in his office tomorrow, and I expect that tomorrow he is going to destroy them, but I don't know.

MR. KAISER:  Can we ask you, Mr. Shepherd, to make the necessary arrangements with PowerStream with respect to your own documents, and also if you would assist us with respect to Mr. MacIntosh?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will advise --

MR. KAISER:  And give a copy to the Board secretary on any of that correspondence?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can I raise a question about this, since it's been raised on the record?  The Board has a policy, a very specific policy, on confidential documents that says they must be destroyed or returned within a certain period of time.  The Board's departing from the policy in this case to say, We would like them now instead of --

MR. KAISER:  Well, that's true.  That's my fault.  I took the simple view that since this had been settled, we didn't need to have the documents floating around, and since we were meeting today, I thought it might give us some more billable hours.  So we are just trying to clean it up, that's all, no big change in policy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  What's next?

MS. HELT:  One other preliminary matter that has been raised.  Mr. Warren has indicated that he would like to address the Panel at the outset of this hearing with respect to the specific issue which is going to be the subject matter of this hearing, and I think it would therefore be helpful to hear from him at this point, if there are no objections.


MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, before we -- I just wonder if before we proceed to Mr. Warren's preliminary matter, if I could file a table that was circulated to parties this morning and to Board Staff, and parties have a hard copy.  This table was prepared by PowerStream over the weekend in response to a table that was provided by Mr. O'Leary's client in the document brief that they filed last Friday.  It's entitled "Incremental revenue requirement and incremental revenue."  I will be having my witnesses in examination in-chief speak about this table, but I thought it might be an appropriate time to enter it now.

MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Let's give that a number.

MS. HELT:  We can mark that as K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  POWERSTREAM TABLE ENTITLED INCREMENTAL REVENUE REQUIREMENT AND INCREMENTAL REVENUE

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, perhaps while we are on the subject of marking documents, just to complete that aspect of the preliminary matters, we circulated to all the parties last week and primarily for the purposes of the convenience of all the parties and the panel a documents brief that consists of 24 tabs.  I have to acknowledge that there has been a bit of a gaffe in the reproduction and that we have appended under Interrogatory No. 13 a number of the productions of PowerStream which should actually appear under the Interrogatory No. 3, so if there is any reference to Interrogatory No. 3, the actual productions are under tab 13.  But aside from that, it's -- the production is complete and we would ask that that be marked as an exhibit.

MR. KAISER:  All right, K1.5.

MS. KELT:  Document brief of the smart sub-metering working group is K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  ENBRIDE DOCUMENT BRIEF OF SMART SUBMETERING WORKING GROUP

MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, we also circulated this morning a revised tab 24, which Mr. Maclure, the witness for the sub-metering group will be speaking to this afternoon.  Perhaps we can mark that as a further exhibit as well.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Could we have that?

MS. HELT:  That can be marked as K1.6. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  REVISED TAB 24 DOCUMENT

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, just to finish the round of preliminary filings, PowerStream also prepared a document brief.  It doesn't contain any new materials, it just contains materials that were previously filed in our application or in response to interrogatories.  We might as well file that and get a number for it as well.

MS. HELT:  Mark the document brief of PowerStream as K1.7.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  POWERSTREAM DOCUMENT BRIEF

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.
Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I wanted to raise at the outset of the proceeding an issue with respect to the nature of the relief which Mr. O'Leary appears to be seeking and to raise the issue of whether or not the Board can or should grant the relief which he is seeking.  The opening -- my submissions on this would be assisted if you could turn up what is now Exhibit K1.5, which is Mr. O'Leary's document brief, tab 22 which is the witness statement which the Board asked be filed in advance.


The concern that my client has, Mr. Chairman and Members of the panel, is that the Board not spend a day or more hearing evidence and submissions on an issue if the Board can't grant the relief or ought not to grant the relief requested.


The opening position, Mr. Chairman, if you will turn to tab 22 of that document brief, page 6 of 6, paragraph 16.  Paragraph 16 appears to set out the relief that Mr. O'Leary is asking the Board to grant his client in this case.  If you look at the text of paragraph 16, it reads:

"To ensure that cross-subsidization does not continue in future, and to eliminate any concern about whether PowerStream is undertaking economic evaluations appropriately, or at all, in respect of new and existing condominiums that are being converted, the SSMWG submits that PowerStream's smart suite metering program should be undertaken either through an affiliate or as a non-utility activity, using fully allocated cost model."


Now, in my respectful submission, the relief which Mr. O'Leary is seeking, albeit perhaps indirectly, is to get PowerStream out of the business of installing smart meters -- suite meters, I am sorry, I will get that wrong, I apologize.  I am supported in that submission by the proposition first that it be undertaken through an affiliate.  But if the Board would also turn up in the same exhibit, paragraph 10, you will see there that Mr. O'Leary's client is arguing that the -- if you look at paragraph 10:

"The SSMWG is concerned about the anti-competitive impact of rate-regulated utilities recovering suite metering cost in rates because it will have a detrimental impact... which could, in time, prove fatal to the market."


Now, the statement is "recovering suite metering costs" not suite metering costs which are above the cost of installing them, just all of the suite metering costs. That may be a Freudian slip on their part, but in my respectful submission the essence of what Mr. O'Leary appears to be submitting under this head of relief is to get PowerStream out of the suite metering business.


Now, as the Board is aware, section 5.1.9 of the Distribution System Code requires an LDC to install smart metering when requested.  To grant that relief, that head of relief which Mr. O'Leary is seeking would require, in my respectful submission, an amendment to the Distribution System Code so that an LDC affiliate or an LDC under certain circumstances would be required to install.  The Board cannot, within the scope of this hearing, in my respectful submission, amend the Distribution System Code.  It certainly could not do so without notice to the other LDCs.


Now, the alternate form of relief which Mr. O'Leary's client appears to be seeking is that the suite metering should be done on the basis of fully allocated costing, and this is really an argument against cross-subsidy.  The difficulty we have with that form of relief is that a different panel of this Board in the Toronto Hydro case, the decision issued on May 15th, 2008, permitted Toronto Hydro to engage in this very business and made no requirement that they do so on the basis of fully allocated costing.


I have handed up through Ms. Helt a copy of the Board -- the relevant portions of the Board's decision was issued May 15th, 2008, in EB-2007-0680.  Now, if you look, panel, please, at the bottom of page 19 of the portion that I have handed up -- do you want to give that an exhibit number, Mr. Chairman?

MR. KAISER:  Yes. 

MS. HELT:  K1.8.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  EXCERPT FROM EB-2007-0680 DECISION

MR. WARREN:  Under the heading "Smart meters for condominiums":
"The company's proposed expenditures in this category relate to installing smart meters for condominiums, an alternative to smart sub-metering for which there are alternate providers.  The smart meter conversions establish the condominium owners as customers of Toronto Hydro as the regulated monopoly distributor rather than as customers of an alternate smart sub-meter provider."


It is in this statement an explicit recognition that Toronto Hydro is competing with the private sector.

Now, the Board then goes on to approve, without qualification, Toronto Hydro's expenditures in that category.


Now, an issue was raised -- and in doing so we have noted at the top of page 20:

"The company's proposed investment -- involvement in this conversion initiative is consistent with the proposed section 5.1.9 of the DSC."


The timing of this is that the decision was issued before the proposed amendment to the DSC was finally approved by the Board.  It was ultimately approved.  The point being that the Board recognized the Toronto Hydro's involvement in this activity was consistent with what would become the amendment to the Distribution System Code. 

Having then approved the expenditures, there was an issue raised by my friend Mr. Buonaguro's client with respect to the question of cost allocation and specifically whether there should be a separate rate category for condominium owners.  This is an issue of fairness of cost allocation.  The Board didn't require that it be done in that case but suggested instead that there should be a generic proceeding to deal with this issue of cost allocation.


Now, in my respectful submission, were the Board to grant, first, what I take to be Mr. O'Leary's client's ultimate objective, which is to get PowerStream out of this business, it would be contrary to the Distribution System Code.  And the Board, in my respectful submission, can't do that in this case.

In the alternative, if they grant the relief, which is to require some form of fully allocated costing, in my respectful submission, that would run contrary to Board's decision in the Toronto Hydro case.

I don't speak to the merits of whether that is a good or a bad thing to do.  The problem is that this Board sent a signal to other LDCs and to the marketplace in the Toronto Hydro decision that it wasn't going to engage in that kind of cost allocation analysis, absent a generic proceeding.  And that is the basis on which LDCs, including PowerStream, have been conducting their business in the period ever since.

To now require a different result for PowerStream would be contrary to that Board decision.  As I say, my client is agnostic on the underlying substantive issue.  The problem is one of fairness, in addition to which, if the Board wants to make that decision that there should be fully allocated costing for this particular service, it should have submissions logically from all of the other LDCs who may be affected by this decision, as they make their decisions going down the road.

For those reasons, I submit, with respect, that what we may be embarking upon in the next day or so is a process which can't result in a decision which is fair to PowerStream and reasonable under the circumstances.

In my respectful submission, if the Board feels that there ought to be a generic process -- I appreciate that this Panel can't order it, but if the Board feels there ought to be a generic process, then the Board can make that recommendation and that can take place.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, was your client -- your group involved in the Toronto case?
Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  No, we were not, sir.  While the group may have existed, it had a very limited amount of resources and the group was not monitoring proceedings.  Frankly, it came as a surprise to the group that Toronto Hydro had made a request for its suite metering program, but it did not participate in that proceeding.

And it now is in a situation where, yes, it has to address what went on in the Board's decision in that case, but there was no evidence introduced in that case as to the existence, in my respectful submission, of the extent of the competitive market and the extent of the cross-subsidy that was brought forward.

It's a matter that we acknowledge, sir, that our -- it is an issue that goes beyond simple PowerStream.  We are left in a situation of, today, we have another utility asking for essentially the same approvals that Toronto Hydro received back then.  We are now aware of the existence of the Toronto Hydro decision.

We would submit that had all the evidence been put before the panel, that the panel might have made a different decision in that proceeding once it recognized that there was a full competitive market that was capable of meeting the demands in Toronto Hydro's situation.

MR. KAISER:  Let me just stop you there.  That's my question, really.  Maybe you could help us on two points.  What evidence, in your view, would we be hearing through your witnesses that was not available to the panel in the Toronto Hydro case?

MR. O'LEARY:  You would be hearing directly from a member of the competitive smart sub-metering industry, and there was no one present, either counsel or witness, that could speak to the size of the industry, that could speak to how they operate, to the extent that it is a competitive market and to the extent of the impact, the negative impact, on the competitive industry by Toronto Hydro becoming involved in that marketplace.

MR. KAISER:  We will come in a minute to what relief you are really seeking.  Mr. Warren's taken a guess at it.  But do you accept that as to this argument that this business should be conducted through an affiliate, that that matter has clearly been ruled on and the utility is entitled, because of the Distribution System Code and other instruments, to conduct this activity through the utility?  Do you accept that?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am not sure what your expression "has been ruled on" means.  The Toronto Hydro decision indicates that there may have been raised -- to some limited extent, a concern expressed about the possibility of cross-subsidization.

I am not sure if there was anything on the record which would support such a concern or not.  It was perhaps raised in argument.

MR. KAISER:  Not dealing with cross-subsidization, is it not the case that - and Mr. Warren has laid this out - at the time of Toronto Hydro, this amendment to the Distribution System Code was proposed.  That has since been enacted, and does it not make it clear that with respect to this activity the utilities do not have to carry it out through a separate affiliate?

MR. O'LEARY:  Our interpretation is the intent of the Distribution System Code would be satisfied if they carried on these activities through an affiliate, but it is also possible that the utility itself could undertake the activity, and it's open to you, to this Panel, to rule in this case that it should be done through a non-utility account on a fully allocated basis.

That way, you don't have the concerns and the problems that we say exist with a rate-regulated utility getting into a competitive business and using the fact that they are rate-regulated, all the benefits that go with it, to essentially erode the competitive market.

MR. KAISER:  But isn't it the case that as a general proposition, that if a market is competitive, the Board takes the view that those activities should be carried out not through the regulated utility, but through a separate affiliate.  But in this case, there is a specific provision that exempts that rule, if you will, with respect to this activity?

MR. O'LEARY:  Our position, sir, is that we don't see it as an exemption, and, if anything, to promote conservation in this province, you should be encouraging the development of a competitive market and not interpreting that section in a way that would, in fact, erode it and possibly lead to its end.

MR. KAISER:  I thought the intent of the amendment was to the contrary, that to promote conservation, the utilities were going to be allowed, in this one case, even though it might be a competitive activity, to carry out those activities through the regulated utility as opposed to a requirement through a separate affiliate.  You don't read it that way?

MR. O'LEARY:  I don't, sir, and having been involved in the various submissions that were filed, I don't believe that was raised as an issue during the amendments to the Distribution System Code.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  So we have in play, from your point of view, what the meaning or intent of the amendment to the Distribution System Code really is?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  What's the relief that you are asking of the Board?

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand Mr. Warren's position, and the group is somewhat sympathetic to it, in that the group would ask ultimately for this Panel to recommend to the Board generally that it proceed with the generic proceeding, which appeared to have been contemplated in the Toronto Hydro proceeding.

That way, the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group won't find it necessary to intervene in every individual rate application that is brought forward by one of the utilities that intends to seek approval for such a program.

So we understand Mr. Warren's comments in that regard, and support them.

In terms of what this Panel can do, our preference would be that you would rule and require PowerStream to remove from its revenue requirement all of the impacts of the Suite Metering Program and say that if you are going to undertake it, do it through a non-utility account and do it on a fully allocated basis, and, in that way, for the reasons stated, the competitive market is not at a disadvantage.

It is open to the utility, our submission, sir, to undertake it through an affiliate, and that way you also have -- the rigours of the Affiliate Relationship Code will ensure that the affiliate operates on a level playing field with the other utilities.

But it is, I guess, open to you, sir, to also rule that given these outstanding questions that are of a generic nature that the -- from this proceeding, the rate implications of the Suite Metering Program could be, if I can use the term, parked in a deferral account until the generic proceeding is in fact completed and a decision is made.

At that point, a decision as to the clearance of that deferral account could be made.  In that way, we don't have embedded in rates a Suite Metering Program which, as a result of the generic proceeding, assuming we are successful in the position taken, might in fact be offside with a future Board decision.

That would be, perhaps, the safest way to proceed, but, otherwise, we felt that there is no alternative, sir, but to appear now and to raise the point and try and ensure that this program is not approved.

Otherwise, if it's embedded in rates, whether it's six months or a year-and-a-half from now when the generic proceeding is completed, it's there and it's done.  The harm has occurred.

MR. KAISER:  Now, one way that -- one of the difficulties is that this Panel - this is not the first time this has happened -  has no ability to order a generic proceeding.  That is a Board decision, which may or may not happen.

There is obviously the suggestion in the Toronto case that that happened, will be considered.  Nothing appears to have happened.  If you were interested in making sure that this process unfolded on some timely schedule, you could, as Mr. Warren suggested, bring an application to amend this aspect of the Code which would put this issue in play and would involve all of the parties, and then as a subsidiary matter, we could raise or consider here whether to park, as you put it, these costs in a deferral account pending resolution of that application; does that make sense?

MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly --

MR. KAISER:  Here's my problem.  I understand the parking argument we will hear from Ms. Newland on that - she no doubt won't be thrilled with it - the problem is we don't know whether there will be a subsequent proceeding or not, with any certainty, I mean this generic proceeding that you and Mr. Warren speak of.

You and Mr. Warren agree that the way to do this would be through a generic proceeding.  We don't have to run around it and do it in 15 different cases and so on, but the procedural aspect of that is such that we have no guarantee that this will be such a generic hearing outside of one more plea from this from another panel.  You can solve that problem by undertaking to bring an application which, as of right, will be heard.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, I am certain I am likely to obtain such instructions to give such an undertaking.  The concern will be whether an application to amend the Distribution System Code would allow the issues list to be sufficiently expanded to include these issues which are generic and perhaps beyond just the strict interpretation of that section of the Code.  But, you know, certainly that is one way that I accept would be to try and move the goal posts.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Newland, any thoughts on what you have heard?
Submissions by Ms. Newland:


MS. NEWLAND:  Many thoughts.  Mr. Chairman, until Mr. O'Leary filed the witness statement on behalf of his client last week, PowerStream didn't really know what his client was seeking in this proceeding.  I would like to say that the SSMWG group did not participate in the issues day before this panel.  And, so, as a result PowerStream assumed that that group was accepting the Board's approval list of issues that came out of that particular day.

We thought that they would fit their request for relief around the traditional cost of service issues that were articulated in that list.  It wasn't until we saw their witness statement last week asking that all smart-meter-related-components in PowerStream's 2009 revenue requirement be removed and that we be required to carry out the activity either in an affiliate or as a -- within the utility but as a non-utility function.  Until we saw that, we had no idea that that's the direction we were going in, so a week before the hearing.

But be that as it may, I completely agree and accept and endorse the comments of Mr. Warren with respect to section 5.19 of the Distribution System Code.  In fact, if you do go into the notices to amend the Distribution System Code, there were two notices.  There was one in January 2008 and then there was a revised notice of proposal -- a notice of revised proposal.  In both those notices, the Board makes it very, very clear that, number 1, the provision of smart meter services is pursuant to our distribution licence, so it's pursuant to our responsibilities as a distributor.

We also make it very clear that it's a regulated activity, not a competitive activity when it's carried out by the distributor.

Thirdly, to your point, Mr. Kaiser, the Board has tied the activity by distributor in the smart metering sector to the implementation of the government's conservation initiatives.

I am going to just quote very briefly from the Board's notice of proposal to amend a code, January 8th, on page 2 -- actually, it's probably the -- just bear with me one moment, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Bottom of page 3.

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, it's the bottom of page 3 is what I wanted to take you to.  It states -- and here we are talking about the Board eventually decided that distributors could also apply to be licensed as commercial sub-meter providers.  In making that decision they say that:
"Section 71.1 of the Act state that is distributors cannot carry on any business activity other than the distributing of electricity except through an affiliate.  However, section 71.2 of the Act provides an exception from the general rule. Section 71.2 state that is a distributor may provide services in accordance with section 29.1 of the Act that would assist the government of Ontario in meeting its objectives in relation to electricity conversation."

And the Board goes on to say that in its opinion, smart sub-metering of condominiums is intended to help the government achieve its conservation objectives.

So that point is clearly in the Board's mind and -- I think you said it for me, Mr. Chair, when I had prepared my remarks for this morning in anticipation of Mr. Warren's preliminary matter, I was going to suggest that what the smart sub-metering working group is doing is it is trying to re-litigate an issue that has been heard and decided in previous proceedings and they are using the PowerStream application as a convenient and available platform to do that.

Now questions about cost allocation and rate design vis-à-vis our application and vis-à-vis our smart meter metering activities are well within the scope of this application and, in fact, if that's what the smart meter working group or any other intervenor for that matter is raising with respect to this issue, then we agree with Mr. Warren that such issues have a generic proponent, and if they are to be addressed at all, they should be addressed in that proceeding.

I just want to take a moment to address the suggestion by Mr. O'Leary that we could maybe park our costs in a deferral account pending disposition in a generic proceeding.


PowerStream would object most strenuously to any suggestion that all or a portion of these costs be removed from its revenue requirement and booked to a deferral account.

There are two reasons we take this position.  The first is a reason of fairness.  We don't think we should be treated any differently than any other utility, and here I would point to Toronto Hydro for example. PowerStream has relied on the regulatory rules of the game as we know them and as they exist today, and as far as we know those regulatory rules have not been changed and I think we are entitled to continue to rely on them until the Board changes them.

I said there were two reasons that we would oppose a deferral account.  The second reason, Mr. Chair, is a practical reason.  The cost of our suite metering activities are pooled or rolled in to the cost of providing services to the entire residential class. So they are embedded in a pool of costs that are allocated to the class because suite metered customers in condominiums are residential customers and they pay the residential class rate.  There is no separate class.

It would -- there is no precise or meaningful way to disembed those costs from the pool without carrying out a very lengthy and complex cost allocation study which obviously if we were to go to a generic proceeding, that might be one of the things that the Board would require distributors to do.  But it's not a simple process.  We can't go back to our offices today get on the computer and come to you at the end of the week with any precise identification of what those costs are.  We can make rough guesstimates, but those guesstimates are not the kind of credible data that you would need to make a decision about what costs should get booked to a deferral account.

In any event, getting back to my fairness argument, we believe it would be unfair to PowerStream and unfair to our customers to maintain PowerStream's rates as interim rates while PowerStream engages in a lengthy cost allocation study to determine what costs, if any, should be booked to a deferral account and then continue the deferral account until such time as the Board disposes of the issue in a generic hearing that may never actually come to be.

One other point in conclusion, sir, and that is the requirement for a deferral account would, in our submission, cast a cloud of doubt over our activities as a provider of smart suite metering services, and it would impair other utilities' confidence in their ability to recover costs that they continue to incur in respect of their investment in this activity. 

That would, I would suggest, in turn, reduce all utilities' ability to strive to accomplish the government's conservation initiatives, which of course is, I would submit, the key driver behind the participation of utilities in this activity.

Unless you have any questions, those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, did you have anything to add?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I will start with one preliminary comment.  This is a preliminary discussion about whether the Board can hear evidence, and so things like, We don't know what our costs are, you don't have any evidence before you yet to rely on a submission such as that. 

Later, if we have heard evidence, you can then reach a conclusion PowerStream doesn't know their costs.  Right now, it's just Ms. Newland saying it.

The general problem here -- and I understand, from a ratepayers' point of view, this is all about whether we are subsidizing another group of ratepayers.  It's as simple as that.  There is absolutely a special rule in Distribution System Code allowing LDC sub-metering.  There is no question that that rule exists, and, indeed, this is not the last time we are going to see that.

The Green Energy Act suggests there will be other things that LDCs are going to do that will be not distributing electricity.  What is not in the Distribution Code is how this is costed, how cost allocation is done, how rate design is done.  None of that is in the Distribution Code with respect to this activity.

Mr. Warren relies on the Toronto precedent and says, Well, we should follow that, because the Board should be consistent.  I guess the precedent I think is appropriate is Enbridge and Union who, for years, carried out an authorized activity, water heaters.  There was no question they were allowed to do it, and they did it year after year after year, used marginal costs, and the Board approved it year after year. 

Then, eventually, the Board had enough evidence to say, This is a bad idea.  It's impairing the competitive markets.  It's subsidizing an activity.  These other ratepayers are paying too much, because the water heater customers are paying too little, and that's wrong and we shouldn't allow that.  And they changed it.

But what the Board has here is a second case where this matter has come up.  The first case, the Board did not have a full debate on the issue, and now this Board is faced with hearing the issue on more evidence. 

Everybody in this room appears to agree that the appropriate way of dealing with this is a generic proceeding, absolutely, and if this were nine members of the Board, problem solved.  But it isn't. 

As you correctly pointed out, Mr. Chairman, this Board Panel can't decide there is going to be a generic hearing.  But the issue today is not:  Should there be a generic hearing?  The issue today is:  What should PowerStream's rates be? 

The question that's being asked is:  Are they -- at least what we are asking, anyway, is:  Are they just and reasonable if there is a subsidy of a competitive activity?

Now, Ms. Newland says it's not a competitive activity, because it's allowed -- the LDC is allowed to do it.  Well, no, that's not correct.  If it's an LDC activity that is competing with the private sector, it a competitive activity.  It's as simple as that.  It may also be a regulated activity, but it's still competing with the private sector.

So the question is:  Are those rates just and reasonable if there is a subsidy of the competitive activity?  Our view is let's see how big the subsidy is.  We're really only here to find out how big the subsidy is. 

If it's small, probably the right answer is let it go and allow the Board, in the fullness of time, to have a generic hearing and deal with the question relating to this and relating to other competitive activities that LDCs carry on. 

But if it's big, it might be $1 million.  If it's $1 million, is that enough?  It might be, to say, Well, we have to find some way to protect the ratepayers until the Board makes a generic decision. 

Therefore, I think on the preliminary question of should the Board hear the evidence, I think our answer is you should hear the evidence, and then make a determination:  Is this a big enough problem and we should deal with it today?

Those are our submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  The only thing I would like to add is, in talking about the impact to the Distribution System Code, the word "allow" has been used repeatedly, but, in fact, it actually requires distributors to actually install the suite meters.  So it's a little more complicated than saying whether the Board should continue to allow them to engage in this activity. 

In fact, when a condominium corporation comes forward to the company and asks for smart sub-metering in their building, the company actually has to do it, which suggests to me that there is going to be some minimum amount allowed in rates to cover that requirement.

And I think Mr. Shepherd is correct that beyond that, there is this issue of a subsidy or potential subsidy which the Board is, at some point, going to have to identify how much that subsidy is and what to do with it, whether it's allow it to be socialized over the entire residential rate class, whether it's require the distributor to obtain a customer contribution to fund that subsidy, or whether it's the creation of a new rate class.

And that's something -- that sort of determination really sounds like something that should be done in the one case.  That's the part of it that should be generic. 

But, again, there is this underlying problem, which is that they have to do it under the existing code, and, therefore, they are going to have to know under what terms they are going to be able to collect some or all of that money in rates.  That is the part of it that has to be dealt with today. 

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any further submissions, gentlemen?
Submissions by Ms. Helt:

MS. HELT:  Mr. Chair, perhaps from Board Staff you would like to hear the submission.  It's largely repetitive of what has already been said by many of the parties.  With respect to the issue of -- I suppose there are the two issues, the first issue being whether or not PowerStream, as a distributor, ought to be able to recover a smart-meter-related cost in their revenue requirement. 

Board Staff takes a position similar to that of Mr. Warren, specifically with respect to the concern of what the Distribution System Code requires.  As Mr. Buonaguro points out, the language in the Distribution System Code is very clear that a distributor shall install smart meters when requested to do so.

In addition, Regulation 442/07 has similar language, which provides that a distributor shall install smart meters.  So this is mandatory language, and it is a regulated activity and a utility activity as set out in the proposed amendment to the Distribution System Code, which is the notice which Ms. Newland referred to previously.

So with respect to that first issue being raised by the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group, Board Staff takes the position that through both the Distribution Code, the regulation, and the notice, it is clear that the Board has noted that this is a regulated activity.  It's a requirement of distributors, and, therefore, they ought to be allowed to recover costs associated with their smart metering activities.

With respect to the second argument or position being raised by the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group concerning cost allocation and a possible separate rate category, and the issue of cross-subsidization, Board Staff takes a similar view as to all the other parties that this is a broader issue which is not the subject matter for this particular rate proceeding.

This is a cost-of-service application, and that issue of whether or not there should be separate rate classes and the issue of cross-subsidization is more appropriately dealt with in a generic hearing where all of the affected parties would have an opportunity to make submissions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary.
Further Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I don't want to repeat what others have said.  I agree with some of what Mr. Shepherd has stated, and I have indicated my agreement, to some extent, with what Mr. Warren has stated.  But at the end of the day, we are here to alert this panel that if the suite metering program as proposed by PowerStream is approved, that there will be an impact on the competitive market and our position is that they can comply with their obligations under both the Distribution System Code and under the regulation which Ms. Helt referred to by undertaking the activity through a non-utility account.  We also submit that undertaking the activity through an affiliate would also meet the requirements of the Code as well, and although the benefits of the Affiliate Relationship Code exist.  This is not an issue that needs to wait for a generic proceeding, and our concern is if it's an embedded in the decision of this proceeding then you have another utility and another example of these programs going forward and the cross-subsidization issues, the anti-competitive concerns that we have will continue, and they will continue until the generic proceeding is held and then the generic proceeding itself may not be able to deal with the harm that is already occurred. 

We therefore request that this proceeding continue and that we be allowed to present our evidence and try to convince you the appropriate order to make is that PowerStream exclude from the revenue requirement the suite metering program and operate the program through a non-utility account or through an affiliate.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, right now in this preliminary matter as I think Mr. Shepherd correctly pointed out, the issue is:  Should we hear your evidence? Now, the Toronto decision, page 20, said:
"At this time, for the purpose of this decision, the Board will not consider differentiating meter cost to be a pivotal consideration."


So they decided, as I read it, then, on the basis of the record that they had, for the purpose of that decision, they were not going to engage in this discussion -- consideration, I should say, of whether there should be a separate rate class on the cost allocation issue with respect to this activity.

You are here; you weren't there.  You have a witness panel.  It seems to me that relevant to our decision is what evidence you would be bringing forth that might be material to this issue, and I am simply talking about the separate rate class cost allocation issue that was not before the Toronto panel. 

Can you help me a little more in that regard?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am not intimately familiar with the entirety of the record before the panel in the Toronto Hydro decision.

MR. KAISER:  Well, was there any evidence on a cost allocation or just argument?  I don't know.

MR. O'LEARY:  I don't know.  I certainly read the decision as suggesting that, and perhaps Mr. Buonaguro may be able to speak to it a little more, but that it may have come up in argument perhaps a question was asked during cross-examination but there was no evidence that was filed to indicate that there was cross-subsidization simply because the cost of the smart sub-meters is so significantly more than a regular smart meter, the one that you put on the side of your house, that it was assumed that there had to be cross-subsidization or these additional costs would, in fact, be an issue but there was nothing that was filed and there was certainly no member of the sub-metering community there to speak to issue and how it would have an impact on them. 

Indeed, sir, when Toronto Hydro files their application later this year, it is our intention to intervene at that time and indicate that we felt that it was inappropriate for the approval to be given back then and to go over, in fact, the conduct that has occurred since then including the fact that Toronto Hydro is now taking the position that they will not even connect a new building unless Toronto Hydro meters the building.

So our concern is that unless we intervene in this proceeding and take the position we are taking currently, we may find the same sort of conduct demonstrated by other utilities as Toronto Hydro is taking now.  They are saying there is no market out there, we are it, and it's only us.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I am going to come to Mr. Buonaguro in a minute.  There are two issues you are arguing.  One is this is anti-competitive and therefore they should do it through a separate affiliate and that whole argument.  Let's put that aside.

Then there is a second issue, as I understand it, that there is cross-subsidization and there should be separate rate class, there is incorrect cost allocation being used by PowerStream.  Correct so far?

MR. O'LEARY:  I believe the two are intertwined, but in terms of looking at each of the issues one at a time, yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I guess my question is, if we heard -- let's say we didn't need to hear evidence on the first part, given the arguments about the Distribution System Code and the arguments that Board counsel just -- just accept for the purpose of this discussion.

When you panel goes are on, are we going to hear evidence from them on the degree of cross-subsidization and the practicality of a separate rate class or not?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir, it was our intent to try demonstrate that there is a cross-subsidy there and to show the intertwining of the issues, the anti-competitive aspect of it is that if you have a rate-regulated utility that is allowed to use its rates to pay for the cost to promote internally its program and the cost to advocate against the sub-metering industry which is occurring, they these are anti-competitive.  We also have a rate implication which is something we say should be dealt with in this proceeding as well.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. O'Leary, your issue is not whether there should be a different rate classification necessarily.

MR. O'LEARY:  It is open to you, sir, to do that.

MR. VLAHOS:  But that's not the relief you are seeking here.  This was, as I understand the decision, this was VECC's argument in the Toronto case.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am not sure whether VECC was arguing for or against it.   It appears that someone may have argued that it should have happened.  My understanding is that Mr. Buonaguro and VECC, I believe, argued that it should be -- the cost of suite metering should be paid or subsidized by all ratepayers, but I leave it to Mr. Buonaguro.  But establishing a new rate classification or sub rate class is one possibility.  Our view is the simplest would be to simply say, Deal with it through the establishment of a non-utility account.

MR. VLAHOS:  I may have misspoken.  I don't think that would have been VECC's position.  I don't have the submission in front of me -- Mr. Buonaguro, could you just remind us what you have argued?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I can help on a couple of points.  In terms of the positions that were taken at the hearing, in the Toronto Hydro hearing, it was Board Staff who raised the question about whether or not -- because it appeared that because residential customers, normal residential customers and condo converted residential customers exist in same rate class, but the smart meter costs for the regular customer versus the smart meter costs for the new condo customer were so disparate, whether there should be -- whether there were issues about cross-subsidization.  That was a Board Staff raised issue.   I can tell you that VECC's position was that because the conversion of the condo units to smart meters was government mandated and then ultimately required by distributors under the Distribution System Code, that the costs should be spread out across all residential customers.  That was our position.

In terms of what evidence was before the Board on that case in terms of the amount of the subsidy, I can refer you to our submissions in that case where we referred to several transcript cites, and to just give you an example, at 4.119 of our argument in that case, we said THESL's estimated costs are about $550 per meter - that's for conversion - in comparison the estimated $160 per typical installed residential smart meter.  THESL has noted that the cost for a smart meter installed in a new condominium is about $500 per meter.

So from that, you can see that on a one-to-one sort of ratio, if you have one residential customer, you are spending about $160 for smart metering.  For a conversion in a condominium, you are spending about $550, so the difference would be a per-unit basis of cross- subsidy. 

I think in the Toronto Hydro case, the estimate over the test period for conversion which was about 15,000 units.  So 15,000 times around $300 per unit or so, $300 or $350 gives you the scope of what the subsidy is looking at in the test period.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  So Mr. O'Leary, I did not read your prayer for relief that you necessarily go after a separate classification.  What you're saying is that this activity should be outside the utility but if it had to be in the utility, it should be costed appropriately so there would be no cross-subsidy; am I right?

MR. O'LEARY:  Our position is that to protect the competitive market the best result would be to see that all utilities undertake smart suite metering within an affiliate, which is then subject to the Affiliate Relationship Code, and there are two that have set up and are licensed sub-metering companies, Golden Horseshoe, which I believe is a combination of --

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, you are not answering part of my question, though.  Your issue, it is not a separate rate classification?

MR. O'LEARY:  We have not put that forward as the first preference, but we have indicated, because we believed it would be the most efficient, would be to separate out the suite metering program of PowerStream's, and if they are going to operate it within the utility, do it through a non-utility account on a fully allocated basis.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  But you are looking at the subsidy issue.  Still, you are not suggesting that we need to have two different residential classes, individual homes versus condominiums?

MR. O'LEARY:  At a generic proceeding, that may be a position that my group would take.  For the purpose of this proceeding, we are not advancing that, because we felt, again, the simpler way is to proceed through the establishment of a non-utility account.

MR. VLAHOS:  There was some discussion about parking the costs, in this proceeding, in a deferral or variance account.  Would that help your client?  Your client's position, I believe, is futuristic.  You are going to set this industry right going forward.  Does anything turn on whether the amount may happen to be -- apart from all the technical difficulties associated with setting up a deferral account and what has to be recorded in there, but is that something that there is dear to you or to your client?

MR. O'LEARY:  It is, yes.  Recognizing that a generic proceeding is ultimately, we believe, appropriate, it is not our preferred course of action, but it's one that our people would be prepared to support, because we do believe that if these numbers were parked into a deferral account, that it would bring some market discipline to PowerStream; that they would not be certain that there was recovery; that they would, therefore, be cautious in how they go out and promote their program or advocate against the sub-metering industry, and they would also be cautious in terms of the cost.

So we have some confidence, then, they would act more akin to a competitive business.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. O'Leary, they are required to provide -- I mean, the Distribution Code at the moment requires a utility to install them if they are asked.  So if somebody chooses -- whether it's a competitive market or not, if a building owner chooses to go to PowerStream and say, We would like you -- you must install them in our building, whether it makes business sense for PowerStream to do so or not, they have to do it.

Your clients don't have to do it.  They can look at a building and say, Not this one, too expensive, you know, we won't recoup our costs.

So if it's a required activity, whether it -- let's set aside the affiliate for the moment, because we don't think we can -- but whatever kind of account it goes into, if they are required to do it, if you then say they have to put the money into a deferral account, what's the Board to do once it -- are we then at liberty later to say, Well, you can't clear the costs in your deferral account for an activity that's required by our own code?

MR. O'LEARY:  There are situations --

MS. SPOEL:  Isn't that a bit of a Catch-22 for us, as well as for PowerStream?

MR. O'LEARY:  There are situations, Ms. Spoel, in the past where the Board has said, Due to the rules to this point, we will allow clearance to a particular date, but subsequently deny it.

And as a result of this proceeding, we would submit that, at a minimum, PowerStream has now been put on notice that some of their costs may be denied in future.

Our position is that if there is a cross-subsidization, that amount should be asked to be paid for by the condo developer or the people that are living and benefitting from these condos, and that certainly open to the utility to say, you know, This is costing other ratepayers X hundreds of thousands of dollars, whatever the number is, and they should be looking to recover that amount from the developers through a capital contribution at the time that they hook up or convert these buildings.

PowerStream would then be in a position to say, down the road, that there has been no cross-subsidization and that it is appropriate to recover the difference, the net amount in rates, but we have protected ourselves through seeking out a capital contribution.

They are not doing that.  They are saying and they're advertising out there that they will do it at no cost, regardless of the subsidy.  And if you are dealing with a conversion, and an expensive conversion, they are saying, We will do it at no cost to the condo developer.  And that, we say, is anti-competitive and that isn't something that's required under the Distribution System Code. 

We say that they should be, in fact, looking for a capital contribution to make up the difference.

MR. VLAHOS:  So you are suggesting that this is not a zero-sum game between the condominium holders and other residential units.  There is a revenue issue with respect to the developers?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am not sure if I understand your question, Mr. Vlahos.

MR. VLAHOS:  So it goes beyond the cost allocation among two groups of customers.  It is also a question of whether adequate revenue is going to be generated through a contribution in aid of construction?

MR. O'LEARY:  The combination of the two, yes.  There is a revenue component to it.

MR. VLAHOS:  Just to finish this question on the deferral account, do you have any notion of how it would actually work, what you are going to capture in there?  What is the initial -- the benchmark or reference price or cost?  Any idea?  Has your client turned its mind to it?

MR. O'LEARY:  We would hope to establish, through the examination, the actual impact on the revenue requirement, both the capital costs, the depreciation costs, the incremental OM&A and have these numbers included in the deferral account. 

That's just off the top, but there may be some other impacts that exist, as well, that should be included and will be dealt with on a subsequent proceeding.

MR. VLAHOS:  Just, finally, I am reading the notice, the proposed notice of the Board, which differentiates -- well, it explains the difference between smart metering and smart sub-metering, and I just want to make sure I understand what I heard today. 

Your position has to do with both smart metering and smart sub-metering?  Do you understand the difference, Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, I do.  I am afraid that --

MR. VLAHOS:  Let me just read, then, so we'll all be on the same page:
"The Board uses the term 'smart metering' to describe the situation in which a licensed distributor individually meters every condominium unit." 

Okay. 
"In this scenario, each unit will become a residential customer of the licensed distributor and each unit and the common areas must have a separate account with the licensed distributor."

Okay?  Now, this is different from a smart sub-metering, and let me read to you what the Board said:
"The Board used the term 'smart sub-metering' to describe the situation in which a licensed distributor provides services to the condominium's bulk master meter, and then a separate person allocates that bill to individual units and the common areas..."

Et cetera, et cetera.  So my understanding is, and I can be corrected, that the applicant must provide smart metering, and I think we explained that through the words "smart suite metering".  As for smart sub-metering, I am not sure whether the requirement is that the utility has to provide this on demand.

I need some help to understand this.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think that's a fair observation.  As a technical matter, sub-metering and smart suite metering is, in many instances, identical.  They are using the same equipment.  And, actually, in the conversion situations, there are situations where, when either a smart sub-metering company goes in or the LDC goes in, they will still have to have one separate meter to actually determine the amount of usage by the common elements.  It's just the way some of these buildings are configured.

They are using -- PowerStream, we understand, are using the QuadLogic meters, which are the very same ones that several members of the sub-metering industry are.  So the technology is the same. 

And the advantage of it is that you can include many more meters in a meter room in a much smaller space.  It would always be open on PowerStream to say, Well, we are going to install smart meters, the very same ones they are putting on the sides of your house and my house, at a much lower cost.

If they did that, we probably would have difficulty coming in and saying anything to the contrary today.  The cost of those, according to the PowerStream evidence, is about $121 versus $680 for the smart suite metering system they are using. 

So they are putting in a sub-metering system and they are looking to pay for the difference through the cross-subsidies from the other ratepayers. So it is the same situation, and if they had decided to go in and put in smart meters, which it was their obligation to do under the Distribution System Code but the developer may not like it because it's going the take up more space in their metering room, they could do that but then they would be part of their smart meter rate adder.

MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Newland, you provide me the answer to this?  You are required to provide smart metering, and counsel to Board Staff spoke today on the authority of that.  Are you required to provide smart sub-metering?

MS. NEWLAND:  No, sir, we are not.

MR. VLAHOS:  But you have chosen to engage in that activity.

MS. NEWLAND:  No, sir.  In order for a licensed distributor to engage in smart sub-metering, as opposed to smart suite metering, we would have to get a separate sub-metering licence.  Our distribution licence would not cover that activity and we have not done that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you very much.  That clarifies it for me.  I was under the impression you were actually a licensed sub-metering company.

MS. NEWLAND:  We are not.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Therefore, Mr. O'Leary, I guess your issue is not smart sub-metering in a narrow sense, and I understand the argument you just put forward.  It is a smart suite metering, because the company only engages in smart suite metering.

MR. O'LEARY:  In fairness, sir, we will take you to the evidence the actual approvals the board of directors gave to PowerStream is to engage in competitive smart sub-metering.   Yes, they do not have a licence, but in fact the evidence is the approvals internally were to engage in competitive smart sub-metering.


It's semantics, admittedly, but I go back to simply my point is that if they wanted to provide smart meters, they could have done that using the same technology they use on your house, and they have decided, instead, to go into what is in effect sub-metering.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Vlahos, I think I just need to clarify this because he did refer to a minute of the PowerStream board of directors that was filed in this proceeding, and it is true that the reference is to smart sub-meters.  The reason for that is at the time that minute the board of directors considered that issue predated the Board's notice of amendment to the Code where it clearly set out the distinction on the one hand -- the distinction between smart metering and smart sub-metering.

What we are doing today and the decision at that time was to continue to -- was to invest in smart metering, not smart sub-metering.  So it was regulated activity that the board of directors decided to undertake, a regulated activity within the regulated utility.  The choice of the word "sub-metering" was the word that was being used, I think, across the industry at that time.  There really one a distinction between the two activities and it one until, I think, in January of 2008 when that distinction was clearly articulated.


The distinction between smart metering and smart sub-metering that was clearly articulated in January 2008 in your notice to amend the Distribution System Code, but until that time the term was sub-metering.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary, I guess your concern is that the company may not have a licence now to engage in smart sub-metering but that it won't stop the company.  The company can apply for such licence any time.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, they can do that, sir.  But the concerns remain about whether the cross-subsidizations should continue and whether anti-competitive conduct should permitted by a rate-regulated utility.

MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that.  I am trying to understand what is before us.  What is before us is the company is required to provide smart suite metering.  The company is not providing to require smart sub-metering.  The company is not licensed as of today to provide smart sub-metering.  So the issue, to me, today, is that to what extent and whether the smart suite metering should be provided through an affiliate or if within the utility, what should the appropriate costing and pricing.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.  But, as I say, one option is for the utility to extend its smart meter program and install smart meters that it is using on the houses instead of the sub-metering technology that it's using, so it's reducing significantly the cost to install smart meters in condominiums.

MR. KAISER:  Can I just ask you:  If your concern comes down to that, are you saying you wouldn't be concerned if they engaged in this activity even through a utility, provided they used different equipment?


MR. O'LEARY:  That is one possible response by PowerStream.  We would still have concerns about anti-competitive behaviour, preferences shown for its metering program over the competitive market providers which I represent.

MR. KAISER:  What do you mean by that "preferences shown for its metering program over the competitors"?  What does that mean?

MR. O'LEARY:  The concern is that -- and the reason why, in part, I would submit the Affiliate Relationships Code was developed is to ensure that a rate regulated utility can't exercise its position.  It has to provide ultimately the connection, but if that connection is delayed, if that connection is as in Toronto Hydro's situation, they are refusing to do it unless the utility is allowed to meter the building, the fact that they can use other ratepayer's funds to promote an activity which is competing against the much smaller players in the competitive market, these are all actions that we have concern about, that if the LDCs are entitled to and permitted to continue we are fearful will continue, and in Toronto Hydro's example have happened.

MR. KAISER:  There is no question that there is a specific exemption in section 71.2 of the Act that allows the distributor to carry out this activity within the utility; you accept that, I assume.

MR. O'LEARY:  The Act speaks for itself, sir.

MR. KAISER:  And the Board has gone on to say in the notice, at least - this is the January 8th notice - we have all been talking about that the Board believes that smart sub-metering is covered by section 71.2 of the Act, so the Board has said that.  The rationale, it would appear, for this is that the government was anxious that its conservation activities be stepped up and that they believed that these activities would be assisted if the utilities were able to carry out this activity within the utility framework, for whatever reason.

Now, if we were to accept your proposition that, okay, you do it within the utility, and I am paraphrasing, but put the expenses in a non-utility account, by which I take it those costs cannot be recovered from rates; correct, that's the upshot of that submission.

MR. O'LEARY:  That they would have to operate in the same fashion that the competitive market sub-metering companies are, in that they would recover it from the buildings and the people that are in the buildings.

MR. KAISER:  They wouldn't be able to cover those costs from rates.

MR. O'LEARY:  The cost of the metering, yes.

MR. KAISER:  Whatever you are putting in your non-utility account which I take it is the cost of the smart sub-metering; right?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  My question to you is:  If that were the case, can it be argued that it runs contrary to the clear intention of the government in creating this special exemption?  The government was trying to put some muscle behind this initiative.  It created a special section of the Act, it created an exemption for this particular activity which the Board on January 8th came along and said, By the way smart and sub-metering falls into that category authorized by section 71.2.  So I am just trying to understand your latest solution is, Okay I give up on the separate affiliate but even if it's within the utility have a non-utility account, that means you can't recover the costs from rates.  Does that run contrary to the very intent of the province of Ontario in the first case?

MR. O'LEARY:  Our submission is no, sir.  It is quite clear that the province was looking to the private sector to meet, we submit, most of the demand out there for suite metering in condominiums.  Indeed, Mr. Maclure's evidence in his prefiled statement was that the utilities weren't even getting into the business.  So, yes, undoubtedly, the government wanted to see the number of condominiums converted and ultimately the number of apartment buildings converted, but it made a specific and conscious decision to authorize and to issue a regulation which provided for a private sector to operate and be licensed to do that and it certainly, in our submission, didn't want to encourage the LDCs to do anything which would impede or erode that competitive market which it was looking to, to meet a lot of the demand.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Maclure's evidence, you say, is going to go to that question?  It will deal with that issue?

MR. O'LEARY:  Some of it, yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. O'Leary, there was some remark by the company's counsel that this issue was not really squarely within the issues list.  And having heard this conversation today, I just wonder whether the issue would fit into the question of the prudence of the costs that are being put forward, because, as I understand from your -- from the discussion before, that you're suggesting that the company does not have to put all those expensive technologically-driven machinery. 

They could do it with a lot -- with another technology that costs less.  So is your issue, then, the appropriateness of the costs that are being proposed in the filing?  And leaving aside these affiliate transactions within the -- and within the utility separate cost accounting?

MR. O'LEARY:  That is certainly one of the positions we are taking, sir, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Believe me, I have not read that anywhere in your material.  You have not questioned the prudence of the costs and revenues that are in the filing.

MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of the costs of the equipment that they are spending, the capital amounts per unit, we are not taking a position that they are paying more than what the private sector is. 

What I am saying, sir, is that if they need to comply, and they must, with their obligations under the Distribution System Code, they can do so by installing smart metering, the same ones they use on houses.

So it's not the prudence of the cost of the equipment.  It's the prudence of the decision to go and spend the more money.  In fact, we did and have raised these issues in both the intervention that the smart sub-metering group has filed and the numerous correspondence that's gone back and forth between myself and my friend. 

But our position is that to comply with the Code, the minimum threshold is they had to put in smart suite metering equipment there.  They could do that at $122 per unit, is what I understand their evidence to be. 

I don't take exception with that number.  The question is:  Are they obligated to spend $680 a unit or more?  And we say that that's a decision which, under these circumstances, is inappropriate and should not be approved here.

MR. KAISER:  Your position is that if somebody gets to spend $600 instead of $122, or whatever the garden variety meter is, and doesn't have to recover the cost from the customer because they can subsidize it from other utility operations, it creates an unlevel playing field and drives your people out of the market?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Does your witness deal with that issue?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  So are you suggesting that at the end of the day this extra cost, the $600 version versus the $120 version, is really not in the interest of the ratepayer, but is just a tactical device to drive competitors out of the market, or is there a logical rationale for the $600 meter as opposed to the $120 meter?

MR. O'LEARY:  My friend will suggest, and I accept, that there are developers that would prefer to see smaller meters and, therefore, less space being taken up and devoted to meters in their buildings.  So there is a benefit to the building developer, and, yes, that's what they're responding to. 

But there is a corresponding benefit, then, to the developer, in that the space that they have freed up is therefore available for sale.  And for that reason, we say that it may be inappropriate to see the cross-subsidy from other ratepayers who are not benefitting from this.

MR. WARREN:  Just finally, sir, by way of apology, since I am the one who started this exercise, in my respectful submission, everything that Mr. O'Leary has said is an invitation to the Board to listen to evidence in order to arrive at a conclusion that in some way the obligation imposed on the utility by the Act, embodied in the Distribution System Code, should be changed, narrowed, in some way, whether it's using a limited -- a lower cost of equipment, whether or not cross-subsidy, and it's that issue which is a derogation of what appears to be both the government's intention and the power given -- or the obligation imposed on the utility, which is something which should be considered not just in one case, but in circumstances where everybody can make -- everybody affected can make submissions on it.

That's the danger I think of going down the slope of hearing a little evidence about the size of the subsidy, because I come back to the point I started with.  The relief that you grant according to what Mr. O'Leary asks for will inevitably be a derogation from what the Distribution System Code and the legislation say, and that's the danger.

MR. KAISER:  But, Mr. Warren, you would agree that we could hear this evidence and still decide, having heard the evidence, that it is best that this be dealt with in a generic case?

MR. WARREN:  You can, sir.  My point is why would we do that if we know, at the get-go, that there is no relief which can be or should be granted?  I underscore the words "should be granted", in fairness to everybody else who may be affected by it. 

I started with a point this morning at the beginning.  Why would we do that at a cost to ratepayers, when we know there is no meaningful relief which can be granted?

MR. KAISER:  And that's because issuing an order in one case just means we will have to litigate it in a bunch of others?

MR. WARREN:  Absolutely, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Before you go, Ms. Newland, can I just clarify, the gentlemen in the back row, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Buonaguro, did I get it correctly that you are in favour of hearing the evidence, both of you?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  This whole discussion has been about the evidence and we haven't --

MR. KAISER:  I just want that question answered.  You, too, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Interestingly, we had I think a number of questions along the same lines the Panel has been asking the parties to answer through counsel, so the same sort of examination of issues is what we anticipated.  So, yes, we have questions that I think would be good to have.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Newland?

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, there is confusion about these meters, and I will try not to add to it, but I think it requires some clarification.  The meters that are referred to in the witness statement, the $122 meters, those are meters that the early adopters used for mass deploying smart meters as opposed to smart suite meters.

They are a totally different beast than the meter we are talking about here.  If you are talking about suite meters, we are not talking about those meters.  We are talking about a different meter.  You can't put those $122 meters into a condominium unless you build a separate condominium to house them, because they are huge.  So they are not appropriate for use in that circumstance.

So it's important to understand that.  The second point I just wanted to make is, even if the Board were to decide to hear whatever the issue is in this proceeding - and I have to tell you that listening to Mr. O'Leary, he keeps changing the issue with each response to each question from the Board - I am not sure the Board, at the end of the proceeding, will have any credible evidence on which to make a decision about the subsidy issue or the cross-subsidy issue, because, as I have said before, to get credible data, we have to go away and do a full cost allocation study. 

It's not just the cost of the meters.  It's the cost of all of the facilities required to be installed to serve these customers as class customers.  So we certainly will abide by whatever rule the Board makes, but I just caution you that the evidence that is on the record today is not going to be sufficient for the Board to make a reasoned decision on this issue.

MR. KAISER:  Do we not know what the costs -- what costs you are claiming here for smart sub-metering?

MS. NEWLAND:  Let me answer it this way.  We have told you what the capital investment of the company was with respect to smart suite meters for 2007, 2008 and what our forecast is for 2009.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't you just give us the figures right now?

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, I can do that.  Excuse me a moment, sir.  It's -- for 2007 and 2008, the total capital investment is $3.2 million, and that money has already been spent.  It just hasn't been booked to rate base yet.

For 2009, the company is forecasting an investment in smart suite meters of $1.1 million, and that's on a total rate base of $523 million, so it's de minimus.

With respect to the OM&A component, that's much more difficult.  I can't tell you what that cost is.  What I can tell you is in 2009 we applied, for OM&A, a total amount of $45 million.  Under the settlement proposal, that amount has been reduced to $43 million.  Somewhere in that amount is embedded the OM&A component of providing suite metering activities, or services, rather.  I can't tell you what that figure is.  I can hazard guess and say it's very, very small but without doing a cost allocation study that would basically try to design a separate subclass and allocate costs to that subclass which we don't have right now, I can't tell you anything beyond that, so you are not going to get much more precise information even if I put my witnesses on the stand. 

MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. O'Leary, I am glad for this latest round because I was under the impression that what the Board had to deal with is capital cost of $120 versus $600.  Now I hear that's not the case.  You cannot install this -- your typical smart meter that you would install in my home into the condominium unit.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, I am not a technician by any stretch of the imagination, but condominiums and apartment buildings have been individually metered for years.  This is not something new.  They have included in some of the other buildings in Toronto those dumb meters that are now being removed, so it does and has happened. 

And what I thought I heard my friend say is that you would need to have a large space to install the meters.  She didn't say that they couldn't, in fact, be used but particularly in a new building if it's designed for use with the $121 smart meters, it could be designed that way it means it is going to take some more space.  Yes, each meter will be more akin to the ones that's on the side of your home versus the smaller units that the sub-metering technology utilizes, but it is possible and it's a question of where does the benefit flow?  Does it flow to the developer or is this something that should be cross-subsidized by other ratepayers? 

MR. KAISER:  We will take the morning break now and come back in 20 minutes, hopefully advise you of what we do next.

--- Recess taken at 11:07 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:31 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Gentlemen, ladies, we have decided to hear the evidence in the hope that will give us some better understanding of the issues.  We would like to proceed, if we can, as expeditiously as possible.  We hadn't planned on sitting tomorrow for this case, so if we can move forward.

We don't intend to render a decision today, in any event.  We will reserve.  So let's -- who's up first?

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, sir.  I will just empanel my witnesses and they can be sworn.

Mr. Chair, while they are getting settled, I will just distribute the table I use to facilitate my examination-in-chief.  It just lists the exhibits and interrogatories I am going to ask the witnesses to adopt.

MR. KAISER:  Can we mark that, please?

MS. HELT:  The table can be marked as Exhibit K1.9.
Exhibit No. K1.9:  PowerStream table of exhibits and interrogatories.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chair, let me introduce the witnesses before they are sworn.  Sitting closest to you is Mr. Ed Chatten.  He is senior vice president, executive support and metering.  Sitting immediately to Mr. Chatten's right is Mr. Colin Macdonald.  He is vice president, rates and corporate accounting.  Next to Mr. Macdonald is Ms. Paula Conboy, vice president, regulatory and government affairs, and seated next to Ms. Conboy is James Douglas, who is president of Util-Assist.
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Ed Chatten, Sworn


Paula Conboy, Sworn


Colin Macdonald, Sworn


James Douglas, Sworn
Examination by Ms. Newland:

MS. NEWLAND:  Ladies and gentlemen, your curriculum vitae were filed with the Board under cover of letter dated June 8th, 2009.  Were they prepared by you or under your direction and control?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. CHATTEN:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  And are they accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. CHATTEN:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Ms. Conboy -- they get harder, the questions.  Ms. Conboy, let me begin with you.  Can you describe your responsibilities with respect to PowerStream's suite metering activities?

MS. CONBOY:  Yes, I would be happy to.  First of all, my role as vice president of regulatory and government affairs at PowerStream is to advise the company on regulatory and legislative matters, and, in particular, with this issue of smart suite metering, I advised the company and worked with the rest of the coalition of large distributors on the various submissions that we made with respect to draft regulations and draft codes and any licence changes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  I appreciate there has been quite a debate this morning, and some of what you might want to respond to my next question might have already been covered, but let me ask you the question.

From a regulatory and legislative perspective, can you explain how PowerStream's suite metering program has evolved over time, say, over the course from 2006 and 2007?

MS. CONBOY:  I would be happy to.  I was sort of set to talk for a little while, but the discussion we had earlier on this morning I think has taken all my points away.

However, before we get started, I would like to repeat or reinforce the terminology that we have been -- we have been using.  A lot of that stems from the January 7th, 2008 notice of amendment to the Code and development of the smart sub-metering code which, Mr. Chair, you had referred us to earlier, where we term -- we use the term "smart metering" with respect to condominiums.  And I will actually just read it very quickly:
"... to describe the situation in which a licensed distributor..."

In this case obviously PowerStream:
"... individually meters every condominium unit."

And then the condominium -- the common areas are individually metered, as well.  In this scenario, each condominium unit becomes one of PowerStream's residential customers.  And, in fact, I look at what we've got -- the guidance that we have received from this notice that we don't treat them any different than any other residential customer, if you will, in a horizontal subdivision.  We treat them the same as in a vertical subdivision.

The Board uses the term "smart sub-metering" to describe a situation in which a licensed distributor provides service to the condominium's bulk master meter, and then a separate person, the smart sub-metering provider, on behalf of the condominium corporation, allocates that bill to each unit in the building.

We all know that the genesis of the Ontario government's smart metering initiative was a commitment to take steps to create a conservation culture and become a leader in energy efficiency, and certainly we have worked hard to help implement the government's program.

Part of this initiative was the government's commitment to install smart meters in 800,000 new homes and businesses by the end of 2007 and throughout Ontario in 2010.

Smart metering and smart sub-metering we do see as -- in condominiums as part of the government's smart metering plan.  In fact, that's up on the Ministry's website.

If you'll bear with me for a minute, I will vet through my notes to what we have already -- what we have already discussed this morning.

I think it is important to highlight how we have been operating.  So I think we can all agree that PowerStream, as a licensed distributor, has a statutory obligation to connect a building that lies along the lines of its distribution system.  We talked a lot this morning about where it is in the Distribution System Code.  We also looked to the Electricity Act, specifically section 28 of that Act, that highlights our obligation to connect and is part of our licence.

We have referred to Regulation 442/07.  That is also a requirement for us to smart meter individual units in condominiums or provide a bulk meter, if requested to do so.

And we have undertaken a lot of our smart metering activities or -- and the individual suite metering activities to help the government's conservation initiative and load control.  In fact, under the Green Energy Act, we see that as only increasing.

We began with a pilot program in the spring of 2007.  I believe Mr. Chatten will be able to talk a little bit more about that program.  When we were looking at the draft regulation - and it was at the end of 2006 that the government had put out a draft regulation on individual metering in condominiums and sub-metering of condominiums -it was contemplated that individual suite metering in existing condominiums was going to be mandatory by December 31st, 2010, so PowerStream had to look at how we were going to go forward with our individual suite metering program.

So we have got -- were we to promote that program or were we indifferent as to whether a condominium corporation elected a smart bulk meter or individual suite meters.

What we have found, and not to put words again in Mr. Chattan's mouth, but what we have found from developers is they have been looking at the choice whether to individually suite meter the condominiums and have it served by a regulated distributor or are they happy to say thank you very much, we will take the bulk smart meter and we will undertake the sub-metering with a competitive company.  So the choice is between the regulated company individually suite metering or an unregulated company sub metering.

Again, I am just going through my notes to see what we have covered again this morning.  I think we have, in response to the change between the draft regulation and the final regulation, we did intensify our evaluation of how suite metering services could be delivered.  In late October 2008, it was decided to incorporate the delivery of smart metering activities in individual condominiums as part of our core distribution service and that was underlined, as you mentioned earlier, Ms. Newland, in some of the Board's decisions in the various notices and Toronto Hydro's decision.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  Mr. Chattan, can I turn to you now.  You are the senior executive and vice president support and metering.

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes I am, Ms. Newland.

MS. NEWLAND:  And when did you assume this position?

MR. CHATTEN:  I assumed this role in May of 2007.

MS. NEWLAND:  And your job includes responsibility for PowerStream suite metering activities in condominiums.

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes, it does.

MS. NEWLAND:  Just to put things in some kind of context for the panel, in terms of relative magnitude how many suite meters has PowerStream installed relative to the number of other meters that it has installed.

MR. CHATTAN:  Out of 240,000 customers, we have installed approximately 5,000 suite meters so it's approximately 2 percent.

MS. NEWLAND:  And how much time do you spend overseeing PowerStream's suite metering program relative to the time you spend on your other metering-related activities?

MR. CHATTAN:  Well, all customers are of equal importance to us, but to reflect the relative scale of this program, a very modest amount of my time.

MS. NEWLAND:  Up until the time this proceeding started.

MR. CHATTAN:  Correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  And you are aware that licensed distributors may apply to the Board to be licensed as smart sub-meterers?

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes, I am.

MS. NEWLAND:  I take it PowerStream has not taken this step.

MR. CHATTAN:  We have not.

MS. NEWLAND:  Can you explain why?

MR. CHATTAN:  We, as I believe Ms. Conboy spoke to previously, we view this as part of our core distribution business, and the very specific reason for that is it enables us to deliver conservation demand management initiatives and participation to these customers.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  Do you individually suite meter in new or existing apartment buildings?

MR. CHATTAN:  We do not.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chattan, on page 29 on PowerStream's conditions of service -- and Mr. Kaiser, those are -- you don't have them but I will just quote from the paragraph I am going to ask Mr. Chattan about.  I am referring to paragraph 2.3.7.3.5 and it states in that paragraph that PowerStream does not offer bulk metering of multi-unit buildings.  Does this mean that PowerStream refuses to install bulk meters in such buildings?

MR. CHATTAN:  No.  No, we do not.  That wording is misleading and we are in the process of changing it. If I can refer you, Ms. Newland, to the second paragraph from our conditions of service.  This is the top of page 30 of that document, if I could just read this.

MS. NEWLAND:  If you can read it because the Board does not have that document in front of them.

MR. CHATTAN:  "The building owner may opt for
individual self- contained meters attached to individual bases to a load centre as defined in PowerStream's standards or a sub-metering system."

MS. NEWLAND:  So if asked, you will install a bulk meter.

MR. CHATTAN:  Absolutely, and we do so.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.

Mr. Douglas, you are next.  You are the president of Util-Assist; correct?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Correct. 

MS. NEWLAND:  What is Util-Assist's business?

MR. DOUGLAS:  We are a consulting company related to the smart meter initiative to help utilities through procurement and implementation.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you. Mr. Chairman, Mr. Douglas' curriculum vitae is found in PowerStream's document brief.  I don't need you to turn it up but I would like to ask Mr. Douglas this question:  Your experience in the Ontario electricity sector is wide-ranging and quite impressive.  Can you describe for the panel briefly your experience in the sector and in particular with reference to smart meters?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Sure.  Began Util-Assist in 2005 to help utilities deal with the mandate that was coming down.  The whole goal from our side is to make sure utilities are educated on all aspects of the smart meter mandate, so that included technologies for horizontal and vertical applications as well as all the different components related to fulfill the smart meter mandate.  We have been doing that with utilities, regulatory bodies, ministries keeping everybody available to the information, as well as working with over 40 utilities on their procurement and deployment of the smart meter technologies today.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And I understand that you assist at PowerStream in the selection of suite metering, a suite metering service provider.

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes, we worked with them on development of the RFP and the evaluation as well.

MS. NEWLAND:  Can you explain for the panel, describe the process briefly, the RFP process.  What it was in respect of?  I gather it was in respect of choosing a smart meter, service provider and a vendor of the smart meters; is that correct?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Correct.  It was turn-key RFP that was put out on to the street.  It was looking for a smart meter technology for the suite metering application.  It was looking for the implementation of that technology and the ongoing data collection.  So it was the full range of services required to provide a smart meter to an individual suite metering application.

MS. NEWLAND:  And when did that process begin?

MR. DOUGLAS:  The RFP went out in September of 2007 with a closing date of October 2007, and a final decision made in November 2007.

MS. NEWLAND:  And were the selection criteria disclosed to potential vendors, did they understand the selection process?

MR. DOUGLAS:  The document stated what the selection process was, and that was communicated through PowerStream.

MS. NEWLAND:  And are you confident that the selection process was a fair, reasonable and transparent process?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  And ultimately PowerStream selected Trilliant Incorporated; is that correct?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Can you describe the reasons why?

MR. DOUGLAS:  They were the top-ranked vendor with the combination of operation and financial evaluation.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  Mr. Chattan, I just have a question for you following my questions to Mr. Douglas.  What proportion of the costs of PowerStream's smart metering activities is embedded in your contract with Trilliant.  In other words, how much is covered by the third-party contract versus how much is not?

MR. CHATTAN:  Approximately two-thirds.

MS. NEWLAND:  Two-thirds, thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Douglas.  Mr. Macdonald, PowerStream's evidence as it relates to suite metering is itemized in Exhibit K1.9 which is the small table I handed out this morning, and it includes specific applications, exhibits, and responses to interrogatories received from Board Staff, CCC, Energy Probe, the smart sub-metering working group, Schools and VECC; is that correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Just to be clear, Mr. Chairman, what we did was we tried to isolate those pieces of evidence and responses that were specific to the smart metering issue.  Were these exhibits, Mr. Macdonald, prepared by you or under your direction or control?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, they were.

MS. NEWLAND:  And are they accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Do you wish to make any clarifications to any of these exhibits?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, there is one clarification that might be helpful.  So in our document brief, which I think is K1.7, I am going to refer the panel to tab E -- sorry, 3E.  3E.  And under that tab are our responses to the working group's interrogatories, and I would like to refer you further to our response to the working group's IR No. 12, which in my booklet is -- has the number page number 171 at the top.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, the pages are numbered sequentially, so if you just turn to page number 171, you will get right there.  Yes, Mr. Macdonald.

MR. MACDONALD:  There may be some ambiguity about this number we put in the response, the $127,000 of OM&A costs related to our suite metering activities.  I think it's not appropriate to say that this represents the fully allocated costs of the program.  It's more accurate to say that these are part of the costs of the program relating to certain activities.

They don't include all of the activities that are embedded in the residential customer class costs.  That's my only comment on the evidence.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I know -- I know this issue was covered a little bit this morning, Mr. Macdonald, but I would -- in a moment, I will ask you to explain precisely what PowerStream is seeking in this application.

But before I do, I would like to ask you a question to try to put this smart suite metering issue in some context.  Let me start by asking you:  What class do individual suite meter customers in condominiums take service under?

MR. MACDONALD:  Suite meter in condominiums are part of the residential customer class.  There is no separate class for condominiums nor is there a subclass.  They are all lumped in and considered residential customers.

If I could, there were a number of items read this morning, and, like Ms. Conboy, I would have read some of those myself, but if I could just refer to one more item that's in the notice to amend the Code, a document referred to this morning, earlier this morning, the January 8th, 2008 document.

I am on page 2, and I am under the heading B, "Smart Metering Versus Smart Sub-Metering".  I am just going to read the very first short paragraph:
"The Board uses the term 'smart metering' to describe the situation in which a licensed distributor individually meters every condominium unit and the condominium's common areas with a smart meter.  In this scenario, each unit will become a residential customer of licensed distributor, and each unit and the common areas must have a separate account with a licensed distributor."

So that's where we took some of our guidance in terms of including those customers as part of the residential class.

I won't read what Mr. Warren read this morning in terms of the Toronto Hydro position, but that also provided some guidance, as well, a similar theme.

MS. NEWLAND:  Condo customers, I mean, I take it that there is only one class, and condo customers, as well as traditional subdivision customers, are both in that class.  I take it they pay a pool cost based on the average cost to install a residential service; is that correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  So consumption patterns and cost causation of condo individual customers are assumed to be similar, not necessarily identical, as those of horizontal subdivision customers; is that your assumption?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, until we would undertake a cost allocation study, that's our reasonable assumption, yes.  It would take some time and effort and a record of data to be able to determine that with any certainty, but that's -- we find the assumption to keep condominiums in the residential class to be a reasonable -- a reasonable one.

MS. NEWLAND:  Now, turning to the issue at hand, can you summarize the totality of PowerStream's evidence as it relates to suite metering?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.  And, again, I would like to point to two pages in our brief, and I will use the page numbers this time.  So the first one is on page 39, and I think this most precisely and accurately identifies our capital requirements we have to suite metering.

So on page 39, you will find a table that shows the capital spending for PowerStream in 2007, '8 and '9, and the total for the year at the bottom.  So under section 3, "Operations Capital", if you go down to the third line below there, 3(c), you see a title "Suite Metering Costs".  And for 2007, there is $1.7 million; for 2008, $1.5 million; for 2009, $1.1 million in round numbers; a total of $4.3 million.

So that's the capital component of our suite metering program.  So in terms of what your question was, what we were asking for, we would be asking that those amounts be added to rate base, subject to the proper accounting for doing that.

MS. NEWLAND:  And on the OM&A side, Mr. Macdonald?

MR. MACDONALD:  I would refer you to page 86 in the booklet.  On page 86, we see a summary of our OM&A spending, 2006 through 2009.  In the test year, we have an amount of $45.1 million, you see in the rate column in table 1.  That was -- as a result of settlement, it was decreased to $43.2 million.

So we are asking for an OM&A component of that cost to be included in revenue requirement, as well.

MS. NEWLAND:  And there was discussion this morning where your counsel was giving evidence regarding the fact that the OM&A costs associated with PowerStream suite meeting activities are embedded in that 43 or $45 million figure; is that correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's correct.  So, once again, since we treat this -- condominium suite meters the same as residential customer in a normal subdivision or as any other residential customer, we don't have a basket of those OM&A costs for -- those costs to serve those suite metered units; you are correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  All right.  Is there anything you want to add, Mr. Macdonald?

MR. MACDONALD:  Perhaps just to clarify what exactly we are asking for.  So in terms of the capital spending amounts and rate base, that figure of around $4 million, or slightly higher, we are asking that that be approved as part of rate base.

Just to put that number in perspective, Panel, our rate base as settled in our settlement conference was $527 million.  So the suite metering capital costs represent about 1 percent of that amount, about three-quarters of 1 per cent, I believe.

And in terms of revenue requirement, having just explained it's hard to carve out the OM&A costs for this program, I did a guesstimate.  I tried to take a reasonable portion based on the overall OM&A costs for residential customers, and I came up with a -- my best estimate that our revenue requirement in 2009 for this program would be -- or for the suite metering activities would be $115,000.

Our total revenue as settled is $114,600,000.  So the revenue requirement request is about -- is about -- almost exactly 0.1 percent of our overall revenue for PowerStream, revenue requirement.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Macdonald.  Just to go back to the capital spending on your suite metering activities, in -- the amounts you mentioned with respect to 2007, 2008, the total of that would be the total of the two numbers --

MR. MACDONALD:  That would be 1.7 million plus 1.4 million, yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  And those funds have been spent?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  And for 2009, part of your forecast is what?

MR. MACDONALD:  Our forecast for 2009 was $1.1 million capital spending.  So we are halfway through the year.  Mr. Chattan may be able the help me.  We have certainly spent a part of that money.

MR. CHATTAN:  We have spent approximately 30 percent to date.

MS. NEWLAND:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my examination in-chief, but I would seek your permission to ask my witnesses to make some brief comments in response to the witness statement that was filed by the Smart Meter Working Group.  There was no opportunity in the procedural order to file reply evidence and it might be useful for other parties and also to Mr. O'Leary to have my witnesses respond to that statement now in advance of their cross-examination.

MR. KAISER:  All right, go ahead.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chattan, may I begin with you.  Do you have the witness statement of Mr. Maclure?

MR. CHATTAN:  I do.

MS. NEWLAND:  And that -- Mr. Chairman, that witness statement, for you convenience, we included in the PowerStream document brief and you can find it beginning at page 184.

Which paragraphs would you like to respond to, Mr. Chattan?

MR. CHATTAN:  I would like to respond to statements contained in paragraphs numbers 5 and 7 of the witness statement, Ms. Newland.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Let's start with paragraph 5.  This paragraph refers to the fact that the members of the Smart Sub-metering Working Group include termination provisions in their connection agreements.  Which -- and these provisions permit condo corps to switch service providers in the future.

And then it goes on to state in the bottom that this is different than what appears to be the case in respect of PowerStream.  Is that a true statement?

MR. CHATTAN:  Well, in a sense it is, and just for clarity, if I could first say that with respect to changing service providers, the condominium corporation can make a decision to change service providers; an individual condominium owner cannot.  It's a decision for the entire building.  But PowerStream does not have a formal written contract with respect to condominium corporations when we provide individual suite metering.

Any condominium corporation can chose at any time, if they so wish, to change to another service provider.  There are no barriers to exit.

MS. NEWLAND:  Are there termination provisions?

MR. CHATTAN:  There are not.

MS. NEWLAND:  And no exit fees?

MR. CHATTAN:  Correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  Under this scenario, what happens to the suite meter that is now redundant?

MR. CHATTAN:  We would be able to, for the most part, remove the individual suite metering equipment.  We would redeploy it elsewhere so it would not, in fact, be stranded.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, thank you.  Moving to paragraph 7.  This paragraph, the Smart Sub-metering Working Group alleges that, in effect, there is no real distinction between smart suite metering and smart sub-metering, and we have heard a lot about this this morning.  Do you have a comment?

MR. CHATTAN:  Just briefly, because this has been talked about at quite some length.  But with respect to individual suite metering, it is a regulated distribution service provided by licensed distributors under the terms of the licence and under the provisions of the Distribution System Code, it's subject to the Board's decisions, and distributors are not free to establish whatever terms and conditions they may so wish nor whatever charges they may so chose.

MS. NEWLAND:  Now, further down in the same paragraph, Mr. Chattan, Mr. Maclure states that even where an LDC installs smart suite metering, a bulk meter may still be required in order to determine the amounts payable in respect of the common elements.  Is this a correct statement?

MR. CHATTAN:  That is not our practice.  It's PowerStream's practice not to install a bulk meter where we individually suite meter a building, instead we individually meter as well the common services and then we aggregate those into a single account for those common services, but we don't have both a bulk meter and individual suite metering in the same building.

MS. NEWLAND:   Mr. Macdonald, do you have anything to say in response to Mr. Maclure's witness statement?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, Ms. Newland, I have comments on two paragraphs as well.  The first one is paragraph 8, which in our briefing notes is on page 186.  If I may, I wonder if I could read a sentence from paragraph 8.  It's about four lines down:

"While the government of Ontario has mandated that units in new condominium buildings be individually smart metered, this requirement does not mean that other ratepayers in an LDC like PowerStream should not be obligated to subsidize the capital installation cost of costly smart suite metering systems.

I think this issue gets to some discussion from this morning, and I have been wrestling with how to address this and we distributed this morning and I believe it's Exhibit K1.4.  What we have tried to do here --

MS. NEWLAND:  Just for the record, could you describe what that exhibit is, Mr. Macdonald.

MR. MACDONALD:  Certainly.  What we tried to do here, and this is notwithstanding that it's very hard to figure out exactly which OM&A applied to this group of customers, we made what we think is our best estimate and actually we relied on some of the cost allocation studies we had done previously for the whole residential class.  What we have done --

MS. NEWLAND:  Just to be clear, Mr. Macdonald, this is the table that is entitled, "PowerStream 2009 EDR suite metering incremental revenue requirement and incremental revenue," correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Go ahead.

MR. MACDONALD:  At a very high level without going through every line, lines A through H attempt to identify the revenue requirement to provide the suite metering installations in the years 2007 and 2008, so it takes all the normal components of revenue requirement, OM&A, depreciation, taxes, interest, the normal build-up of revenue requirement.  It's on an incremental basis.  So to do those some 4,700 units in those two years, we have a revenue requirement of, if you look at line H, $736,000.

The second section, lines I through L, are the revenue requirement that we - sorry, not the revenue requirement -- the revenue that we gained by doing that work.  So we have taken lines I and J, the revenue now that these are no longer bulk metered, they are now individually suite metered.  So each unit pays the fixed charge and a variable charge based on their usage.  We also backed out the fact they are no longer bulk metered.  We thought that was fair to -- you can't double count the revenue, take that revenue out.

So at the end of the day, and again this is based on, you know, best guesses and assumptions, but it shows that the program has a revenue sufficiency of about $160,000 which means, you know, it's not really super definitive, but it means actually this program, based on these numbers, may have actually -- the condos may actually be subsidizing the other residential customers --

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Macdonald, I don't think this point has been made, so let me ask you this question.  Remember talking about the issue of subsidization and cross-subsidization, and I appreciate this table shows a sufficiency based on your very high-level estimates, we are talking about subsidization between the class intra-class not inter-class.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we are talking about subsidies within the residential class not among commercial or street-lighting or other classes; that's correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  Were there any points you wished to raise with respect to paragraph 8?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.  We touched on this earlier, and I would like to go back to it, and this is the last two sentences.
"By comparison, the average cost for PowerStream to install smart meters in individual residences is about $122.  The QuadLogic electronic suite metering system which PowerStream uses costs more than five and a half times this amount.  The working group questions why other ratepayers should be required to subsidize these amounts when an industry exists which will install exactly the same equipment at no additional costs to other ratepayers.

I just want to clarify, again, that the $122 goes back, I think, to the 2007 generic proceeding on smart metering.  That was PowerStream's cost at that time to go around to houses, pull off the mechanical meter, plunk on a smart meter, as part of a wide-scale, you know, retrofit of meters, you know, blitzing neighbourhoods and doing massive number of meters in a day.

The actual cost to do a meter installation is just double that.  If you were to do that in a subdivision or in a smaller group of homes and install a meter, it's about $250 per unit.

MS. NEWLAND:  So you are saying to install a new smart meter in a --

MR. MACDONALD:  In more of a one --

MS. NEWLAND:  -- in a traditional subdivision would be two hundred and...?

MR. MACDONALD:  $250.  So that changes the -- it just puts these numbers more in perspective.

MS. NEWLAND:  Can you explain what the cost of a meter that you would install in a condo is and why it's different?

MR. MACDONALD:  I cannot, and Mr. Douglas may be able to help with that.

MR. DOUGLAS:  Sure.  It's different deployment, whereas if there is an existing meter base in a building, then, yes, you could use a similar-type meter, but with a new condominium where the individual metering is not in place, the industry and new developers have been electing to -- the technology such as QuadLogic for smaller footprint reasons and the allowable space to do the deployment.

MS. NEWLAND:  And, Mr. Macdonald, or maybe, Mr. Chatten, the question is for you.  In PowerStream's service territory, how many or what proportion of your buildings would have an existing footprint such that you could use the cheaper meter?

MR. CHATTEN:  A very small number.  For the most part, PowerStream's territory is characterized by relative newish infrastructure, newish buildings.  We have a very limited number of older buildings.  I would say -- I am just making a quick estimate here, but 5 percent or less.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Macdonald, do you have any other comments you want to make about the witness statement?  You mentioned another paragraph that --

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, Ms. Newland.  In paragraph 14, I have two comments, as well, if I may.

MS. NEWLAND:  And that is page?

MR. MACDONALD:  In our booklet, it is page 188.

MS. NEWLAND:  Please proceed.

MR. MACDONALD:  The first comment relates to capital contributions, and I think there is just some confusion that may exist here.  I am at the -- sort of half way down paragraph 14.  It says:
"The working group further questions how PowerStream can promise in its suite metering promotional materials that it will smart suite meter every new and existing project..."

And I sort of underline "project":
"... at no cost to the condominium corporation or developer."

Just to clarify, it sort of seems to imply that when a developer is hooked up to our power system, they get a free ride, and that's not correct.  If we connect a developer, they pay connection charges.  They would be pay for high voltage cable, for example, a transformer that goes out by the street, other cabling and connections.  So it is substantial costs, and I don't want to have it implied that they get a free ride.

I would further clarify that we do not include metering costs in the connection costs for any residential customer.  They are pooled for all residential customers.  So I wanted to make that clarification.

And the second part was the last sentence, which talks about energy conservation effects, and my comment there is when we install individual smart metering, I wouldn't expect to see that -- we are doing it so we can get behind the meter and do conversation activities, but I wouldn't expect to see that dramatic a drop right away, because, as I mentioned previously, after the units are individually metered, they each pay a fixed charge.  So we are not going to see a dramatic drop in revenue by virtue of just doing that conversion.

MS. NEWLAND:  So what you are saying to me is that although consumption may drop, it's more -- the loss in revenue that might be associated with that is more than offset to the revenue to the class from the fixed charges?

MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, sir.

MR. MACDONALD:  Those are my comments on the witness brief.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  I think that's all by way of reply, Mr. Chair, and the witnesses are available for cross-examination.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Mr. Shepherd, any questions?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I only have about 15 or 20 minutes, so I will probably be able to finish by lunch.

Let me start by understanding how the system, if you like, in a condo is different from the system in a subdivision.  If you have a new subdivision, you have one line going to a customer; right?  And you put a meter on that line and you measure the usage.

But in a condo, you don't have one line going to a suite, do you?

MR. MACDONALD:  If I may, isn't it the reverse?  In a normal subdivision -- maybe I misunderstood.  In a normal subdivision, you would have a -- your system would loop around all through the neighbourhood.  It would have meters at every house.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MR. MACDONALD;  Sorry, that's what you did say?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what I thought I said.

MR. MACDONALD:  I apologize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a system which is your common system, and then you have -- for each customer, you have one line going from your system to the customer, and you have a meter on it.

MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in a condo, you can't do that, because the condo is not wired that way, right, generally?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, putting aside individually suite-metered, a condo, as a commercial building, could have one bulk meter, for example.  So the whole building is analogous to the one house in your example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but my question is a different one.  For an individual suite, it's not served by a single line that goes to that suite on which you could put a meter.  It's -- typically the design of a building is -- typically, the design of a building is the wiring is done for the building, and so a suite might be served by various circuits; right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So to meter it at the suite would be difficult?  You could, but it would be --

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes, that's a standard case.  In the old configurations, there is a little bit more difficulty in the amount of feeds to a suite, okay.  With the newer designs, it's a little more manageable on that standpoint, but the main differences are, if you look at a residential subdivision, what services that home, there may be a difference in the ratio of number-of-transformers-to-meters relationship between a regular subdivision to a suite, okay.

From a technology standpoint, there is also different barriers, such as due to a high-rise building, there is a lot more concrete and interference where the information is.  So standard technology that is more inexpensive, such as radio frequency, may not be suitable for the deployment.  So we may have to get into a higher-cost technology, such as powerline carrier, in order to obtain the information.

Just the -- another major difference, too, is that due to the style of technology that is needed to fulfill that application, there are substantial volume differences.  So from a manufacturing perspective, homes, regular standard homes, that are deploying smart meters, larger volume of meters are being produced.  So in a competitive marketplace, we are able to obtain them cheaper; whereas for the unique deployment, such as suite metering, where unique technology is required to obtain the information due to metrics, not the same volume, so not the same price discounts we are able to take advantage of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going to pretend I understood all of that, but I will try to pretend I understood some of it.

But what I am driving at is actually a simpler point, and that is I have seen smart meters.  You could put them on the hallway in a condo.  They don't take up a lot of space, but you can't do that, because there is no wire to put them on; right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  No socket to plug it into; correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or even if it's a brand-new building.  In a brand-new subdivision, there is no socket to put a meter on, either.  You have to build it; right?  You couldn't do that in a condo; right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So then instead, if I understand correctly, what you do is you take a different type of meter, a lot more expensive, obviously, and you put it in a common room; is that right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a meeting room, if you like; is that right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it one or is it more than one?


MR. DOUGLAS:  There would be -- every so many floors, there would be an electrical room where that would apply; correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason why you need the more expensive meters is because that's a more complicated way of gathering the information; right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In theory, you could, when somebody is building a new condo, you could say, Look, one line to each suite, have one circuit -- maybe group of circuits but all going through one feed for a suite and put $122-meter on, couldn't you?  I am not asking whether it's a good idea, I am asking whether technically you could do it.

MR. DOUGLAS:  Technically, you could spec that out, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you want to compare apples to apples, what the utility offers for a subdivision and what the utility offers for a condo is actually a different product, isn't it?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now my second question is, you -- you've suggested in your evidence that -- in your direct testimony that you don't have a bulk meter any more - this is I think for you Mr. Macdonald - but rather you individually meter the common areas and then you aggregate them into one bill; is that right?

MR. CHATTAN:  Correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's still a GS over 50 bill; right, typically.

MR. CHATTAN:  Typically, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you still getting that customer charge that you would have got if you bulk metered the building, but your load is lower.

MR. CHATTAN:  Load for the common service is obviously lower than the original bulk metered account, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I look at your K1.4, I see this line K is the reduction in bulk meter revenue, and that's because all you're getting is the load on the common elements, you are not getting through, GS over 50, you are not getting the load on the whole building.

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. CHATTAN:  Just the volume.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay I understand that.  You heard comments about the suggestion that Toronto has gone to mandatory LDC suite metering, I don't know -- we don't have evidence on that, but the suggestion has been made that they have simply said, You can't have a bulk meter unless we do the suite metering.  Have you considered that?

MR. CHATTAN:  I can't comment with respect to Toronto Hydro's practices but, no, we have not considered that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this Board does not have to worry if it says, Okay, go ahead and do this as you planned that tomorrow you are going to say, Oh, by the way, nobody else gets a suite meter except us.

MR. CHATTAN:  That is not part of our plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

MS. CONBOY:  Can I just add something, Mr. Shepherd. 

One of the other responsibilities I have that my nerves prevented me from remembering to say at the outset was looking at compliance matters at PowerStream or any discussions that we have with the compliance office.  So we did have discussions with the compliance office.  They asked whether we in fact mandated only individual suite metering, and we made it clear to them that no, we do not.  We read the legislation to say that it's up to the condominium owner or the developer to decide whether they want the regulated service of individual suite meters or the regulated service of a bulk meter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the condominium owner is never going to chose to have the simple smart meters, it's not going to design the building so you can do it the same as a subdivision because that takes up too much space and it's too difficult to design the wiring of the building that way; right?  That wouldn't be the sensible thing for a condo owner to do.

MR. DOUGLAS:  It's their decision, but we are not seeing a lot of that happening in our service territory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As between you and competitive -- so in terms of the 122 meter, that's just not in the equation because no condo developer is going to want that.  He is going to want the 680 meter, one way or another; right?


MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.  It's their decision and what we have been seeing to date is that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why the 680 meter is $680 in part is because you have these rooms, these electrical rooms, and you can't have a whole lot of bulky meters in them so you have combined meters; right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  They do what, 12 suites each or something?

MR. DOUGLAS:  The technology we have does 12 suites per unit, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So from the condo developer's point of view, if he is selling his building out at $300 a foot, this is saving him money because he needs a smaller space for the metering; right?

MR. DOUGLAS:  It's a smaller space for that deployment, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you as a utility, Mr. Macdonald or whoever, you don't ask him to -- ask the developer to make a contribution to your cost to reflect the fact that you're saving them some money.

MR. MACDONALD:  We don't ask for contribution for that, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You -- I just have two other things. The first is you talked about providing -- CDM programs --

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd, can I just add something?  To your last question about asking for a contribution from the developer because we're saving him money.  I can't see where we would be allowed to do that.  We are a regulated entity so I don't know how we could strike a deal, if you will, with the developer to say our units are going to save you money so why don't you kick in a bit of extra money for us, I can't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  What you could say is:  We will give you the same units we give to a subdivision.  If you want something fancier, if you want something that costs three times as much, then you have to contribute to the cost of that difference.

MS. CONBOY:  I guess we are offering the technology that makes sense in a condominium building.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask you about CDM programs.  You said you offer CDM programs to condo owners, tell us about that.

MR. CHATTAN:  We are developing CDM initiatives for all our customers such as load control programs, at this point, for conventional subdivisions but it's something we want to have available as an offering for condominiums as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you mentioned load control, that's PeakSaver; right?

MR. CHATTAN:  Correct, that's the current program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How would you apply PeakSaver to a condo?

MR. CHATTAN:  Peak saver would be used, amongst other things, for the air-conditioning load for a condominium complex.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the air-conditioning load in a condominium complex is usually common; right?

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes, it is, but the load control would be used for the whole building as part of the common services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's nothing to do with suite metering then.  Suite meting doesn't help you do that.  In fact, it's the opposite; suite metering limits your ability to do that.

MR. CHATTAN:  Well, in fact, having individual suite metering where we have the common services individually metered enables us to do that, whereas otherwise we can't get past the bulk meter to provide that opportunity. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, you lost me there.

MR. CHATTAN:  Excuse me just for a moment.  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, where condominiums have individual controls, then that's an opportunity for a customer to participate directly.  Where air- conditioning is the common service then that would be an opportunity as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It works both ways.  In fact, if it's a GS over 50 customer, you are actually reducing -- they are charged by the kilowatt than the kilowatt-hour so you are actually directly reducing their bill; right?

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes, if they chose to participate in it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question relates to K1.4, it's I guess a series of questions, but let me cut to the chase on two things -- sorry, this is your spreadsheet, the only real reason I am here is because it has turned into a battle of the spreadsheets, and that's my role in life.

In K1.4, you have an incremental capital costs of $3.2 million for the existing meters and then you have also said you have got another 1.1 this year, so let's say $4.3 million is -- you're proposing to put $4.3 million into rate base in the test year for the incremental capital costs; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, if you wanted to be more precise, you would put half of the 2009 additions in rate base.  This analysis was again trying to be representative directional.  We stuck to the two years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  And my point is not to argue about the small amounts of the numbers but rather the general concept.  I don't even want to argue about that, I just want to get it clear.

Normally, if you did an analysis of the revenue requirement for a particular activity, you would have more than just the meter at the customer; right?  Normally, if you had a subdivision, for example, you have a bunch of other costs associated with that that would be part of your capital costs associated with subdivision; right? 

And the reason you don't have them here, you don't include any of those here, the transformer and all those sorts of things, is because whatever way you do this building, you still have to have all that stuff up to the door of the building?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's all going to be the same?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's incremental, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only difference really is what happens inside the building, whether it's bulk metering or suite metering?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the other area I wanted to ask about here was the OM&A.  And your average OM&A per customer is about $178; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't know.  Where does that come from?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think that's actually in your evidence somewhere.

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't think that's in our evidence, necessarily.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit D1, T1, S1, page 1.

MR. MACDONALD:  Oh, for all classes altogether?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MACDONALD:  Okay, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what your average OM&A for a residential customer is?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't have that figure with me.  I have included in this analysis the administrative portion of that at $29, and I have used the incremental cost, the O&M incremental cost, of serving the suite-metered customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you have here is this 230,000 of OM&A for this number of customers is $48 a customer, but if you add a subdivision, the OM&A per customer for those customers is a lot more than $48 per customer; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I can't answer that.  I don't have that number with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if the average of all of your customers is $178.71 and -- what is it, about 80 percent of your customer numbers are residential?

MR. MACDONALD:  About half.

MR. SHEPHERD:  About half.  So you know that it has to be at least half that, doesn't it?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't mind undertaking to get that number for you on a break.  I just don't have that in my notes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is a simple one.  It's a lot more than $48, isn't it?

MR. MACDONALD:  But that's not an incremental amount.  This analysis is incremental.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is what I was driving at, because I had understood that you were trying to get fully allocated numbers here, and you in fact referred to your interrogatory -- what was it?  Page 171 of your material.

MR. MACDONALD:  Page 171?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, where you talked about the working group's Interrogatory No. 12, and you said, Well, that fully allocated number of 127, that's not really fully allocated.  That's really sort of part of fully allocated, but then I had understood you to be implying - and maybe I misunderstood - that the full number is this K1.4.  That's the fully allocated number, but that's not, is it?

MR. MACDONALD:  No.  This is titled as incremental analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  And so -- and you don't know what the fully allocated number is; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, I do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the company has actually done that study, right, to analyze what the fully allocated costs of suite metering is?

MR. MACDONALD:  For the residential class as a whole?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, for suite metering.

MR. MACDONALD:  No.  I am not following your questioning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you were planning to do suite metering, did you not do an analysis of the fully allocated cost of suite metering activities? 

MR. MACDONALD:  No.  No, we have never done a cost allocation study for this purpose.  We don't -- we have never carved out the suite metered condos and determined the cost to serve that class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have much?

MR. BUONAGURO:  If we were intending to have lunch at 1:00, I would finish before 1:00.  I am looking at the time and I am anticipating to go to 1:00.  I am anticipating to finish before then.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  We talked a lot this morning about the obligation of the utility, and, as I understand it, it's certainly PowerStream's position that because of Regulation 442/07 and because of the Distribution System Code 519, that PowerStream is obligated to respond to requests from condominium corporations and developers who wish the utility to install suite meters; is that correct?

MS. CONBOY:  I would add section 28 of the Electricity Act that outlines our obligation to connect, but, yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  But is it fair to say that PowerStream is under no obligation to actively advertise or market the fact it installs suite metering for condominiums?

MS. CONBOY:  Just a minute, please.

MR. CHATTEN:  Sorry for the delay.  If I could respond to your question, you are correct we are under no obligation to actively advertise it.  However, our keen interest in engaging these customers and CDM opportunities and making that available to them causes us to promote the program to this customer group.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you. 

Now, in looking at your IR Response No. 1 to the SSMWG - I am just going to refer to them as the working group to save some air - looking at that interrogatory response and particularly schedule 2 to the response, is it fair to summarize that PowerStream's management sought and obtained approval for --

MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. Buonaguro, I'm sorry, I am not sure which page you are on.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I'm using your -- my reference will be from your book, which is K1.7, and that interrogatory response starts at page 132.

MR. MACDONALD:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think just as a summary, I think it's fair to say that PowerStream's management sought and obtained approval from its board of directors to pursue sub-metering business opportunities in its area service territory; is that correct?

MR. CHATTEN:  Correct.  I would like to make one clarification there, and Ms. Newland spoke to this earlier this morning.  At that time, the terminology was sub-metering.  That terminology is dated today.  There is now individual suite metering and sub-metering as two different activities, but, at that time -- it is a dated reference, and it should be interpreted today as individual suite metering.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, in schedule 1 of that response at page 134 of the book, the recommended actions included the formal engagement of a marketing and technology partner.  We are assuming that's Trilliant Networks.

MR. CHATTEN:  It is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in response to the working group IR No. 13, which is at page 172 of your book, there you have indicated that the 2009 test year revenue requirement includes payments to Trilliant for procurement, installation, data acquisition and project management services?

MR. CHATTEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are the meters that we are talking about tied into the IESO's MDM/R, or Meter Data Management and Repository system?

MR. CHATTEN:  Not at this point.  We are just commencing our -- PowerStream is just commencing our migration to the MDM/R.  At this point we only have 2,000 customers on that platform, but eventually these customers will be migrated to the IESO platform.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So all of the condo suite meters are not tied into the MDM/R?

MR. CHATTEN:  Not yet.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But they will be?

MR. CHATTEN:  Correct.  They are the same as any other residential consumer.  The customer will be on that same platform.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what are the data acquisition services that Trilliant provides?

MR. CHATTEN:  Data acquisition is to read, poll those meters, pull the data in, verify it, validate it, and then provide billing determinants to PowerStream.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, are those services different than what the IESO's MDM/R will provide?

MR. CHATTEN:  Correct.  This is capturing the data and, for the most part, getting the data to PowerStream.  There will still be instances, like a single family dwelling, where there is gaps in the data, for whatever reason, and estimation is required.  So IESO's MDM/R will be ultimately doing that for PowerStream.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I didn't quite capture, I think, the answer I was looking for in terms of clarification.  There is the MDM/R, which you are not connected to; right?

MR. CHATTEN:  We are connected, but we only have 2,000 customers on the platform as present.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm talking about in terms of the condominium.

MR. CHATTEN:  Oh, no condo, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the condos -- we'll just call it the condo meter.  The condo meters aren't connected to the MDM/R?

MR. CHATTEN:  Not yet.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And Trilliant is providing services, data acquisition services, which is described in respect of the condo meters?

MR. CHATTAN:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  What I am trying to understand is when you  do connect those meters to the MDM/R, will that make Trilliant’s  services obsolete?


MR. CHATTAN:  No, they will not.  We will still need to acquire the data from there --

MR. DOUGLAS:  Just to make it clear, what the centralized MDM/R is looking for is the reading file and so the, so the information still has to be gathered.  So Trilliant's role is to collect that information and today -- they collect the information and from there, they are fulfilling for us the validation of that data.


Once those meters are being sent to is centralized MDM/R, the validation of that data and then providing it to our customer information systems for billing determinants, that will be provided by IESO.  So think of it as a two-part service:  Collect the data/manage the network, and then validate the data so it can be used for billing.


This aspect will be fulfilled by IESO once those meters go there, but this aspect will always be fulfilled -- data collection and running the network will always be fulfilled by Trilliant.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So that means there are some services being provided by for Trilliant with respect to your condo meters which once you connect to the MDM/R will be taken over by the IESO.


MR. DOUGLAS:  Correct.


MR. CHATTAN:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Does the 2009 test year revenue requirement include any marketing costs associated with PowerStream’s suite metering activities either directly by PowerStream or indirectly through payments to Trilliant?


MR. CHATTAN:  It includes the cost of promotional material and to trade shows that we attend.  We spend approximately $10,000 on this and those costs are shared by a suite metering program, the key accounts program, and our CDM program because it's a joint venture.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So in terms of the condo meter program, the amount that you spend on marketing either PowerStream specifically or through Trilliant is a subset of the $10,000.


MR. CHATTAN:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Now looking at the working group IR No. 8 which is at 167 of your book.  You talk about  all the responses, I think one response you talk about:  If an  existing condominium is defined in the Condominium Act -- requests a  connection. 

If we are talking about existing condominiums, we are not talking about connecting the condominium, right?  That condominium is already connected, I guess in the distribution sense of the word.


MR. CHATTAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it's maybe a misnomer to describe it as a connection; is that -- am I correct?


MR. CHATTAN:  Just give me a moment, please.


MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. Buonaguro, I think we are just not understanding your question.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, it just struck us that you talked about a request for connection and that's not specifically the case for an existing condominium.  An existing condominium is, by definition, connected.


MR. CHATTAN:  It's a retrofit.  It's already connected.  It's a retrofit.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, if we’re looking at a situation where you’re retrofitting an existing bulk metered condominium, I just want to look at that circumstance to get clarification.  Under those circumstances, would the conversion or retrofit, as you have referred to it as, the retrofit to suite metering, whether it's done by PowerStream  or a working group member, would that lead to a need to increase the capacity of the existing distribution system?


MR. CHATTAN:  I believe that would be very unlikely.  It would be presumably the same if not lesser load as a result of individual unit metering that would be extremely unlikely.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Because all you are doing is changing how you measure the through-put not the ...


MR. CHATTAN:  The load should be, in the absence of any other changes, the same.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So under those circumstances, would it be reasonable to assume that there would be no capital  contribution if the new metering was installed by one of the  working group members and owned by either them or the condo  corporation?


So let's say in this example, PowerStream isn't doing the suite metering, it's somebody else.  There is no capital contribution coming into the system because the working group is -- the working group member is the person that's being paid for the installation.


MR. MACDONALD:  Just we need to separate a little bit.  This is an existing condominium, it's going to remain bulk metered?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. MACDONALD:   From PowerStream's perspective, and behind that bulk meter the condo board in this case is going to make its own decision in terms of sub-metering?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. MACDONALD:  So what’s the question?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Under those circumstances, you are not receiving any capital contribution because from your perspective, you are still bulk metering?


MR. MACDONALD:  No.


MR. CHATTAN:  No, we would not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the same situation is true if the new suite metering or sub-metering is done by PowerStream, you don’t require a capital contribution.


MR. CHATTAN:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, a slightly different circumstance.  Assuming that there is a new condominium corporation just being built which lies along your existing distribution system and the developer wants sub-metering or suite metering.  Under those circumstances, is it possible that PowerStream would have to upgrade its existing distribution services to service the new condo?


MR. CHATTAN:  No, very unlikely.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Why is that?


MR. CHATTAN:  Because it lies along the -- you are literally passing by the front door, it would be unlikely you would have to put in a system for that purpose.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If we change the circumstances slightly where it’s actually system expansion towards a condo corporation, that would be different, wouldn't it?


MR. CHATTAN:  It would.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in the circumstance where you're adding a new condo corporation -- I think this is partly what Mr. Shepherd was going through, but the condo corporation counts as a general service customer.


MR. CHATTAN:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And under those circumstances, if you are doing a financial evaluation, I guess -- let's take an example of a  system expansion, okay.  So --

MR. CHATTAN:  The economic model analysis.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  When you are doing an economic analysis for this condo corporation, you would compare the cost of the expansion to the existing distribution system with the anticipated general service revenues from the new connection; is that correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  The -- so actually what you were describing is actually the exception in that the condominium is in a greenfield situation, so it's an expansion rather than a connection.  Just to clarify, that's highly unusual that we would have that because condos are generally infill.  However, if we did have one of those, that's a case where we would run the economic model, determine if there is a capital contribution for that project.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that financial evaluation that you would do, would that include the cost of the bulk meter performed using  the applicable general service rate?


MR. MACDONALD:  If the developer came to us and said, I’d like to have a bulk meter and that's what I want to do, we would include the cost of the bulk meter in that evaluation as we would for any commercial customer.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you would also run the evaluation based on the general service rates.


MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now if in the same scenario PowerStream is doing the suite metering, that wouldn't change the scenario in terms of it being a system expansion in the scenario I have given you; right?


MR. MACDONALD:  So this scenario it's still an expansion, the greenfield situation, but the customer has asked for individual suite meter rather than bulk meter?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  In that situation, would the financial evaluation include the cost of the individual suite meters as part of the cost of the overall project?


MR. MACDONALD:  It would not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  How come?


MR. MACDONALD:  Because we treat that then as a residential customer and metering for residential customers is pooled among the whole residential class.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you do the financial evaluation based on your residential rates?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the financial evaluation that you do under the scenario that I am talking about in terms of a system expansion would give different results depending upon  whether PowerStream or one of the working group members does that suite metering, since different costs are involved.


So in the case of PowerStream on a system expansion basis doing a  financial evaluation where there is no PowerStream-related suite metering, you are doing it on the basis of GS revenues?

MR. MACDONALD:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And on the basis of the bulk metering costs?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But in the case -- that scenario would apply if a working group member was doing the suite metering?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, depending on what the developer chose to do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But if you are doing the suite metering, the financial evaluation would change, wouldn't it, because you are using the residential rates, for example?

MR. MACDONALD:  I am trying to confirm what you are saying, and I can't comment on how the working group might treat it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It doesn't matter how the working group treats it, because from a distribution point of view, the -- as a distributor, you are either evaluating it as bulk meter, in which case if there is a working group member doing suite metering behind it, it doesn't matter to you; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Right.  I think we are agreeing with each other in terms of how --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just trying to clarify that whether suite metering is done by a third party, we will call them, or by PowerStream, it would change the way that you approach the project from a financial evaluation point of view if you had to do one, i.e., if you had to do it in terms of a system expansion scenario.  And I think you are saying, yes, it would?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, but just to confirm that that is the exception, not the norm for the service territory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you are telling me that the system expansion scenario, where all you are doing is expanding to one condo unit, would be extremely rare?

MR. MACDONALD:  Just logically, condominiums tend to be infill or -- like, we're seeing that in Richmond Hill, for example, where condos are being built around residential neighbourhoods.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, Mr. Shepherd, I think, took you through, at least in part, the rationale for -- well, to confirm, once again, you don't ask for customer contributions for suite meters, even though the suite meters cost more than a residential meter; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.  Those costs are pooled costs for the class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And I think that part of your rationale -- well, maybe you could restate what the rationale for not asking for that contribution is.

MR. MACDONALD:  Our rationale is that for conventional subdivisions, we do not -- our interpretation of the DSC is that metering costs are not to be included, and I think that's a fairly standard interpretation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I just have one clarification.  I was a little confused when Mr. Shepherd was going through some of the details, but he talked about combo meters and saying that for one meter, you could meter 12 units in a condo; is that correct?

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.  So one unit can measure up to twelve suites.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that -- I just want to make sure I don't have these multiples incorrect.  The working group witness statement talks about the costs of an electronic -- a QuadLogic meter being about five times your standard residential meter at $122.  Is that it costs five times more, but then it does twelve units, or it costs five times more -- a twelfth of the cost of a unit?

MR. MACDONALD:  If I may -- Mr. Douglas could help me.  I tried to clarify this, and maybe I didn't do a very good job.  But I think those numbers are apples and oranges.  The 122 is a number for doing a mass deployment of smart meters in residential neighbourhoods, a neighbourhood pulling off meters, plunking in a smart meter.

I don't think it's the right number to compare to the QuadLogic meter.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not actually worried about the 122.  It's just more of a place holder for the real question here, which is that when you talk about the cost of a QuadLogic meter, and maybe I am mixing them up, but it sounded to me that that cost was five times -- something like $600?  Sorry, I don't have the number in the top of my head.  What's the cost of the QuadLogic meter right now?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's in that neighbourhood.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let's say $600.  Does that same unit, though, allow you to measure twelve units?

MR. CHATTEN:  The $600 is relative to an individual customer, so it's not the unit is worth $600 for twelve.  It's $600 per customer on average.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So it's the $600 times 12, the actual cost of the unit.  Okay, thank you.  That is something that came up in my mind when Mr. Shepherd was doing his cross.  Thank you.

Now, my last bit of questioning has to do with -- well, we asked in VECC IR 21(b) about a business case supporting the smart metering program.

MR. DOUGLAS:  Sorry, just to clarify on the 600, the $600, that's -- it's -- again, it's -- it is the price per suite, but there is different factors to the cost.  There is the technology.  There's the deployment, different skilled individuals, as well, to do the rollout.  So there is different -- again, it goes back to what we are trying to identify as that there's differences in the installations.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The 600 is the capital cost or is that --

MR. CHATTEN:  The $600 is the all-in cost for all aspects of that installation, the meter, the current transformers, the management of the project, the physical installation, the commissioning into service, as well as PowerStream's overheads for --

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it's an installed cost?

MR. CHATTEN:  It's the all-in cost.  If you take the total number of units and total capital cost, it's in that range.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you compare that to $250 or so installed cost in a residential?

MR. CHATTEN:  Approximately, for a new installation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, just continuing with my last question, we asked in VECC IR No. 21(b) for the business case supporting the suite metering program, and we referred to the working group Interrogatory No. 1, which is at page 132 of your book, I believe.  Yes.

And in reviewing this, we were looking -- in reviewing this response, we were looking for a cost-benefit analysis, and we couldn't really find one, except for page 2 of schedule 1, which is at page 135 of the book, which talks about, at 4.0, "Key Issues", the last bullet, it says:
"If PowerStream elects to make incentive payments, the break-even point for cost recovery is eight years at maximum incentive of $125 per unit."

Do you see that?

MR. CHATTEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we talked about -- when I first started my questions, we were talking about the fact that PowerStream is obligated to provide the suite metering, if requested, but that the program as put to your board envisions marketing PowerStream's ability to provide the service, and conceivably leading to increased suite metering by the utility.

So, yes, you are obligated, but you are actually looking at this as something that you want to actively pursue; correct?

MR. CHATTEN:  We have two reasons for wanting to actively pursue it, the very clear CDM opportunity and to enable us to deliver on the provincial government's mandates, and clearly organic customer growth, which is very important to us in an IR environment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in terms of pursuing it, was there a cost-benefit analysis done?

MR. CHATTEN:  There was not a formal cost-benefit analysis done.  We did a series of analyses during the pilot period to determine, you know, Was there a business here, and what was the potential size of that business behind the bulk meter that already existed?  What was  the -- if the board of directors reached a decision in the first instance to participate in a program, and, if they did, what form would that participation take in a regulated utility as opposed to a non-regulated subsidiary?

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it kind of sounds to me like most of what your analysis entailed was trying to determine if it was a good thing to do and whether -- and how much work there was out there to be done, but not necessarily whether you could make money on it?

MR. CHATTEN:  There wasn't a detailed costing analysis, but we did sufficient to determine that the program over time would cover its cost.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that the eight-year payback period that we're talking about?

MR. CHATTEN:  Right.  The much secondary issue was this consideration of incentives, and from that we determined that over time, excluding incentives, the program would pay for itself.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, can I ask you, this eight-year payback period relative to this incentive of $125 per unit, when you did that analysis, was that done on an incremental or fully allocated basis?

MR. CHATTEN:  This analysis was on an incremental basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you provide a copy of that analysis?

MR. CHATTEN:  That analysis was just a relatively minor part of this assessment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not sure how that prevents it from being filed.

MR. CHATTEN:  Could I have a moment, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. NEWLAND:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, can you just repeat precisely what it is you are asking production of?

MR. BUONAGURO:  The analysis relative to bullet point number 5 under issue 4.0 at page 135 of the brief of documents, which is at K1.7 which talks about a conclusion that the break-even point for cost recovery is eight years at a maximum incentive of $125 per unit.


MR. CHATTAN:  Mr. Buonaguro, the -- with respect to that analysis, it was undertaken a long time ago with a series of assumptions that were based on the best available knowledge we had at that time, and in a fairly significant changing series of regulations, as you are aware from the point where it's going to be mandatory for all condominiums, so that it was, at least in our interpretation, optional.  So it was point in time with a great deal of things that have changed since that time.  So I would suggest that it's seriously dated.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Dated in terms of the assumptions that have been put into it?


MR. CHATTAN:  Dated in terms of the some of the assumptions because as we made a decision to participate in this program, we -- and subsequently acquired a service provider, we gained much better knowledge of both the program and its associated costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that sounds to me like you have it and you could produce it but you would want an opportunity to explain why it's no longer relevant; so I would still ask to see it.


MR. CHATTAN:  All right, we will agree to do so.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Reserve a number for that.


MS. HELT:  Yes, J1.1, then, will be the undertaking to produce the analysis that has been referred to by Mr. Buonaguro. 
UNDERTAKING J1.1:  To Provide net present value analysis underlying the break even point for cost revovery at 8 years at a maximum incentive of $125 per unit 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will come back in an hour.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:05 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:02 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, you're next.


MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, before Mr. O'Leary begins, we have the response to the undertaking that Mr. Chatten gave to Mr. Buonaguro just before the break, if we could have an exhibit number, please?


MS. HELT:  Yes, we can mark that analysis that has been provided in response to Undertaking J1.1 as Exhibit K1.10.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, if you want to come back to this, we will give you an opportunity.  You may want to look at it.  Maybe you had a chance over the break, I don't know.


MS. HELT:  I understand that the exhibit will actually be marked J1.1, the same as the undertaking number.

EXHIBIT NO. J1.1:  Response to Undertaking No. J1.1.


MR. KAISER:  That was the number we reserved, I think.  Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have not yet had an opportunity to review this, as well.  I am just curious, before I begin, because I don't think I will be much more than 45 minutes, but what is your intention, perhaps if I could ask at this point, in terms of proceeding with the balance of this proceeding in terms of argument?  Was that something --

MR. KAISER:  I think we will do written argument, if that is acceptable?


MR. O'LEARY:  The reason I ask, sir, is because we haven't had a chance to analyze this and to speak to my people, and, therefore, I was going to request that, and certainly we support that.


MR. KAISER:  We will discuss the scheduling at the end, but that's our plan currently.


MS. NEWLAND:  Could I just make a submission on that proposal?  Our concern is to have our rate order issued as quickly as possible, and if we had had oral argument, I was going to propose and ask the Board to issue a decision without reasons.  Sometimes written argument takes longer if you have to have written, and then reply.


MR. KAISER:  We are not going to finish today, anyway.


MS. NEWLAND:  No.


MR. KAISER:  So that's a problem.  We will have to find another day for that.  What about this?  There is not much money at issue.  You know what the effect of the 4.3 million in rate base is, and you have some estimate of the O&M.


Can we look at a rate order on an interim basis that takes out those costs?  It's not a lot of money.


MS. NEWLAND:  Would you be suggesting we set up a deferral account to track the --

MR. KAISER:  Well, you have an amount in this application that relates to the cost at issue; right?


MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct, yes.


MR. KAISER:  And you are not incurring significant ongoing costs, are you?  In fact, I didn't realize that you had '09 costs in there.


MS. NEWLAND:  We have a forecast of capital spending, and Mr. Chatten testified that we have spent about a third of our capital budget for 2009; that is, part of our revenue requirement.  It is reflected in our revenue requirement.


MR. KAISER:  You have some amount in your current proposed rate increase relating to these costs, whatever that is?


MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct. 

MR. KAISER:  Call it X.


MS. NEWLAND:  Correct, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Can you take it out?


MS. NEWLAND:  That's precisely the point.  Not with any precision.  We certainly know what the capital amount is.  We just don't know what the OM&A amount is.


MR. KAISER:  Can you estimate it?  I don't know how you track it, anyway, if you don't know what it is.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, I mean, that's the whole point is that that cost is --

MR. KAISER:  We can't give you a rate increase, because you don't know the amount.


MS. NEWLAND:  It's embedded in the larger amount, and we can't disembed it and specifically identify the precise number.  I would have thought, for rate-making purposes, you would want a higher degree of precision than you would --

MR. KAISER:  We would, if we could.


MS. NEWLAND:  -- than you would for a discussion today about subsidies, which is what --

MR. KAISER:  I mean, if you are not successful here, ultimately it will have to come out anyway, won't it?


MS. NEWLAND:  We are in a bit of a Catch-22, quite frankly, because if we are not successful, the Board will have to figure out a way to unwind those costs, in our submission.  And you will hear this from me in final argument.  We can't do that absent -- with any degree of precision, without --

MR. KAISER:  You can't come here and say, You have to allow the costs, because we can't figure out what they are and we can't back them out.  That argument won't fly.


MS. NEWLAND:  Well, you know, in all fairness, sir, I  mean, we didn't -- when we started this road in this application, we were filing on the basis of a residential class, so we didn't do a cost allocation study to support our application, because we were filing on the basis that these customers were part of a residential class.


If the paradigm of this hearing has shifted, and now we are looking at creating a subclass or a separate condo class, then, yes, I think we would have to do a full-blown cost allocation study, because it's not just the cost of the meters.  It's all the other costs that are attributed to this class. 

Some costs will be higher, such as the meters.  Other costs will be much lower.  We just haven't looked at that.


MR. KAISER:  We do know what the capital costs are.  That much is clear.


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And we are taking on a rate base that has a finite cost; right?


MS. NEWLAND:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  The O&M cost didn't look to be huge.


MS. NEWLAND:  If you look at --

MR. KAISER:  Your witness had made an estimate, although a high-level estimate, for the purpose of allowing you to get the bulk of your rate increase in rates soon as possible.  This is still an open dispute.  We haven't heard the argument.  It's going to take some time.


MS. NEWLAND:  Perhaps I could ask my witness, Mr. Macdonald, to address your suggestion.


MR. MACDONALD:  Obviously our preference would be to do it the other way around that -- set the rates per the settlement proposal that was approved, and if there was -- as interim, and if there was some decision coming from this proceeding that had, you know, a negative impact on those numbers, we would make the adjustment then.  At the time, the Board --

MR. KAISER:  You mean put in place a rate reduction?  I mean, this amount is under dispute.  We haven't rendered a decision; that's a fact.  If it's -- the arithmetic is easy, we could put it in, but let's suppose the people that oppose you are successful.  Then we have to take it out as opposed to putting it in later, once it's allowed, in the usual fashion. 

Aside from the inconvenience to you and everyone else of going through a rate reduction for a very small amount, I would have thought that you could --

MS. NEWLAND:  I think what you are suggesting is a form of deferral account, and maybe I should ask Mr. Macdonald this question.


Given the choice between a deferral account, which we would book somehow those incremental costs, versus waiting for a rate order and just continuing on interim rates as they are now, what would the company's preference be?


MR. MACDONALD:  Stay on the interim rate order we have now, which is current rates.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, that's your choice.  I mean, you have settled on 99.9 percent of this case, so I would have thought you would want that in rates, but if you don't, that's your choice.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Macdonald, I didn't understand that.  The choice was to have rates, whatever they are, minus that amount or with that amount, but that would be interim only for the purposes of whatever the Board will decide, so that against the rates will be struck, again, other way.  But the day of reckoning will come the next opportunity as opposed to having to change rates again very soon.  The next opportunity, that is my thinking, will be the next IRM.


MS. CONBOY:  If you could give us a moment, please?


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Newland, while they are conferring, I thought Mr. Macdonald was saying he wanted the existing rate order to continue.


MS. NEWLAND:  I thought that's what he said, too, sir.


MR. KAISER:  With no adjustment.


MS. NEWLAND:  Obviously his first choice is to have final rates that reflect our request.


MR. KAISER:  We can come back to this if you want to think about it.


MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Macdonald, would you like some time to confer with all of your colleagues off line, and we can get back to the Board?


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we discuss this after the break?  Take some time to consider it.


MR. MACDONALD:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary.

Cross-Examination by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Members of the Panel, as you know, I represent the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group, which consists of a group of competitive market sub-metering companies. 

I am happy to say that a number of my questions have already been asked, and you have responded to them, so I have been able to reduce my cross-examination.  But I do still have some question that is relate to the actual numbers that are here and if I may, Mr. Chair, ask you to -- we have attempted for simplicity to put in one documents brief all of the areas I intend the take the panel to, and it's marked as Exhibit K1.5.  I thought it would be simpler if you had that before you.

MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. O'Leary, could we get copies of that book as well?

MS. HELT:  Yes, just give us a moment.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am embarrassed to say to some extent it's just a reproduction of what you have done already.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Thiessen has just gone down to get copies.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chair, while we are waiting just a question of clarification.  Did I understand you to say we would not be sitting tomorrow in any event?

MR. KAISER:  We have some scheduling problems tomorrow which we haven't been able to resolve.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  We will try to finish up today even if we have to sit late.  It's not desirable but it may move along quickly as we get going.

MR. O'LEARY:  I can perhaps start.  I have been able the document I was looking for in their productions, but since we’ll be flipping around a bit --

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Mr. O’Leary, before you do, we have having a hard time hearing the discussion apart from the microphones because there is quite a bit of hissing going on behind us, and I am hoping it's not the crowd but the vents here.  So for the record, if you could just turn the volume up a little bit, please.  I don't think you can adjust that, it's just adjusting the voices.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.

MR. O'LEARY:  I will try and turn that up as well.


If I could ask you to turn to tab 5 of Exhibit K1.5, this is the PowerStream response to the SSMWG's Interrogatory No. 5 and the request in that was for -– this is under the capital expenditures portion of the application you filed we asked for a response as to the spending that the company has incurred for the years 2007 through 2009.  I think you confirmed earlier that the numbers are about 1.7 in 2007, 1.5 in 2008, and 1.1 is the forecast for 2009.  Am I correct that it would be fair for the purposes of the Board's understanding the costs on a per unit or per metering point basis to simply divide the number of units, that amount, that capital cost amount is serving by the amount that's been expended?

In other words, if you look under 2007 you would divide 2,500 into $1.7 million.

MR. CHATTAN:  On a capital basis only, on average; that's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Just to save time, my math and subject to check, is for 2007, you’re looking at a cost of $280 per meter, for 2008 $682 per meter, and for 2009, the estimate is $687 -- $680 for the first year, my apologies, then $682 and then $687 for 2009.

All right.  Can I ask you if one of the goals is to promote CDM and one of the objectives is to in fact increase your customer count, why is your program actually declining from the sense that your units are at 2,500 and you are actually forecasting less in 2009?

MR. CHATTAN:  Two aspects:  One, the economic decline so our forecast for 2009 is at a lower level than the previous two years. The second reason is will is the inherently lumpy nature of condominium construction and commissioning into service, that it's not as evenly split as single family dwellings seem to be, so the forecast for year ahead was more modest.

MR. O'LEARY:  The reason I ask that is I am just curious as to the success the company has had. If I can ask you then to turn to tab 18 of the same exhibit, under that exhibit, this is a portion of your application under the operating maintenance.  Appended to the end of that response is actually your interrogatory response to Board Staff No. 27.  If I can ask you to turn to the very last page and again, it may be a bit difficult to read so I may have to walk you through it a bit.  We have done everything we could, Mr. Chair, to try to blow it up so you could read it.

The request made by Board Staff was at 27(c) to provide an Excel spread sheet that shows the calculation of the 2009 customer count by customer class including the effect of the suite metering program. The last page, as I understand it, is entitled, “Based on historic average growth by rate class adjusted for suite metering.”

If what I understand correctly you have done is under the second box, you will see in the slightly bolded area, 2008 E, I assume that means estimate, but it appears that for that year there is a total of 524 customers; is this the actual units that were put in service?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yeah, this table is more reflective of actual accounts, actual accounts that we have.

MR. O'LEARY:  So “accounts” meaning people who actually pay revenues to the company.

MR. MACDONALD:  Exactly.  So we could suite meter a 400-unit condominium, for example, but -- and again, due to the economy that Mr. Chattan mentioned only 200 of those might be occupied and have a PowerStream account.  So these numbers reflect our best estimate of what actually our customers that are paying our distribution charges.

MR. O'LEARY:  So fair enough, but if we go back to the first box at the top of the page there, again it's hard to see but the very first column to the right of the words “2007 sales and 2008 sales,” the top bolded portion indicates for the year 2007, I see three zeros.  Does that mean that your response is indicating there actually were no revenue producing customers in the suite metering program in 2007?


MR. CHATTAN:  In 2007, the bulk of those connections and turned into actual customers was at the very end of the year.  Through most of 2007 since it was a pilot program and we were evaluating whether it was even a program we wanted to be into, so they are very back-end loaded for that particular year.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  So in 2008, we have a total of 524, and then in 2009 it appears the total is 976.  Would you agree with me, Mr. Chattan, that those numbers are significantly less than the units you are indicating are being served by your Interrogatory Response No. 5?


MR. MACDONALD:  I believe it's the difference I explained of suite metering units -- or meters -- units that we have installed suite meters for versus how many have become accounts for PowerStream.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand, but the implication of it is that where you're response to the SSMWG No. 5 indicates 2,500 meters in 2007, the truth is there actually were none producing revenues in that year and only 500 in 2008 whereas you’re indicating a further 2,200 in that year.

So if we look at, and we are going to get to it, the issue of revenues that are generated by these meters, is not fair to say the revenues being generated over the first few years is going to be significantly less than what you're suggesting in your spreadsheet?

MR. MACDONALD:  I would agree that the number of units producing revenue is less than the total that have meters installed; there is a lag, yes.

MR. KAISER:  More than that, if you forecasted 1,600 units in 2009 and yet you only got 900 in service and you bought already almost 5,000; does that suggest the forecast in 2009 is off?

You have already bought almost 5,000 of these things, and you have only got 900 in service and you are forecasting you should buy another 1,600.


MR. MACDONALD:  Just to repeat what I said earlier, it's the timing difference between installation of the suite meters and becoming a customer, becoming an account.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have a long-term purchase order for these things that you have to take them?  Like, you have made a five-year commitment to somebody that you take so many a year?


MR. CHATTEN:  Mr. Chair, no, we have not.  Whatever units we are successfully installing, we simply pay for what we achieve.


MR. O'LEARY:  Can I ask, Mr. Chatten, could your numbers in response to SSMWG-5, the one where you said it is going to be 2,500, then 2,200, then 1,600, could that include buildings that haven't even started construction?


MR. CHATTEN:  No.  Those numbers are not anticipatory.


MR. O'LEARY:  But the fact is that some of these customers don't yet exist, so if you have paid for meters, they are not yet used or useful; is that fair to say?


MR. CHATTEN:  Those meters are in place for those units when they are eventually occupied.  Those are buildings in the ground constructed, physically installed.  They are not fully occupied yet.


MR. O'LEARY:  So you don't have a revenue-producing customer at the end of that meter?


MR. CHATTEN:  Nor do we have associated cost on the OM&A side.


MR. KAISER:  Well, just on that, the 4.3 that is going into rate base, how many units does that account for, 900 or 6,000?


MR. MACDONALD:  No, it would be around 6,000.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I could stay at that last page of tab 18 and just ask you to confirm -- I am not sure, Ms. Conboy, whether this is for you or other members of the panel.


But, as I understand it, in the third box, where it says "Historic and Projected Growth Volume by Rate Class", the far two right-hand columns, you see one says bridge 2008 and test 2009, and the line where it says "Total Customers", that, for 2008 --  I appreciate it is difficult to read.  I should have brought a magnifying glass, but it's 243,780, and for 2009, your estimate is 251,638 or 6, I am not sure.


Would you agree with me that those numbers include the customers that are now being suite metered?


MR. MACDONALD:  I believe they do, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  If you go to the very first page of that tab, which is taken out of your application, D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1, if we look at the second box, the lower box under the "Bridge Year 2008", "Test Year 2009", we in fact see the customer accounts there are identical to the ones I just took you to; would you agree with that?


MR. MACDONALD:  Sorry, what line are you on?


MR. O'LEARY:  The second box, table 2, the second line, "Customers", and you go across to the two columns, "Bridge Year 2008" and "Test Year 2009".


MR. MACDONALD:  So in our D1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2, the customer account?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. MACDONALD:  You are asking if it matches the customer count in Board Staff 27.1?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, they match.


MR. O'LEARY:  The purpose of the Board Staff's question at that IR was to determine what the impact of the suite metering program is, and you responded by saying, These are the customers we are serving and these are the customer counts in those years.


And, in fact, they were already included in your application under D1, tab 1, schedule 1; correct?  You were just breaking out the number of suite metering customers that were included in those earlier numbers?


MR. MACDONALD:  I am not sure Board Staff Interrogatory 27 was addressing suite metering specifically, reading the IR.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, let's go back to the IR, Mr. Macdonald.  If we look at it, 27(c) asked you for a live spreadsheet that shows the calculation of the 2009 customer count by customer class, including the effect of the suite metering initiative.


MR. MACDONALD:  You are correct, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  I thought it was an obvious one, but just to be certain, the customer counts for 2008 and 2009, as filed, include the suite metering customers; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  For the purposes of you developing your OM&A for this proceeding, you in fact took an average of $179.20, if you look at table 2, line 3, and multiplied that by 251,638 to arrive at your OM&A total of forty-five-million-O-nine-eight.  I appreciate it's not what you settled on, but that's how you arrived at it?


MR. MACDONALD:  No, the other way around.  We -- this purpose of table 2 was to take our OM&A, divide by customers, to -- just to show that our -- well, in this table, that our OM&A cost per customer is the same as it was in 2006. 

Our $45 million number is done from ground-up budgeting built up. 

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.


MR. MACDONALD:  So, no, that's not correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  That's fine, but my point is that for the purposes of suite metering customers, you were treating them exactly the same in terms of your prefiled evidence, that, by the appearances of it, you are saying they would similarly result in you incurring OM&A expenses of $179.20 each?


MR. MACDONALD:  No, that's not the implication of this table at all to me.  It's just, globally, PowerStream's OM&A costs per customer.  It's not talking about different classes or groups of customer in a class.


MR. O'LEARY:  I wasn't going to suggest that there is a different class, but you would have to agree with me that, as presented, you are, in your prefiled evidence, treating the suite metering customers the same as every other residential customer, and, as your evidence suggests, they would result in you incurring costs to serve them which are, on average, the same?  That's the way it appears, doesn't it?


MR. MACDONALD:  I agree with the first part.  We treat them as any other residential customer.  I wouldn't imply that the cost per customer for the residential class is the same as other classes.  It would differ across classes.


This is across all of PowerStream.


MR. O'LEARY:  I understand.  Within the residential rate class, you have treated the suite metering customers the same?


MR. MACDONALD:  As other residential customers?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  For the purpose of coming in and asking for the revenue requirement, you have said it's going to add up to $179.20 on average per customer?


MR. MACDONALD:  No, that's for all of PowerStream.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I could turn you to page 13 under that same production, I'm just trying to understand whether --

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary, can I just clarify?  I don't know if I understand your question.  We are, as we understand it, from the legislation, from Board's codes, from everything we have received, indication from the Board, we are to treat a residential customer in a condominium unit, in, if you will, a vertical subdivision, no different than any other customer in, if you want to say, a horizontal subdivision.


We went through at great lengths to the notice of application -- notice to amended code January 7th, 2008, where in several instances the Board had said, as there is no distinction between a residential customer in a single-family dwelling and a residential customer in a condominium, you should treat them the same, and we have.

I think what we are trying to say today is that that results in 179.2, when you do the bottom-up calculation of OM&A, divide it by the number of customers. 

If you wanted us to say there is a legitimate subgroup within the residential class, find out what the unit cost is for that subgroup, what we're tying to say today is that would require a full cost allocation study.  There are components that may cause the 179.2 for other customers to go up, number of transformers, lengths of line to single family dwellings as opposed to condominiums.  We can't do that in the context of what we have provided.


MR. O'LEARY:  I appreciate you don't have the specifics and haven't undertaken the cost allocation study, but really all my point is going to is if I can take you, Ms. Conboy or Mr. Macdonald, to D1, tab 1, schedule 3, page 13 which is under that same tab, is a list of your administration expenses.  You would agree with me that for your suite metering customers, you are going to incur billing and collection expenses; right?


MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And some of those condominium customers are not going to pay so there is bad debt expense; correct?  And they are going to benefit from the insurance coverage that you have procured; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  Well, we would hopefully benefit, but I take your point.


MR. O'LEARY:  My point is simply that whether or not it is exactly all of this or there is some slight variation from it, the suite metering customers are residential customers and you are going to incur costs in respect of those customers, and it's not just those that relate to the actual smart meters you have installed but it's all of the costs that are inherent in serving a residential customer; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  So if you have taken over a building, for example, that had 100 suites in it, you have gone from a situation where you serving one bulk meter to a situation where you are now serving 100 individual customers; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  It would be 100 additional residential customers; that’s correct.


MR. O’LEARY:  And all of the additional costs associated with that including the bad debt expense, billing and collection, administrative and general expenses.  These are all your numbers that make up the $179.20 per customer; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  No, I have to keep going back to -- there is a number for the residential class that is a subset of the $178. The OM&A, the total OM&A does not apply all to the residential class of customer of which the condos are a part of.


MR. KAISER:  What is the residential number, do you know?  I understand the 179 is all customers, average cost for all customers.


MR. MACDONALD:  It's around $110 per customer.  That's based on our cost allocation study treating all residential customers the same.

MR. O’LEARY:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have any idea whether these condo customers, if I can call them that, would be greater or less than -- I mean I take it that 110 is largely the garden variety residential customers more or less reflects pretty closely to the average of that class.   Do you have an estimate or feeling as to whether the condo customers or greater or less in terms of the OM&A?


MR. MACDONALD:  It's just so hard to say without doing a full analysis.  There are so many different factors.  The cost allocation gets to what the load profile is, when they use the power, what assets it take to serve them.  I don't know.   There’s costs that slice both ways; some costs would be higher, some would be lower.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I can then take you, Mr. Macdonald, to your spreadsheet K1.4, and let's talk about this where, for simplistic purposes, all of the conversions here involving -- or all of the units that have served here -- it's a hypothetical I admit -- but all the units you have metered were conversions, so they were existing buildings, and indeed, just for the purposes of our hypothetical, your response to our interrogatory 5 indicates that the years 2007, 2008 there was a total of 27 buildings that you were engaged to provide suite metering services.  If I understood your last answer correctly and if I understand conversions here you would have had 27 bulk customers and if you converted them over to sump there is 4,700 suite meters, you have now gone from a situation to 27 customers to 4,700, and if it’s $110 per customer more or less depending upon what ultimately your cost allocation does, wouldn't that increase the cost to serve those customers by just under half a million dollars?  Isn't that an incremental expense to provide the service to those customers?


MR. MACDONALD:  No, that would not be incremental.


MR. O'LEARY:  I know you want to take that position, but isn't it in fact an additional cost that PowerStream will incur to serve those customers.


MR. MACDONALD:  No, I can't say that.  $110 is the cost to serve all residential customers.  I don't have a cost to serve the condominium suite metered group of customers.  That's why when I spoke to this K1.4 earlier, I tried to qualify it many different ways.  It's just a guesstimate.


MR. O'LEARY:  I understand that.  But if I look at your expenses, you have included there of $28.93 per customer and what I understand, I am hearing you say is on average to serve the residential rate class it's $110, can we not at least agree that the 28.93 certainly understates the actual cost to provide all the normal services you would to a residential customer to a suite metered customer.


MR. MACDONALD:  No.  We have broken out the OM&A, we have put the O&M together and taken the administration separately.  The administration includes all those things you mentioned like billing and bill production, and customer service calls we get, and that A part of OM&A is about, as you see, $29 per customer. We have taken the $127,000 which I did qualify as kind of an incremental cost and applied to that to the 4,700 units at the top of the page. To put $110 against the suite metered condos I wouldn’t be comfortable doing that.


MR. O'LEARY:  I understand you don't want to put $110, but isn't it fair to say that based upon the cost to provide service to residential rate class, it is certainly something going to approach the $110 rather than the numbers you’ve included in the schedule.


MR. MACDONALD:  No, I disagree.  It's not what I want to do, I am trying to portray the best estimate of what this would like look.


MR. O'LEARY:  Except you do acknowledge that you haven't come up with the actual number, so why are you any more comfortable saying it's $28 than the $110?


MR. MACDONALD:  I do have something that underpins the $29, it’s our administrative portion of our overall residential class OM&A, and I know that the $127,000 is a number of the incremental expenses that we incur for this -- these types of customers and Mr. Chattan mentioned interrogation of meters those types of data recovery those types of issue.


MR. O'LEARY:  The so the $127,000 is actually incremental to what you would spend on other residential rate class customers; is that fair to say?  It's an additional cost because suite metering is complicated.


MR. MACDONALD:  No, I can't agree with that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, take out the “complicated” but you are, if I understand you correctly, saying that there are additional incremental costs of $127,000 over the normal billing and collection costs and other normal type of expenses you would normally incur in any event.


MR. MACDONALD:  There are different costs but I don't want to portray that those are on top of the $45 million figure for all customers that we talked about.


MR. O'LEARY:  I understand it's not on top of that, it's embedded in your application.  But for purposes of our discussion here, you’re saying that you have taken some of the incremental costs, the administration portion at 28.93 and you are saying there are other incremental costs which are specific only to suite metering and that's 127; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, it's been prorated here, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  If we go down and look at the actual revenue side, and I understand -- and your evidence in-chief you talked about how you didn't expect the reductions that perhaps some of the competitive smart sub-metering industry has recognized in terms of the reduction in usage because people are now the subject of a suite meter and are aware their consumption patterns and have an opportunity to reduce those consumption patterns.  But to the extent that there is a reduction in the residential revenue, that would apply to line J, the variable distribution charge.


MR. MACDONALD:  Well, as Mr. Chattan described earlier, again, this is really high level analysis, but Mr. Chattan explained that we don't have any -- we don't have any suite meters condos on time of use rates yet, so it would be very imaginary to assume any reduction in their consumption.


MR. O'LEARY:  But if it did, that's the line it would appear; Correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  If you were going to take some impact of CDM, it would reduce the variable charge, not the customer charge; that's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  So to the extent that you increase the actual costs, which are lines A through H, to actually develop a higher incremental revenue requirement, and then you reduce the revenues, there is every possibility that you'd end up in a deficiency?


MR. MACDONALD:  I don't follow that at all, I am sorry.


MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of -- it's, of course, straight math, but if in fact this Board said that you should be undertaking and looking at your suite metering system and doing so on a fully allocated basis, and that resulted in an increase in your OM&A that is allocated to the suite metering program, you would agree, then, that's going to drive up the numbers that you have produced in Exhibit K1.4; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. O'Leary, you are asking a hypothetical question:  If OM&A costs were higher, would revenue be higher?  The answer is, yes, they are directly correlated.


MR. O'LEARY:  If OM&A were higher, your revenue requirement would be higher; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  To the extent, therefore, that your activities in the suite metering actually does generate conservation conduct by the occupants, that would drive down your revenues, and, similarly, that could therefore result in a deficiency?


MR. MACDONALD:  If conservation was in effect and variable -- and consumption went down, that could contribute to a deficiency, if that was -- all those hypotheticals were in place, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Macdonald, your costs, your expenses, are based upon, in this study, 6,300 units.  Is the revenue based on 900 units or 6,300 units?


MR. MACDONALD:  No, we have applied this to 4,700 units, the OM&A, going to the very first line, 4,700 units.  We know that the 127,000 applies to --

MR. KAISER:  I see that, but why do you have pro rata 127,000 for 6,300 units under operating and maintenance expenses?

MR. MACDONALD:  I believe it -- so to get to 94,000, which is the OM&A expense line, we took, I believe, 4,700 over 6,300 and multiplied it by 127,000.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.  So let's assume it's 4,700 for the purpose of calculating expenses.  It's the same number of units for purposes of calculating revenues?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Even though there is only 900 in service?


MR. MACDONALD:  In this analysis, we are assuming one-to-one --

MR. KAISER:  4,700?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, for this purpose of illustration, they would be occupied.


MR. KAISER:  That doesn't make much sense, though, does it?  It's not really a cost benefit study if you're assuming revenue based on 4,700 and, in fact, we know there is only 900 generating revenue.


MR. MACDONALD:  That wasn't the purpose of this illustration.  This was to show, for a given number of units -- you could do this for one building of 400 units or you could do it for 4,700 units.  This is to show apples to apples, if you -- the revenue requirement and what that results -- to make the investment, what you get in revenue.


MR. KAISER:  So what you are saying is ignore reality, but we just assume that there is 4,700 revenue-producing units, and then you say revenue will to cover costs.


But if we were to look at the actual number of revenue-producing units of 900, it's very clear revenue doesn't cover costs; is that fair?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, sir, but you would have to probably look at a longer time frame, because --

MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.  This is --

MR. MACDONALD:  -- eventually these will be occupied, so I --

MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. MACDONALD:  The company believes this is fair for these purposes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Macdonald, at tab 15 of Exhibit K1.5, we reproduced a portion of your capital additions evidence.  I believe my friend, Ms. Newland, took you to the second page of that, which a description of those capital additions by project category.  And under 3(c), you have indicated numbers for 2007, 2008 and 2009.

If I could then ask you to turn over to the very next -- to tab 17 and the fourth page in - and this is another portion of your prefiled evidence, D1, tab 7, schedule 1, your distribution asset variance analysis - you are comparing your 2007 actuals to 2006 actuals.

And at page 14 of 23, it indicates that the spending on condominium suite metering in 2007 was in fact 656,000, not 1.7 million.  Can you perhaps explain that to us?


 MR. MACDONALD:  Part of the difference would be depreciation, but I can't at the moment explain the rest of the difference.  This section of the application is to build up the rate base number. 

So 2007 amounts would be depreciated, but that doesn't explain all the difference.


MR. O'LEARY:  I am sorry, I am afraid I don't understand.  You are talking about a suite metering program that started in 2007.  There wouldn't be any depreciation.


MR. MACDONALD:  To calculate rate base for '09, you would have to take into account depreciation, but I don't think that would adequately explain the difference you have asked about.


MR. O'LEARY:  No, I appreciate you do that in 2009, but in terms of comparing your 2007 actual to 2006 actual, is that number embedded in this 2007 number of 1.7 million?


MR. MACDONALD:  Well, there was no -- there was no spending in 2006.  This is reflecting the 2007 spending.


MR. O'LEARY:  Perhaps you need to go back and determine whether or not the amount that should be included in rate base is actually the 656,000 or the 1.7 million.  Is that a fair request?


MR. MACDONALD:  I think I have explained part of the difference is depreciation.  I would have to, yes, explain the rest of the difference.


MR. O'LEARY:  Can we perhaps ask you to do that by means of an undertaking?


MS. NEWLAND:  Just for the record, can you just rearticulate the request?


MR. O'LEARY:  The request is to explain the reason why the -- under capital additions, B1, tab 4, schedule 2, the request is made -- or there is an indication that there has been spending of 1.7087 million in 2007, and yet in Exhibit B1, tab 7, schedule 1 at page 14 it indicates there was only spending of 656,000.


MS. HELT:  We can have that marked as Exhibit J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO Explain the difference in capital additions.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Macdonald, keeping your finger still at the capital additions for 2008, at item 3(c) the indication is that the expenditures were 1.472 million.  That's at page 2 of 27; right?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I then flip you over to tab 20, which is in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 10, it's a similar looking table, but it appears that what you have now are two columns for 2008.  One simply says "amount" and one says "actual", and the first column, may I presume that was your budget of 1.472?


MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  And your actual is 1.715?


MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And is it still 2,200 units that we're talking about in that year?


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  So if I do the math on that, in fact, 1.715 million divided by 2,200 units, the cost per unit is $779 per unit.  Would you accept that, subject to check?


MR. MACDONALD:  Certainly.


MR. O'LEARY:  And if I could ask you now, Mr. Macdonald, to turn to tab 21 of our production Exhibit K1.5, that's a response to School Energy Coalition No. 16.  On page 3 of 7, we have yet again another similar looking table, capital spending, and if I ask you to go down the first column, it refers to 2006 and I see the number of 494,000 indicating that there was spending on the program in 2006; is that correct -- or Mr. Chattan?

MR. VLAHOS:  Which one is that?

MR. O'LEARY:  3 C.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. CHATTAN:  Mr. O'Leary, I believe those costs relate to the pilot program.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Is that a cost that then should be spread out amongst the suite metering program on a per-unit basis?  Or do I add that to the 2007 amount?

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes, I think that would be appropriate treatment, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So if we add 1.708 million for 2007, and we add 494,000 for 2006, I get 2.2 million.  Are we still talking about 2,500 units in 2007?

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes, 2,500 units.

MR. O'LEARY:  My math calculates that out to $880 per unit.

MR. CHATTAN:  That would be reflective of the higher cost of the pilot program in advance of a competitive RFP if our pricing could be achieved after that was in place.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So which one of these unit prices should we be using for the purposes of calculating what is a fair determination of whether there is cross-subsidization or not, $880 or $680 which is the one that you’ve used in your spreadsheet?

MR. CHATTAN:  The $680 per unit, Mr. O'Leary, is a realistic average cost-based on our actual experience not reflecting pilot project costs.

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, I keep on want wanting to go back to this --we are throwing around the concept of cross-subsidization.  We’re talking about the meters only, we are not talking about all the other costs that are required to serve single family dwelling as opposed to condominium units, single family dwellings downtown Vaughn versus single family dwellings out in the suburbs versus individual units.  So I just want to caution that your concept of cross-subsidization is different than what we are trying to put forward on the table.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand but would you accept this, Ms. Conboy.  That if, in fact, the unit cost is not $680 but it is $780, which appears to be at least in one of the years what your unit cost was, or perhaps higher, that that for 4,700 units would increase the actual cost, the capital costs by $470,000 -- sorry, yes, $470,000.  So in terms of developing your revenue requirement, that is a significant addition for the purposes of determining whether or not there is a deficiency; is that not fair?

MS. CONBOY:  I hazard to answer that right now until we have the undertaking before us of checking those numbers.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. O'Leary, are you comparing the $470,000 change based on your estimates to the $160,000 as the program sufficiency or deficiency line on K1.4?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am saying, sir, that if the $680 unit cost is in fact higher, it will have an impact on the revenue requirement and to the extent the revenue requirement goes up and the actual revenues go down either because the units aren't in service and/or because there has been some conservation initiatives, you are going to end up in a deficiency which we submit would be evidence of cross-subsidization.  But the unreliability of the unit cost and the other information here is what gives rise to concerns about approving a program because it's not certain whether -- and the extent of the cross subsidy.

MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that, sir, I just want to confirm that you are not suggesting that if $450,000 is a number that may turn out to be a number that it will change the -- if you look at K1.4 at the very bottom line, the sufficiency/deficiency line you are not suggesting that line will be change by 470.

MR. O'LEARY:  No, I am not, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  It will have to take into consideration the rate base impact on revenue requirement.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir, and I am also suggesting that on a fully allocated basis, the operating expenses have been understated as well and that will increase --

MR. VLAHOS:  No, I understand that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  I believe the next question is for you, Ms. Conboy.  If I could ask you to turn to -- let me just get the right exhibit.  Yes, it's under tab 15, it's your capital additions. I understand your evidence earlier today, the panel's evidence was that you're not currently serving residential tenancy buildings.  But if I look at page 19 of 27 which is the third page under that tab and I read what your prefile evidence states at B1, tab 4, schedule 2, you indicate that the program for condominium and apartment-type complexes --and the third line down, you say “Providing each condo or apartment with their own meter.”   That suggests to me that while you may not yet be serving that market, it certainly appears to be on your radar; is that fair to say?

MS. CONBOY:  I think you will find that in one of our interrogatories we responded to that clarification.  It will take me a minute to find it, but I am not sure if it was a VECC interrogatory or one of yours that said:  Can you confirm that this is individual suite metering in condominiums and not in apartments?  So we can either take --

MR. O'LEARY:  I think you have said it already today but my question is not whether you are doing it now but does this indicate whether it's your intention, PowerStream's intention, once the -- as you are aware -- let me start this one again. As you are aware there is currently, the Board has initiated a proceeding to authorize discretionary metering, you are aware of that one?

MS. CONBOY:  I am aware of that one.

MR. O'LEARY:  That relates to whether or not parties can undertake metering in residential tenancy buildings.

MS. CONBOY:  I’m aware of that.

MR. O'LEARY:  And if it is authorized, if entities such as the embedded smart submeters are authorized to undertake discretionary metering, is it PowerStream's intention to also direct its suite metering program at that market?

MS. CONBOY:  I can't answer that right here, Mr. O'Leary, because I have read enough of the Residential Tenancy Act that I know what I don't know, and there is some complications with respect to how you would ultimately bill those individual customers, and you would have to have a year’s worth of billing data and back that out of rent.  It's not -- I am not sure if that's been proclaimed as yet.  Okay. You are shaking your head that it hasn't.  So it's another layer of complexity that that we haven't given it sufficient thought for me to sit here today and say, yes, that's another area we would like to promote with our CDM and individual suite metering activities.

MR. O'LEARY:  I ask this in part because if I can turn you now to Interrogatory No. 1 and your response to that, and this is schedule 1.1 which is the -- are the minutes from the board of directors meeting of October 24th, 2007.  On the second page of those minutes, this is tab 1 under item 3.0, strategic importance to PowerStream.  You talk about, in the first bullet: Based upon current building plans, PowerStream could increase its customer base by 2,000 to 3,500 per year by offering individual unit metering. Is that only condos or does that include apartment billings?

MR. CHATTAN:  It's condominiums but it's a combination of retrofits and brand new.  It was an estimate, Mr. O'Leary, at that time based on current knowledge we had.  And, as you have seen earlier in your questions relative to 2009, why is that declining?  In tough economic times, the opportunity is clearly smaller.


MR. O'LEARY:  Then in the next bullet, you go on to say:

"New customer connections are a key component to the OEB's performance-based metrics approach to the third phase of incentive-based regulation.  The extent to which PowerStream can increase its customer base will result directly in more favourable performance results for PowerStream."

Would you agree what you are saying in lay terms is that if you can increase the number of customers, that's going to benefit the shareholder directly?


MR. CHATTEN:  What I am saying is that in an IRM environment, the addition of extra customers benefit the shareholder and ratepayers.


MR. O'LEARY:  Then if we go to the next bullet, if you go to the fourth line, it reads:

"Approximately 10 percent of PowerStream's customers are currently behind the bulk meter."


Am I to understand that your estimate is that of the 250,000 customers, 25,000 currently exist behind the bulk meter?


MR. CHATTEN:  At that time, we believed there were approximately 25,000 behind the bulk meter.


MR. O'LEARY:  Are any of these numbers and estimates included -- and I haven't looked at your undertaking yet.  Are any of those numbers included in your undertaking response that has just been produced?


MR. CHATTEN:  The undertaking response was simply an incremental analysis that was done several years ago.  That incremental analysis was simply to try and determine what were the revenues and associated incremental costs. 

The two are not directly related.


MR. O'LEARY:  Therefore if it's not included in that, is there a further analysis, or is there some further information that PowerStream generated for the purposes of determining the extent of the two markets, condominium and residential?


MR. CHATTEN:  In two ways.  We already -- we had access, of course, in our customer system, to the number of bulk metered accounts.  We did some surveys to find out, well, in these instances on a residential basis, how many were the typical number of customers?  They were an average number of customers.  That's where the 10 percent came from.


MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of the -- you will have to give me your best interpretation or your best view on this, but in terms of converting a residential building, would you view it as generally more costly to convert to a suite meter system than providing a suite meter system to a new building?


MR. CHATTEN:  It depends.  It can be -- we have seen both circumstances.  Sometimes more expensive; sometimes less so.


MR. O'LEARY:  Indeed, I am informed by some of the members of our group that there are situations -- they are condominiums, but there are situations where in fact, because of the configuration of the wiring system within the building, it may be necessary to install two smart meters per unit.


Is that something that PowerStream would do again at no cost to the condominium corporation?


MR. CHATTEN:  We have not encountered that circumstance, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  And if it did arise, what's your position on that?


MR. CHATTEN:  I don't have a position at this point, Mr. O'Leary, because, as I have said, we have not encountered it.  Nonetheless, our requirement is we're obligated to serve if the customer requests us to connect.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I could ask you to just go further down that page, this is the board of directors minutes.  Under 5.1, "Alternatives", it appears that PowerStream specifically considered one of the alternatives.  Obviously the one you are pursuing now is within the utility, but alternative 5.2 is to compete for the business from new, unregulated subsidiary. 

In other words, you actually thought -- PowerStream actually thought, and I presume did an analysis, about whether or not it should actually undertake these competitive activities through an affiliate; is that fair to say?


MR. CHATTEN:  We actively considered that as we considered all feasible alternatives, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And the reason you didn't are, if I can just look at the minutes, it's expensive, you have to set up a company; right?  You have to say "yes" or "no".


MR. CHATTEN:  Yes or no.  The cost -- PowerStream's philosophy is to stick to our core business.  We don't have an unregulated affiliate.  We haven't embarked on the telecommunications business or other affiliate-type businesses.  Where there is no existing affiliate, to create one costs money; correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  I understand.  I am just trying to stay with the wording here, and these are the recommendations made to the board of directors.  So, one, it's costly to establish, but you agree with me every member of the private sector sub-metering industry, they have to set up a company and incur those costs; right?


MR. CHATTEN:  I don't disagree with that.


MR. O'LEARY:  The second reason you decided against proceeding through an unregulated subsidiary is because of its onerous Affiliate Relationship Code provisions?


MR. CHATTEN:  The Affiliate Relationship Code provisions we would have to comply with in an unregulated sub, and where we are permitted to pursue this business in the regulated entity, it's simpler to do so.


MR. O'LEARY:  Which provisions are onerous that are the ones that led to your reason not to undertake this through an affiliate?


MR. CHATTEN:  There wasn't any specific element.  It was simply the need to comply with the Affiliate Relationship Code.


MR. O'LEARY:  You understand the purpose of the Affiliate Relationship Code is to attempt to prevent what the Code considers as inappropriate preferences being given by a regulated utility towards competitive market activity?


MR. CHATTEN:  I fully understand that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Complicated governance is another reason given for not going through an affiliate.  What complications; can you explain?


MR. CHATTEN:  Pardon me, Mr. O'Leary.  Would you repeat the question?


MR. O'LEARY:  One of the reasons that are set out in your minutes for the recommendation against proceeding through a new unregulated subsidiary are complicated governance. 

I'm just trying to understand.  What could be complicated about setting up an affiliate?


MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chair, I appreciate that Mr. O'Leary is asking a question about something in a board minute that was filed in response to an IR, but I fail to understand the relevance of his questions with respect to this proceeding.

We have testified that we are providing this service in accordance with our obligations as a distributor.  So what we may have done with respect to an affiliate on an unregulated activity is not relevant, I would submit.


MR. KAISER:  I think that's right, Mr. O'Leary.  I think these minutes speak for themselves.  They are pretty clear.  This gentleman isn't a member of the board of directors, and he is guessing at what the board meant by this.


MR. O'LEARY:  I will move on, sir.


MR. KAISER:  That would be helpful.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Macdonald, I just want to be certain that I understood the ramifications of a couple of responses that were given to Mr. Buonaguro when he was asking you certain questions about when you undertake financial analysis and economic evaluation with respect of a new connection.


If I understood your answer - correct me if I am wrong - that in the case of even a situation where a new condominium requires upstream expansion, that you will still not include the metering cost, the suite metering cost, in your economic evaluation.  Did I understand that correctly?


MR. MACDONALD:  For a suite-metered condominium, we do not include the cost of the metering in the connection charges that the developer would pay.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And is it fair to say that as a result of you excluding these costs from the economic evaluation, it will at times produce a situation where, if PowerStream proceeds to meter the building, it will not ask the developer for any capital contribution, but if the developer wants to use a competitive smart sub-metering company, it will require -- PowerStream will require a capital contribution?


MR. MACDONALD:  This is the confusion I tried to clarify earlier.  Maybe I wasn't successful. 

So the vast majority of condominiums are connections as opposed to greenfield expansions.  So for connections, we charge the developer the cost of the connection, the high voltage cable, transformer, other wiring connection.  So I don't -- I just want to be clear that they don't -- they don't get the service for free.  They pay a capital contribution. 

But I wanted to further clarify that for all residential customers, so regular -- as Ms. Conboy has described, horizontal subdivisions and vertical subdivisions, condominiums, the metering costs are pooled in overall rates.  They are not part of the contribution for that project.


MR. O'LEARY:  I am simply asking, to be certain I'm clear on this, that in those situations where you do an economic evaluation, you are not including as costs for that economic evaluation the suite metering costs; correct?


MR. MACDONALD:  That is correct, yes, sir.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Are you aware, do you acknowledge that there are situations where is a new condominium project, the developer is being asked for a capital contribution where it wants to use a smart sub-metering company and it and it is not being asked for a capital contribution if it goes with PowerStream.

MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. Buonaguro's question before lunch, if a condominium was coming to us, a developer, as commercial customer wanting a bulk meter, we would charge them the cost of the bulk meter, it's about $4,000.  So that as with any commercial customers, there is a difference in the metering -- there is a difference in the treatment of metering costs between commercial and residential, and that's a result of how we interpreted the SC.

MR. O'LEARY:  I think your answer to me is yes, if they stay with the bulk meter, they are going to be charged a capital contribution because you include the cost of the meter, it may only be $4,000, but it generates a capital contribution requirement whereas if they go with you, they are treated as a residential project, and none of the metering cost are included; is that...

MR. MACDONALD:  No, I don't think, Mr. O’Leary, with respect, we are on the same page.  The developer pays connection charges and capital contributions in either case.  What's at issue here is the metering costs.

MR. O'LEARY:  And if they are not included in the economic evaluation because it's being treated as a residential project, then what I am suggesting to you is that will generate occasions where you’re not asking for a capital contribution if PowerStream meters the building but you are asking for capital contribution if a smart sub-metering company does.

MR. MACDONALD:  I can’t agree with that, no.

MS. CONBOY:  Can I also add, sorry, we were talking about interpretations of codes.  We also have a difference of interpretation of the regulation.  It wasn’t until we read your witness statement that we saw that you have a fundamental difference in interpretation of that regulation 442, I think it is, 07.  We took away, when the draft regulation, and we are all clear mandated individual metering in condominiums whether it was sub-metering or whether it was direct unit metering, it was going to be mandated in existing and a new condominiums by December 31, 2010.  The change between the draft regulation and the final regulation, in our understanding, in our interpretation -- and I have called around to some other distribution companies and they also have that understanding that it became a non-mandatory option in both existing and new condominium. So our interpretation of that regulation was it wasn't mandatory.  We have an obligation to connect, we have an obligation to serve.  If there’s a condominium that shows up, it's either an existing condominium or a new condominium, we deal with the condo board in one; the developer in the other, and as a regulated company, we say, Here are your choices.  We could individually suite meter your units and provide the unit owners with residential rates, regulated residential rates or we could provide you with a bulk meter and that would be at a regulated rate.  We will treat you as a GS customer in one, each unit as residential customers in the other, and the associated implications of the Distribution System Code licences and rates and everything.

Where we differ in our interpretation, Mr. O'Leary, is that we thought it was then up to the developer or the condo board in the new condominium to decide what they wanted to do behind the bulk meter. 

So you viewed it as it was mandatory so we would be saying Mr. Developer, you can put a bulk meter from us, but you are going to have to go to a smart sub-metering company, whereas we actually saw it as it could be a bulk smart meter and then the choice is yours, whether you're existing or new, and I think that's a important difference in the interpretation.  So it's not trying to shut somebody else out the market.  Those are the obligations that we have.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am just asking you to then confirm are there situations where you have asked for capital contribution from a developer if they go with the smart sub-metering company and no capital contribution if you do the suite metering, and it's just a yes or no, has it happened or not?

MR. MACDONALD:  We can't say yes or no.  We don't know the choice, as Ms. Conboy explained, we don't know the choice the developer would make.

MR. O'LEARY:  I’m not asking for what their choice was.  I’m asking, have you made an offer where there was capital contribution required in one respect and not one on the other?  Has it ever happened?

MS. CONBOY:  We made -- it happened once, and we're talking to the compliance office about that.  They asked us the same question that you're asking right now.  We had calculations of upstream charges which were incorrect in 2007, I’m look at Mr. Chattan to see whether he is nodding and he is.  So we had one instance where we ran the economic evaluation model with, if you want, the old upstream charges, and it resulted in a capital contribution.  We committed to the compliance office that we would return that capital contribution to the developer.  I am not sure whether it’s happened yet, this was just recent communication, but that was the only -- that was the only instance.

MR. KAISER:  When was the incident and who did it involve?

MS. CONBOY:  It -- who did it involved?  Pardon me.

MR. KAISER:  Who was the potential customer?  Who was the developer?

MS. CONBOY:  I don't know off the top of my head who the developer was, Mr. Chair, and it was in 2007.

MR. KAISER:  You are still negotiating with the compliance officer, there has been no resolution from the Board or what's the status.

MS. CONBOY:  There has been resolution from one of the compliance officers that -- from the question he had asked as to whether we were appropriately interpreting the Distribution System Code, the economic evaluation model.  That he was satisfied that we were not -- based on what he had seen, that we were not in non-compliance, that we were following the Code appropriately.

MR. KAISER:  Is that the end of the matter or are there still discussions going on?

MS. CONBOY:  There is no further discussions going on.  I hadn't heard from the compliance office, and I verified whether everything was okay.

MR. KAISER:  If you were complying with the Code, why did you have to return the capital contributions to the development.

MS. CONBOY:  Well, actually, that was the one instance, Mr. Chair, where we volunteered the fact that we had made an incorrect calculation in the economic evaluation model, and that we were contacting the developer.

MR. KAISER:  In your ordinary business when you are making presentations, offerings to developers, to condos, in the ordinary course, do you have a proposal that says, Okay if you want to have a bulk meter and deal with however, here is your cost, that's scenario A.  Scenario B is we do the whole thing, the cost is scenario B is Y.  Is that how it...

MS. CONBOY:  Well, I think that’s why I tried to articulate the difference in interpretation of the regulation, so the scenario A, if you want to have a bulk meter, we will treat you as a general service customer and those associated rates.  We didn't have the subsequent -- and then you decide to go with whoever.  We thought that was the end of -- we thought that the regulation, that was the end of the story. What the condo developer or the condo board, as the unlicensed distributor, decided to do was to him behind the meter.

MR. KAISER:  I guess the reason you deal with condo developers in some cases is it's a new building, in an existing building you’re dealing with the condo board.

MS. CONBOY:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  These are just generic questions.  And you would have a sales staff that runs around and makes presentations to both existing and new condos; is that part of your business operation?

MR. CHATTAN:  Mr. Chair, we do not have a sales staff.  We, however, meet with all the proponents and we meet with condo boards, condo associations to make them aware of PowerStream’s offering in this area.

MR. KAISER:  I am trying to understand, is there a standard offering, is there a sales package and standard offering, something you tell your people:  This is what you give to the condo board or the developer?  Can we actually look at what the material actually is as opposed to speculating what's being said.

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, we have a standard offer to connect for any class of customer, and in terms of narrowing it down --

MR. KAISER:  I am talking about this class, I am talking at the presentations that you routinely make to either condo boards or condo developers.

MR. CHATTAN:  We have a package of material, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Can we get that?

MR. CHATTAN:  It's filed as part of the evidence, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am going to take you to it, I only have a few questions left, Mr. Chair, but before I get to that, still on, if you would turn to tab 13, as I said at the beginning of today we've inadvertently included the response from PowerStream in terms of the documents they produced under tab 13, it should be under tab 3.  So this is really in response to Interrogatory No. 3 by the working group, which asked for a copy of all written information or brochures provided to developers, building owners or condominium corporations, which is exactly what you asked, sir.

If I could, first of all, ask you to turn to a portion of your conditions of service.  I know you have spoken to this already, Mr. Macdonald and Mr. Chatten, but if you go to tab 13, there is section 2.3.7.3.5.  It's entitled "Multi-Unit Residential Suite Buildings".


And I acknowledge that you indicated that the language here is somewhat misleading, but let me repeat it.  It says:

"PowerStream does not offer bulk metering on multi-unit buildings."


Does it surprise you, Mr. MacDonald or Mr. Chatten, that developers would believe, looking at your conditions of service, that they could not use a competitive sub-metering company based on the wording in your conditions of service?


MR. CHATTEN:  In fact, Mr. O'Leary, I draw your attention to section 2.3.7.3.7, which in fact indicates that we will support sub-metering systems.


MR. O'LEARY:  That's not what it says, in fairness.  It says:
"PowerStream will install multi-unit mattering systems or sub-metering systems."


It doesn't say an independent, privately-held competitive business will.  Would you agree that's also misleading?


MR. CHATTEN:  No, I would say our conditions of services, as currently worded, are misleading and we intend to change that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Under that same tab, the last two pages, perhaps I could turn you to those.  Appendix A, I take it, is a document you would attach to an offer to connect?


MR. CHATTEN:  Yes, it is.


MR. O'LEARY:  This is the second last page.  Is it fair to say that this document relates to situations where you have got an existing condominium?  You are going to convert it, or does this apply to all situations?


MR. CHATTEN:  This is for conversion or retrofit.


MR. O'LEARY:  The first bullet indicates you are prepared to make an offer, too, and you are going to name the condominium corporation.  Then item 1 says:

"PowerStream will install the new QuadLogic smart metering system and all associated equipment at no cost."


So that's in your standard documents.  It's in every instance no cost; correct?


MR. CHATTEN:  For the metering system.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, all right.  Then item 3 says:

"Upon completion of an agreement to do so, PowerStream will own the relationship with the suite owners." 

Aren't you, in effect, asking the condominium corporation to hand over to you the competitive market?


MR. CHATTEN:  We are not.  As I articulated in response to an earlier interrogatory this morning, since we do not have a formal contract with the condominium corporation, we have erected no barriers to exit and there are no termination fees.


The condominium corporation is free to choose another service provider in the future.


MR. O'LEARY:  There's three asterisks at the bottom, and it reads:

"PowerStream and the condominium corporation will establish a mutually satisfactory date to transfer ownership."


MR. CHATTEN:  Of the meters.


MR. O'LEARY:  Of the meters, but not ownership of the relationship?


MR. CHATTEN:  Ownership of the relationship, subject to the corporation continuing to choose PowerStream as it service provider.


MR. O'LEARY:  If I understand you correctly, what you are saying is the condominium corporation can say, We are not going to use you any longer for the common elements, but you have taken over ownership of the customers in the building, so the only way to actually change the metering services provided to that building would be for 100 percent of each of the unit owners to decide that it's time to end the relationship.


Is that what you are saying?


MS. CONBOY:  I guess we have a fundamental difference between the competitive activity -- we are taking the guidance of the Board that when we are asked by condominiums to individually suite meter their units, it's not a, quote/unquote, competitive activity.  It's a distribution activity that is regulated by the Board, and then the Board has indicated to us that if the condominium corporation decides to sub-meter, that is a competitive activity.


So we have a difference of opinion.  I guess in terms of the termination and whether 100 percent have to leave or 1 percent, I mean, it would probably -- I'm not sure if it's a whole lot different than what your clients would have in their agreements, as well. 

But we have an obligation under section 28 to connect.  It's no different than if a single-family dwelling decided, You know what?  I'm going to go off grid, and I don't want to be connected to the distribution system anymore. 

I don't see how, if an individual unit decided to do that, as well, either generate their own electricity or go with somebody else, whether we would want to or be able to prevent that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Ms. Conboy.  I don't want to belabour the point, but if I could just take you to the last page, the terms of reference letter, if you look at the second line, it states:

"PowerStream provides the following to the condo corporation all at no cost in return for the condo corp's agreement that PowerStream will be their exclusive smart suite meter installation and service provider."


Then the second last paragraph at the bottom reads:

"This terms of reference letter binds the condominium corporation to contract with PowerStream as their exclusive meter installation and service provider."

Sound to me like, if I can restate it, you are trying to extend your monopoly onto private property into an area that doesn't currently exist.


MS. CONBOY:  I guess if the Board had trouble with the reference letter and now that they are being alerted to it, then we will hear from the compliance office. 

I would assume that as a regulated company, if we have something like this in our agreements with a condominium, that if we are contravening the Act or the OEB's codes, I would think the Act and the OEB codes would -- as a regulated entity, would supersede what we have in this letter, in this terms of reference letter.


MR. KAISER:  Leaving that aside, whatever deliberation is made on that, is it fair to say that the contract that we are looking at, which is between the condo corporation and PowerStream, clearly contemplates that if PowerStream provides this equipment at no cost to the condo corporation, the condo corporation who is contracting, in a fashion, it gives you the exclusive right to deal with the residents, and that's clearly the intent of the agreement, whether it's legal or illegal or whatever?


MR. CHATTEN:  That is the intent, Mr. Chairman.  However, as I spoke earlier this morning, the condo corporation has the right and the ability to change service providers, if they so chose in the future.  And as I spoke earlier, we would recover our equipment, so it wouldn't strand the asset.


MR. KAISER:  It doesn't say that, but you are saying there is a hidden term here that they could back out of it if they give you all of your equipment back?


MS. CONBOY:  I think the other thing, just to address the no cost issue, it's a 'no upfront cost', but the cost of the meters go into account 1681, I think it is, and gets spread across all residential classes.  That cost goes into the revenue requirement, and it makes up our rate. 

So there is a cost associated to it.  It's not a cost to the condominium developer up front.  I mean, if it was, it would come out of capital contribution in the end.


MR. KAISER:  Is it a cost -- all we are interested in here, for the purpose of this discussion, is the cost to this condo owner.  He doesn't pay an upfront cost, you now say.  Does he pay some other cost in monthly fees that ultimately recovers the capital cost of this equipment, or not?


MS. CONBOY:  Well, the unit holders would pay the fixed charges of their electricity bill.


MR. KAISER:  And is that how you --

MS. CONBOY:  That's how we recover the costs of the meters.


MR. KAISER:  So you do recover the costs of the meters?


MS. CONBOY:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Through the monthly charge?


MS. CONBOY:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Over some period of time?


MR. CHATTEN:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  So it's just waiving any upfront capital cost?


MS. CONBOY:  Correct, the same as with a single-family dwelling.


MR. KAISER:  Would it be true that an upfront capital cost would have to be paid in those instances where, for whatever reason, the condo corporation is not prepared to give you the exclusivity?


MS. CONBOY:  Could you repeat your question, please, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  You have gone through the situation where you waive the upfront cost if the condo corporation gives you exclusivity.  Is there a situation where you charge an upfront cost where the condo corporation, for whatever reason, is not prepared to give you exclusivity?

MS. CONBOY:  No.  I think we are turning on the fact that this word exclusivity of meter installation and service provider, we need to go back and look at.  We --

MR. KAISER:  Well, it's pretty clear now, I mean you may revise your position, but it's pretty clear, Mr. O'Leary read it, it binds the condo corporation to contract with PowerStream as their exclusive metering, installation and service provider, I mean that is clearly the intent.  So my question was:  Let's suppose I am a condo corporation I say, you know, I don't want to sign this document with this exclusivity, scratch out that paragraph.  At that point, do you charge them an upfront fee or have you ever had that situation arise?

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't know if we had it arise, but we would, we have an obligation to connect, and the same rules would apply. The metering costs would not be charged, it would be part of the pooled rates for the residential class.

MR. KAISER:  So your evidence is you would charge them the same regardless of whether they covenanted in the contract to give you exclusivity or not?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  A couple final questions, Mr. Chair.

Ms. Conboy, the program started around 2007.  I trust you would agree that the sub-metering industry, the competitive one, was in existence at that time?

MS. CONBOY:  Well, I am not sure.  We certainly sat across from each other in the service amendment proceeding.  In 2007, what arose with the entrenchment in the regulations -– well, first of all the government's mandate and then the regulation that is solidified the fact that we had this obligation to serve these individual units if we were asked to.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I wasn't trying to debate over the date.  I was simply trying to say that there were private sector companies out there that were prepared to provide smart sub-metering to the units in the PowerStream service territory in 2007; right?

MS. CONBOY:  Sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  And that industry, to your knowledge, continues at this time.

MS. CONBOY:  Yes.  As a matter of fact, there are condominiums in our service area that are served by your clients.

MR. O'LEARY:  If for some reason the Board said you are not allowed to recover your costs of your revenue requirement, you decided we are not going leave aside the issue of your obligation, would you agree with me that if you discontinued your program, the smart sub-metering competitive industry could pick up the slack and actually meter the building like you might do?

MS. CONBOY:  I am not sure.  I guess you would have to ask your clients that.  It's a pretty big presumption to set aside that we would lose our obligation to connect, so I don’t know if I can answer that.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am just asking:  You are not here because you believe you are filling a void that the competitive market can't address?


MS. CONBOY:  No.  And interestingly, that's why I made the point about the distinction of what we thought the final reg said because we, quite frankly, we’re saying your offering is the individual suites or the bulk meter.  Our interpretation wasn't that there was a second step, a bulk meter, and by the way if you go that way, you are going to have to subcontract with a sub-metering company.  We thought that was the end of the line.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Warren, how much do you have?

MR. WARREN:  About 5 minutes.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Ms. Conboy, I apologize for being as familiar as you should be with the details of your service territory, but may I assume that with the residential class in the PowerStream service territory that there would be small houses and large houses, that there would be densely packed subdivisions and more diffusely spread out subdivisions; is that fair?

MS. CONBOY:  Yes.  You are welcome to up to Vaughan and actually see some of the sizes of the houses, but --

MR. WARREN:  I would actual prefer your answer.

MS. CONBOY: -- there are certainly a very wide.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren does not go north of Bloor Street.

MS. CONBOY:  There is life north of Bloor Street.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that reassurance, Ms. Conboy.  I take it that there are -- obviously we won't be here if there weren't -- but there are also condominiums in your service territory.

MS. CONBOY:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  I take it, Ms. Conboy, from something you said earlier that for each of those different kinds of dwellings and subdivisions that the cost to serve an individual residential ratepayer may differ; is that fair?

MS. CONBOY:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  May I assume that are, within your service territory, some residential service customers who increase the amount of bad debt charges; is that fair?

MS. CONBOY:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And may I take it that it would take more poles and so on so forth to get to some neighbourhoods than others; is that fair?

MS. CONBOY:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Is it fair to assume, Ms. Conboy, that within this large residential class that there may be a number of subsidies going from one kind of residential customer to another; is that fair?

MS. CONBOY:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now can you tell me -- and Ms. Conboy, based on the -- we don't have evidence from Mr. O'Leary's clients yet, we have a witness statement.  Can you tell me that from the material which is before the Board including your material and the material from the smart sub-metering group, is there information upon which the Board can calculate with any reasonable degree of precision an amount by which residential consumers at large excluding the suite meter people subsidize the suite meter folks in condominiums?

MS. CONBOY:  No, sir.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  If the Board were to decide, Ms. Conboy, that there is some subsidy, even though we can't calculate the amount, would it, in your view, be equally the case that the Board would need to calculate the amount that different kind of residential customers, for example, those in densely-packed subdivisions as opposed to more diffused subdivisions subsidize one another; would that be a reasonable conclusion from that exercise?

MS. CONBOY:  Yeah, I mean if we were going to open it up and look at the subgroups within the residential class, you might want to look at whether there are subgroups within the residential class and the cost allocation and revenue arising from those different subgroups.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks very much, Ms. Conboy.  Thank you, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.   Any re-examination?

MS. NEWLAND:  A couple of questions, sir.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHER:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, there was an undertaking response J1.1 and you were going to give us an opportunity to cross.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead.
Cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Mr. Buonaguro has invited me to start and to conclude.  I will only be 5 minutes.  I am looking at J1.1.  This says alternative one, there is more than one of these?

MR. MACDONALD:  It's fair to say, Mr. Shepherd, that this is a -- this is a like a template and was largely used to test different incentive or inducement levels to get into condos.  So when we went away to find this, this is the best, you know, the most accurate version that we could find to answer the undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it was a simple one.  Is there one of these labelled “alternative 2,” one labelled “alternative 3,” et cetera.

MR. MACDONALD:  I don't think so.  I think we kind of, you know, overlaid it one over the other.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am looking down at the name of the document at the bottom, it's sub-metering incentive payment business model no incentive, so clearly there is one with an incentive, right, there is at least that.

MR. MACDONALD:  It was a live model, so you could put an incentive $100, $200, $300 and see how it affected  the --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Macdonald, I have done a lot of spreadsheets.  I would not call a spreadsheet “no incentive” if I was going to put an incentive in.  Don’t you save that as $125 incentive, $500 incentive, et cetera?

MR. MACDONALD:  I can't testify now that we have saved all the different permutations of this spreadsheet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Second question is, this looks like it was done on April 6th, 2009.  And I thought this was actually a document you produced in 2007.

MR. MACDONALD:  I believe that's the printing date, it's coded to type the date the document is printed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So two years later you decide to print it in April; why?

MR. MACDONALD:  Sorry, I couldn’t hear your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Two years after you prepared the spreadsheet, you decided to print it in April; why?  Was it asked for?

MR. MACDONALD:  June 4th, I believe, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  June 4th.  So this is last week.  Okay, I get it.


The last thing is this isn't actually a calculation of the net present value of the activity per se; right?  This is actually an analysis of how this impacts on you in IRM; right?

That is, it says, Okay, for the first two years we will be in IRM, so we will get all the revenue, but we will pay all the additional OM&A, but we won't recover any rate base, or anything like that.  That will be all be negative -- that will be zero, and then starting in year three, 2009, we won't have the incremental annual revenues.  We won't get to keep them, because we will have rates set by cost of service; but we won't pay the OM&A, but we will have our return on investment and our depreciation, et cetera.  Am I right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd, and that's on the first page, note 9.  We assumed in this analysis the rebasing is done, on average, after two-and-a-half years, year 3, which is what we thought at that time in a cycle for IRM would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I ask this is because this doesn't look like it's about whether it's a good business to be in.  It looks like it's whether it's a good thing to do during IRM.  That's the question you are asking; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  Actually, this really -- the real purpose of this document was to determine whether we should provide incentive or not, and -- because at the time we started exploring this in 2007, we understood that some of Mr. O'Leary's clients were offering incentives to get into condos to do the sub-metering.  That was the main purpose of this document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason why I am asking this question is because your board of directors decided it was a good idea for you to get into this activity; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At a time when it wasn't mandatory that you do it, although you thought you might.  But it wasn't mandatory.  It was a choice.  You could do it in an affiliate. 

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The board decided that you should do it.  I am assuming they didn't do it on the basis of this because, as you said, this wasn't designed for that purpose.  This was designed for the purpose of determining what incentives you should have, if any.

So they must have had some document that said, Here is the business case for us going into this.  Here is why this is a good idea.

MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. Chatten can expand, but the document the Board looked at was the document that we filed in response to the working group's IR No. 1.

And I apologize that it's not a robust kind of -- all kinds of spreadsheets and numbers, but that was what was done at the time.  The situation was evolving.  Our thinking was evolving as the regulations were evolving, so that document, in effect, is our business case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, I see.  Just one last question.  This document assumes that you lose the rate base in years 1 and 2, I think, isn't that right, that there is depreciation and there is return on capital, in effect, and you don't get credit for that; that your rate base is actually, in this example, about two-thirds of the total by the time you get out of IRM?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what have you actually asked for in this application, because the stuff you put in the -- no, I shouldn't say that.  The stuff you installed in 2007 and 2008, some of that still isn't in service; right? 

Some of those buildings are still not occupied yet?

MR. MACDONALD:  I would think that most buildings are, to some degree, occupied.  There is probably not a billing that was suite metered that is standing empty.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, suite metering is done sort early, middle part of the construction process; right?  Middle, let's say?

MR. MACDONALD:  Well, for a new condominium it would be -- I couldn't tell you exactly the time of the construction cycle.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am asking is that there was this discussion you had earlier about the 6,300 meters that you have included in rate base at the end of the test year and the question of whether only 900 of them are actually generating revenue.

So, presumably, until they are generating revenue, they are not used and useful; right?

MR. MACDONALD:  I have to go back, but our assumption was that the -- I believe our calculations include all of the installations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.
Further Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  When I first asked about this before lunch, I had the impression that there were a number of reasons why you wouldn't do this type of analysis again for this particular investment; is that fair?  And, if so, could you tell me why?

MR. CHATTEN:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, could you repeat your question, because I didn't understand.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  When I asked for the spreadsheet, you give me several answers about why it wasn't -- not to put words in your mouth, but I think you were suggesting it wasn't relevant to the issues today, and I thought maybe you could go through those and show me the numbers on the spreadsheet, why they are no longer relevant, or the types of analysis this suggests and why they are not relevant?

MR. CHATTEN:  This was done at a particular point in time, and one of the things I point to is that a number of the costing assumptions are out of date.

So if you look at the line "Unit Cost Installation", we found after we had been through our RFP process, that that was about three times as high as the actual cost. 

This was -- as Mr. Macdonald said, was primarily to evaluate incentives we made at the board.  The directors made a decision not to proceed with incentives.  We have never paid them. 

The OM&A costs that are included here are not consistent with Mr. Macdonald's analysis of earlier today.  So those are just aspects that -- this is dated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what I am understanding from that is that the particular inputs -- so, for example, you said unit cost installation dollars - you have 125 here - you would have to update that to, I think you said, three times or around $375?

MR. CHATTEN:  No, the other way.  The actual costs are about a third of what's here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  A third, so 125 divided by three?

MR. CHATTEN:  Yes.  This was prior to the finalization of the RFP process and competitive bids.  These were estimates based on the best understanding of the information at that time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But when you say you would have to change some of the numbers, and when you talk about that this was run to determine whether you issue incentives or not, not to determine what a good way of evaluating the net present value was - that is how I understood what you were saying - it suggests to me that the structure -- or at least that you believe that the structure is sound, though, that this is how you would go about evaluating the net present value of this undertaking?

MR. CHATTEN:  It was an attempt to do so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And you could, in fact, update the numbers now and redo it based on what you know now about the project to tell us what the net present value of doing a particular building based on updated assumptions would be?

MR. CHATTEN:  We could do so, but I would suggest a much more accurate approach would be to use Mr. Macdonald's analysis, which is current, based on current analysis.  This is quite dated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  One last question.  When I am looking at -- maybe this is confirmation of what you told me before.  I am looking, for example, at the OM&A costs per month of $2.60, and I look down and it talks about, at note number 7, that the monthly OM&A cost per meter is based on the current charge for daily reads per month per meter.  Do you see that?

MR. CHATTEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that confirms that when you are talking about the OM&A costs associated with the installation of these meters, you are really talking about just the incremental costs?

MR. CHATTEN:  This was an attempt at an incremental analysis, not fully encompassing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess you are assuming that the -- sorry.  You are just looking at the net present value from a purely incremental basis?

MR. CHATTEN:  Completely correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any re-examination?

MS. HELT:  Board Staff has no further questions.
Re-Examination by Ms. Newland: 

MS. NEWLAND:  I just have two brief questions, sir.  First for you, Mr. Macdonald.  There was a discussion with Mr. O'Leary, and then Mr. Kaiser got involved, with respect to the difference between the situation where you install smart suite meters in a condo at the request of a developer, but not all of the units are occupied, and, therefore, you are not generating -- they are not revenue generated until they are occupied.

And I think there was a suggestion that, Why would you -- why would you order meters to install in an empty condo? 

When a developer or condo board asks you to install smart meters, are you able to say to that developer, Yes, we will fulfill our obligation as a distributor but only when you can guarantee us 100 percent occupancy rate in that building.

MR. MACDONALD:  No.  It's not based on agreement of occupancy, it's done as a project to wire and meter the condo individually.

MS. NEWLAND:  And is that because in order to install the smart suite metering system, it has to be done at Mr. Shepherd just mentioned an as early to mid-stage of construction?

MR. MACDONALD:  Mr. Douglas might be able to help me with that.

MR. DOUGLAS:  Yes.  As part of the design and scope of the building, with the designs to make sure they are at the table as part of that.

MS. NEWLAND:  So Mr. Macdonald, when PowerStream is figuring out how many meters to order, it doesn't have regard to occupancy rates as much as requested from developers to install those systems; would that be correct?

MR. MACDONALD:  That's correct.  We would be doing work based on dealing with developers and the number of units they have in the building.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  Mr. Chattan, I have a question for you and I think it's probably clear after Mr. Kaiser asked the question, but just for 100 percent certainty.  If a condo board wants to switch from a smart suite metering system to a smart sub-metering system, is it able to do so without penalty notwithstanding the exclusivity clause in the terms of reference letter?

MR. CHATTAN:  Yes, they are.

MS. NEWLAND:  Those are my questions, sir, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will take 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:55 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 4:11 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I think we're at the point where if the Panel has some questions of --

MS. NEWLAND:  I didn't know if the Panel had any questions, so I continued to empanel my witnesses.


MR. KAISER:  No, I think we are ready to proceed to hear Mr. O'Leary's witness. 

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, if I may introduce Allen Maclure as our witness panel on behalf of the working group and would ask that he be sworn?  And his witness statement, his curriculum vitae and suite meter revenue requirement are all reproduced at tabs 22, 23, 24 of Exhibit K1.5, and the latter one was the subject of the revision that was filed and marked as Exhibit K1.6 today.  If I could ask that he be sworn in?
SMART SUB-METERING WORKING GROUP - PANEL 1


Allen J. Maclure, Sworn
Examination by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Maclure, if I could direct you specifically to tab 22, which is your witness statement, tab 23, which is your curriculum vitae, and tab 24, which is the revenue requirement analysis, and K1.6, which is the revised revenue requirement analysis, and can you tell me whether or not these documents were prepared by you and/or under your direction?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, they were, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Do you adopt them for the purpose of your testimony today?


MR. MACLURE:  I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  If I could turn you, sir, to tab 23 and just have you confirm briefly your background, you have a degree, bachelor of science and engineering, that you received from the University of New Brunswick in 1973?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, sir.


MR. O'LEARY:  And you are currently employed by Enbridge Electric Connections Inc.

MR. MACLURE:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And in what capacity?


MR. MACLURE:  I'm the director of regulatory and customer care.


MR. O'LEARY:  How long have you been in that position?

MR. MACLURE:  That particular title, probably about a month; in the role since 2002.


MR. O'LEARY:  I understand you were formerly also employed at Enbridge Gas Distribution under the name, at one point, Consumers Gas, and between 1985 and 1995 you were the manager, rate design and revenue forecasting?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  And in that capacity, do I understand you appeared at a number of Ontario Energy Board proceedings as a witness in an oral proceeding?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I did, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  And a number of those are set out at the bottom of page 2 of your curriculum vitae?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, sir.  I was supposed to capture all of them.


MR. O'LEARY:  And you also appeared in Quebec before the Régis?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I did.


MR. O'LEARY:  And at the New Brunswick Public Utility Board, as well?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I did.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Can I ask you, Mr. Maclure, could you please identify the members of the Smart Sub-Meter Working Group?

MR. MACLURE:  Certainly.  The Smart Sub-Metering Working Group is comprised of a number of the competitive smart sub-metering companies that operate in Ontario.  It includes, besides ourselves, Enbridge Electric; it includes Stratacon, Carma Industries, Intellimeter, Provident Energy, and Hydro Connections and Wyse Meters. 

These all represent the bulk of what I might call the competitive industry players.  There are a number of other licensed sub-metering firms, but they play seemingly a less active role in the marketplace.


MR. O'LEARY:  And what is the purpose of this working group?


MR. MACLURE:  Well, we originally came together to look at issues that were certainly common to the group as a whole in terms of moving the competitive industry forward. 

And it included coming forward before the Board, Board Staff often, in terms of addressing issues that we thought were relevant with respect to the smart sub-metering competitive industry, as well as, to some extent, the Ministry of Energy.


MR. O'LEARY:  Has the working group presented a witness in an oral proceeding previously?


MR. MACLURE:  Certainly not that I am aware of.  We have probably presented positions in -- clearly in written proceedings, but, to the best of any knowledge, we have never appeared in an oral proceeding.


MR. O'LEARY:  And there was some discussion right at the beginning of today about a proceeding involving Toronto Hydro.  Can you confirm whether or not the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group participated in that hearing?


MR. MACLURE:  No, it did not.  As I think you enunciated fairly well, we all represent fairly small business, including Enbridge Electric, which I know many would think of is as a very large company, but we operate entirely independently of Enbridge as a whole.  So we are quite small.


We don't have a lot of resources to spend on the review of the many regulatory filings that came on, but we do in fact review decisions, and it was in the decision that we realized that something had happened with respect to suite metering, and, quite frankly, we had just been -- we got caught.


MR. O'LEARY:  Can you give us a brief history of the sub-metering industry?


MR. MACLURE:  Sure.  As I said earlier, Enbridge Electric has only been in this business or created this business in about 2002.  Some of the other members, most notably Karma, probably go back to the 1970s as -- when they were formed.  They actually probably have been in the smart sub-metering -- maybe let me rephrase that.


Less so in the smart sub-metering, but certainly sub-metering business since the late 1980s.  So they have been around for virtually 20 years sub-metering buildings. 

So there is a long history of sub-metering as a competitive business.


Karma and Intellimeter were largely, though, a meter manufacturer, so they had an incentive to sell their meters into this marketplace, and then provide billing services associated with the sale of those meters.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And do you have an estimate, Mr. Maclure, as to the number of smart sub-metering units that the members of the working group are currently serving?


MR. MACLURE:  Well, since it's competitive, we have a sort of tendency not to exactly share customer numbers with each other or make them widely known publicly, but I would estimate it's probably in the order of 60 to 70,000 individual suite-served meters billed by the smart sub-metering industry.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  In your witness statement, you referred to two different business models that are followed by members of the working group.  Could you perhaps briefly describe and elaborate on those two business models?


MR. MACLURE:  Certainly.  An original business model was one in which the smart sub-metering company sold meters to condominium corporations or multi-unit buildings, and they were owned by that particular building.  They paid for them, and then they provided services to read them and build consumers within that building.

When Enbridge Electric looked to getting into this business, it saw value in slightly changing the business model that had traditionally been there and redeveloped the business model where we owned the meters.  We would supply the meters to the condominium corporation.  We would provide all billing services bad debt, take responsibility for the local distribution bill and basically act as -- within the building on behalf of the condominium corporation and take all the responsibilities away from the condominium corporation. 

There are variety of other service operations between those two extremes in which there are different forms of the services provided for and the fees that are charged. 

As I say, it's a very competitive business.  The service offering is varied.  Condominium corporations and developers make their choices of what they believe best serves the needs of that particular community, and they make their choices based on a variety of things that, frankly, I am not entirely sure of all the things they would take into account in making the choice, but the choice is, in fact, theirs.

MR. O'LEARY:  Speaking to choice, our understanding is that the suite metering that is at issue in this proceeding relates to condominiums.  Can you offer your comments in respect of what authorizations are required for one of the members of the working group or perhaps a local distribution company to undertake suite metering in a condominium or private property?

MR. MACLURE:  Well, I guess it has always been our view that the provision after a service on a -- on private land requires the approval to provide the service, the right to provide the service, and ultimately we have held the view that it requires some form of contract.  In the case, obviously, of all the smart sub-metering group, we all provide termination provisions within our contracts which allows the corporation to continue to act on behalf of all the resident owners of the corporation to terminate the agreement at some point in time.

MR. O'LEARY:  During the day, there have been some references to QuadLogic meters and different situations about whether or not a second meter is required for some electrical configurations in some buildings.  Can you briefly describe some of the situations that members of the working group have faced in terms of the types of meters that -- and the number of meters they would install or are required to install?

MR. MACLURE:  Certainly.  It has been pointed out that buildings can often be different and in particular, retrofit buildings or those existing buildings that need to be retrofitted to have meters installed. Particularly in the case where we have electrically-heated buildings, often there are two circuits that serve each of the condominium units, and for each electrical circuit, there is a meter that is required.  So there are some installations where you actually have to install two meters for each suite in order to properly measure the consumption for that particular suite. 

I think one of the other things that I think would possibly help the Board is just understand the development industry, as I see it.  As I say, we've -- I think we started the business in 2002 but probably the first building that we actually installed meters in was in 2004, and in that particular building, all of the meters are individual meters, that was the way the building had been designed. This was brand new condominium, basically 700-odd units in Mississauga.  So there are 700 individual electronic interval meters in that particular building, so individual meters can be installed.  In all of our other buildings since that, we have pushed the multi-panel meters where the 12 units are served by one reader panel, but it can be done, so that was 2004.  I think conceptually, we have to understand how the development of the building goes and I know that everybody has watched as condominiums get built and they get built up.  My experience with the many, many buildings that we have done particularly in the new market, we do far more new developments than retrofit, has been that the completion of the installation of meters is done very, very late in the development of the building.

There are elements of installation that are done at different times, so as the building goes up the electrical system is installed, there are portions that are installed during that mid-range of construction when they are pulling the wires up through the building, but the actual finalization, the installation of the actual meter itself and the commissioning of the meter which is really a validation process, is done often the month before the first residents move in.  In fact, often some of the meters are not are even installed until after the first residents have moved in on lower floors and you have meters being installed as construction continues to progress on the upper floors of these very tall multi-unit buildings.  So they are, in fact, tending to be finished towards the end of the construction cycle. 

The other thing that we found is that while, yes, the occupancies occur generally over a period of time in terms of occupying the suites, my experience has been that typically they occur over maybe five to six months in very large buildings so that they are occupied by floors over a five to six-month period.  Clearly, there are a few straggler suites that may not be installed or may not have been sold prior to construction, so there are some straggler suites.  But typically most buildings don’t go up until there is a significant sale.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Maclure, do you have a view as to whether or not, in the event that, say, PowerStream discontinued its suite metering program, whether or not the members of the working group would be able to meet any demand for the installation of suite meters?

MR. MACLURE:  I have no question in my mind that that demand would very easily be met.  As I have say we have – we, Enbridge Electric, have been operating since 2004; the other sub-metering firms have been operating even earlier than that.  There was demand at those times.  The demand we met was in large measure because in those early days, the LDCs had seemingly gotten out of that business they were once in and where they would be looking to be getting back into that business, they were reluctant to install multi-tenant meters, the Quad Logic meters they are installing today, preferring to install the individual meters, and that was one of the reasons developers actually migrated to some of the smart sub-meters because they were using these multi-tenant meters.

MR. O'LEARY:  From your witness statement, you indicate that one of the reasons the working group has intervened in this proceeding is the perceived anti-competitive impact of the approval sought by PowerStream in the proceeding.  Can you elaborate on that a little more?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  I guess in viewing it, we looked at the requirements, and I don't disagree with PowerStream's comments that they have an obligation, a legislated obligation to serve in this marketplace, and to serve this marketplace if requested.  I would not suggest that they have an obligation to actively promote that they are able to do this in this marketplace, and -- but that is kind of a side issue.  Our concern has been one in which the cost of the program and the very high cost of the meters, and as you pointed out, we are not quite sure what those costs are on a unit basis any longer.  We originally thought they were $680 per meter point, I am not certain of that now. 

But in any event, certainly the high cost of that relative to what would be the normal cost of a meter installation would just seem to us logically to require a level of subsidy from other ratepayers that, in a competitive environment, may be inappropriate and we thought that at the very least, there should be some process in which this was able to be discussed and, as I said earlier, we missed the opportunity in Toronto Hydro and got kind of caught short.

MR. O'LEARY:  In terms of this concern about potential cross- subsidization, I understand you prepared an analysis.  I am wondering if this would be a good time for you to refer to that and provide us with your thoughts on what is occurring.  That's Exhibit K1.6.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I will try and very quickly go through it, because I know it's been a fairly long day.

As a starting point, I wanted to just look at the years 2000 and 2008 program and disregard the 2009, because I thought it essentially muddied the water when you get into half-year effectiveness of some of the costs. 

So I was trying to just look at a couple of years where the program was fully effective, and now being asked to be brought into rate base.

So from PowerStream's evidence on the K1.6, Mr. O'Leary, not 1.4 - I am not going to explain the analysis - we have 4,700 customers, which came from the IR No. 5, at a unit cost, and that produced a total capital cost. 

I have tried to replicate what I understand to be the normal methodology that PowerStream would have followed in this particular case or this particular situation. 

I think one of the areas in which we obviously differ is when we get down to the incremental operating costs and the OM&A at lines 13 and 14.  And maybe I could just briefly explain what those were and why I did them in the fashion I did. 

You see at the left, the line 14, a number of 178.71.  That, to my way of thinking, corresponded in my mind to the $179.20 that we had talked about earlier today as the average OM&A per customer that PowerStream has requested in 2009. 

And the reason it's 178.71 is I assumed that the $45 million included the $127,000, and, therefore, I discounted -- backed that out because, I am including that incremental operating cost in line 13.  So I didn't particularly want to double count an operating cost.

Now, I looked at this in saying, a fully allocated cost model, I would have thought the total average OM&A would have been applied to the total customer count.  Of course, now, if what I am hearing is the OM&A for the residential market for PowerStream is $110 per customer as opposed to the average, then in fact I would have applied $110 to the 4,700, discounting it slightly from the 108,000, assuming those numbers are accurate, and we would have had a different number at line 15 based on the $110 per customer. 

Amortization would be the normal amortization.  So I ended up figuring out what the revenue requirement was. 

And slightly differently than what PowerStream has, their calculation, I looked at this as a program cost on a stand-alone basis.  I allowed the program to take in the full revenues associated with the building, and so those revenues not only included some residential revenues, but they also included some commercial revenues. 

So I looked at the building as being -- sorry, not the building.  These 27 buildings as being on a stand-alone basis, producing both commercial and residential revenues. 

On the commercial side, obviously it's only for the common area.  There was certain assumptions made.  They may or may not be generous.  Certainly from our experience, 500 kilowatt-hours per condominium individual suite may tend to be a little bit high as -- and possibly the split, but I used a 50/50 split between common area and suites, and that might be high, as well. 

So it came with some underlying assumptions, but what it ended up demonstrating to me was that this program generated a deficiency in terms of levels, and meaning that it's being subsidized by the other ratepayers.


MR. O'LEARY:  And if I may ask you, I believe you have already referenced this, Mr. Maclure, but in terms of the spreadsheet that PowerStream produced at Exhibit K1.4 and their inclusion or exclusion of the commercial revenues, it appears that in your analysis at K1.6, you have included the commercial revenues.  And, again, why is that?


MR. MACLURE:  Well, as I say, I was looking at it and trying to analyze it as a stand-alone program in which it had both costs and revenues, and looking at what the revenue requirement was for that program as a whole.

I think the difference in PowerStream's 1.4, they were looking at an incremental program.


MR. O'LEARY:  And in your witness statement you have also expressed concern about a response that PowerStream gave to the working group's Interrogatory No. 12. 

You have heard some evidence from the PowerStream panel about the response of $127,000 being fully allocated, including burdens, for the OM&A.  We understand as a result of their evidence today that that number is in fact not fully allocated, but perhaps you have some comments, based upon your experience and that of the working group, as to the cost to provide service to a residential suite metering customer?


MR. MACLURE:  Well, I guess it -- just in terms of the incremental costs and all the effort that is involved in reading, validating, producing the bills, sending the bills, all of those incremental costs that are associated with individual metering, including the re-certification costs that are going to come up, a variety of other costs on a streamlined basis, that these costs just seem relatively light and really just didn't seem to represent what the true costs to these buildings would be.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Maclure.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Just a couple, Mr. Maclure.  I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit K1.8, which is a portion of the Board's decision in the Toronto Hydro case.  Do you have a copy of that?


MR. MACLURE:  Unfortunately, that was one of the ones that I didn't bring up with me.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Maclure, can you and I agree that the date that this decision was issued, on May 15th, 2008, the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group was in existence?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I am pretty certain it was.


MR. WARREN:  The impression I got from your answer to Mr. O'Leary's question in-chief was that you -- and this is my note of your testimony, that you got caught by the THESL decision.  Have I got that correctly?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Am I right that this -- am I right to conclude from this that the PowerStream application is, in your view, the first opportunity that the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group has to, in effect, reverse this portion of the Toronto Hydro case?  Is that a fair conclusion on my part?


MR. MACLURE:  No.  I don't believe it's a fair conclusion that we are in any way trying to reverse the Toronto Hydro decision.  The Toronto Hydro decision stands as it does. 

If we need to change the ongoing issues within Toronto -- for Toronto Hydro, we will move forward and intervene in the next Toronto rate case.


MR. WARREN:  Let me rephrase it.  Am I right in concluding that the PowerStream application is the first opportunity that the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group has to achieve a different result than the one that the Board decided in the Toronto Hydro case with respect to the participation or the terms on which local distribution companies would participate in the smart sub-metering market?


Is that a fair conclusion on my part?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I think that's fair.  It's the first opportunity we would have had to address this.


MR. WARREN:  Can we agree, sir, that during the time when the Toronto Hydro application was under consideration and the decision issued, that this Board was considering amendments to the Distribution System Code and the adoption of the Smart Sub-Metering Code?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes, sir.


MR. WARREN:  Am I right in understanding that the smart sub-metering group made a submission or submissions to this Board with respect to, among other things, the terms of section 5.1.9 of the Distribution System Code.

MR. MACLURE:  I can't actually confirm that.  Certainly we made submissions on both the changes the Board was proposing for the Distribution System Code and the smart sub-metering code to go back, and at this stage for me to recollect all the nature, the nuances of those submissions without having it in front of me, I couldn't do.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you this specific question, sir, given your general -- your last answer.  Can you tell me whether or not in its submission to the Board on section 5.1.9, the smart sub-metering working group asked that either the amendment not be adopted or that the participation, the terms of the participation of the LDCs in this market be conditioned by, among other thing, a requirement that they recover fully allocated costs; do you know if they said that in the submission?

MR. MACLURE:  I can't recollect.

MR. WARREN:  I wonder if I could ask you to undertake to provide a copy of the smart sub-metering working group’s last submission to this Board on section 5.1.9 of the Distribution System Code; can you do that?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes, sir.

MS. HELT:  We will have that marked as Undertaking J1.3.

UNDERTAKING J1.3:
TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE SMART SUB-METERING WORKING GROUP’S LAST SUBMISSION TO THIS BOARD ON SECTION 5.1.9 OF THE DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM CODE

MR. WARREN:  Two final points, sir.  Can we agree, sir, when you became aware of the decision of the Toronto Hydro case that the smart sub-metering working group took no decisions to challenge it in any way by way of appeal or otherwise?

MR. MACLURE:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Can you agree with me, sir, that in the period since then, that the smart sub-metering working group has made no application to amend the Distribution System Code?

MR. MACLURE:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much, sir.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, I just have three short areas.  We can probably start with your witness statement at paragraph 4.  I just have a couple of questions clarifying the business models That you talked about, and I think you actually talked about them as well in your opening. At paragraph 4, you're talking about a situation where the condominium corporation actually owns the smart sub-metering system.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am assuming in that case the condominium corporation would therefore be the customer to PowerStream in this example in terms of the bulk meter.

MR. MACLURE:  I would assume that would be the case, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then can you describe, would it be the case that the individual suite owners would be billed by --directly by the condominium corporation.

MR. MACLURE:  In -- not today.  And I say “not today” because it would be our view that a -- in that case, the condominium corporation would have to be the licensed sub-meterer to actually do the billing.  So typically what would happen in that scenario is that you would have the corporation that owns the assets, they own the meters.  They have complete responsibility for the maintenance of the meters, for recertification, for replacing meters if they are defective, faulty, however they would likely have retained a smart sub-meterer to read the meters, to bill the customers, and to likely collect the money for the service and that would be the kind of model that would be most likely in that scenario.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is there an alternative model that would still be...

MR. MACLURE:  Other alternative model --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, on the situation where the condominium owns the smart sub-metering assets, I will call them.

MR. MACLURE:  You could potentially have one in which the remitting of the bill was, in fact, to the condominium corporation and their property manager had to manage it.  I don't think that happens.  I am not aware of it happening, but there are certain other things.  There are many different possibilities.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  On paragraph 5, you have the ultimate extreme example which is where, I think this is the one you referred to, your company as having introduced for itself; is that fair?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Where a company such as yours owns all the assets.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In that case, who would be the customer to PowerStream for bulk metering?

MR. MACLURE:  In this case there has been -- it varies, depending on interpretation.  It could be and our preference would be for us to be seen as the customer so we act as agent, but in point of fact, the condominium corporation is the customer of PowerStream, we’re acting as agent for the condominium corporation, and they appoint us as their agent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The same question as before with respect to the individual unit owners, they are actually customers of who?

MR. MACLURE:  We would view them as our customers. Now, let me just go back for one second in terms -- we view them as our customers because -- but, in the event that you get into a contractual issue, the condominium corporation has the right, under contract, to terminate the contract or the service agreement they have with us on behalf of all the unit owners.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So ultimately they can step in.

MR. MACLURE:  So ultimately the condominium corporation is still there but they can terminate the agreement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Even in the midst of a disagreement.  So for Example, if I am an individual suite owner and I don't agree with the bill --

MR. MACLURE:  On collective, they do it for the condominium as a whole not individual basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Lastly, going to K1.6, you were going through this Spreadsheet, and I wanted to ask you some specific questions.  Line 14 and 15, you have a calculation I guess as a proxy for what the fully allocated OM&A cost should be?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You used $178.71 per customer number and you explain in note A how you calculate that?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the evidence we hear today from the company is that number is more like $110 per customer.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If we take $110 per customer -- when we say “per customer,” we use the 4,700 customers that are at line 1.

MR. MACLURE:  Um-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We take $110 times 4,700 we get --

MR. MACLURE:  517,000.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You’ve done the same thing I’ve done.  So 517,000, I just want to understand how that would work back into the table, so the 839,937 at line 15 would be replaced with 517 -- no, sorry.

MR. MACLURE:  Oh in my table, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, line 15 is currently 839,937 and that gets reduced to 517,000.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The difference there is $322,937.

MR. MACLURE:  Um-hmm.

MR. KAISER:  Is that yes?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I heard an affirmative sound, but I wasn’t sure if it was a yes.   I’m just looking at the reporter.
So from the total operating expenses, you would deduct $322,937?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes, you would deduct, pardon, what?

MR. BUONAGURO:  $322,937.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That means under line 20 when you are doing the suite meter revenue requirement, that number would be reduced by $322,937; is that right?

MR. MACLURE:  In part.  It wouldn't be exact because the line 17 feeds back up and has an impact on the working capital allowance.  So absent that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Would -- you are saying that there would be a further reduction in the working capital allowance?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I have got it wrong but wrong to the extent that there is even a greater reduction.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes, slightly greater.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can live with that for now.  That means if you flow that into line 28, line 28 says annual suite meter program sufficiency/deficiency, it says line 27 minus line 28, but that should actually be line 27 minus line 20; is that right?  I think.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I apologize.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is no problem. I just want to make sure I got it right.  Which means that at a minimum you would be adding back in $322,937 into line 28 which would give you a sufficiency of approximately $200,000?

MR. MACLURE:  Based on those numbers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That is what I wanted to check.  Then a further increase as result of the impact of the OM&A number on working capital allowance, I think so the sufficiency would be something slightly more than $200,000.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  I am not sure exactly what it would be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But, directionally, that's how it would --


MR. MACLURE:  Directionally, it would be that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, and if I might ask, I have an appointment I have to get to, if I can ask the Board's leave to take off?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Newland:


MS. NEWLAND:  Good afternoon.  I was just following on a point that was referred to by Mr. Buonaguro.  I take it that the members of your group have commercial contracts with the condo corporation or the condo developer; is that correct?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  What is generally the term of those agreements?


MR. MACLURE:  They vary.  They vary based on negotiations with the condominium corporations.


MS. NEWLAND:  Are they long-term contracts?


MR. MACLURE:  They can be, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Can they be as long as 25 years?


MR. MACLURE:  Enbridge Electric's contracting commitment to the condominium corporation is for 25 years.  That contract is terminatable by the corporation at any time.


MS. NEWLAND:  And is there a termination cost or exit fee?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  The termination cost is the compensation for the capital investment we have made in the building.


MS. NEWLAND:  What does -- what -- do your member companies have a specific mandate to advance the conservation objectives of the Government of Ontario?


MR. MACLURE:  A specific mandate, no.  We don't have a legislative mandate to advance it.  I would suggest, though, that individual suite metering is a conservation demand management program right from the get-go.  In particular, in retrofit condominiums, where there have been no accountability for individuals' electricity consumption in the past, this is where Mr. O'Leary indicated earlier that we are typically experiencing over a period of time a 20 percent reduction in a building's electrical consumption. 

So it is, in fact, a program in and of itself.  At the same time, there is nothing to stop us from advancing and trying to put into place programs that an LDC would want us to advance to reduce the demand on their distribution system.


MS. NEWLAND:  You are not in the business, though, to advance CDM objectives.  You are in the business to make a profit; right?


MR. MACLURE:  I think I am in the business, as part of Enbridge Electric, to advance conservation.  That was one of the reasons we got into the business at the very get-go.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Mr. Maclure, you had the discussion this morning regarding the obligation of electricity distributors to provide smart suite metering services as part of their obligations --

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  -- to serve as distributors.  And you heard others, Ms. Spoel and Ms. Helt and others, refer to section 5.19 of the Distribution System Code, and I am sure you are well aware of that?


MR. MACLURE.  Um-hmm

MS. NEWLAND:  And you wouldn't disagree that smart metering is part of the distribution activity that is already covered by a distributor's distribution licence, would you?


MR. MACLURE:  No, I wouldn't disagree with that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you worked for Enbridge Gas Distribution and its predecessor, Consumers Gas, for about 17 years, is that correct, more a less?  A long time?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  I guess it was about that, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  During your career, you held various positions, including manager of rate base research and design and manager of rate design and revenue forecasting?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Now, I know you are a modest man, but I think it would be fair to say that you have more than passing familiarity with rate-making principles?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  One of those principles that is sacrosanct to distributors is that they are entitled to recover in their distribution rates the prudently-incurred costs of providing distribution services; is that the case?


MR. MACLURE:  That would be the case.


MS. NEWLAND:  And your former employee, Enbridge Gas Distribution, certainly has had and continues to have that expectation; is that correct?


MR. MACLURE:  I can't answer for EGD anymore.


MS. NEWLAND:  You wouldn't be surprised at all if I told you that PowerStream also has that expectation?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Could you turn up your witness statement, please?  And I am going to refer you to just a couple of paragraphs.  The witness statement is Exhibit 3.


MR. MACLURE:  I have got it, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, it's in your brief of documents at tab 22.  I am referring you first, Mr. Maclure, to paragraph 8 and the second full sentence.  Could you read that sentence, please?


MR. MACLURE:  Which sentence, please?


MS. NEWLAND:  The second sentence in paragraph 8 of page 3 of 6.  Maybe you can read the first two.  Read the first two sentences.  It puts the second one in context, please.


MR. MACLURE:  "Members of the SSMWG view other
licensed smart sub-metering companies and local LDCs as their competitors.  However, the SSMWG is greatly concerned for the potential of anti-competitive impacts and the significant financial and economic advantages LDCs will have if permitted to recover the cost of their suite metering programs in rates."


MS. NEWLAND:  So your concern, then, is about our ability to recover in rates the cost of our program?  That's what --

MR. MACLURE:  What we are concerned about is the recovery in rates of a program that, as Mr. O'Leary indicated today, has a capital cost between $680 per unit and $880 per unit, and to our way of thinking could in fact have a cost of possibly $120 to $130.  We are not sure.


MS. NEWLAND:  I just want to be clear, and I will get back to this, because I am not sure what the smart meter working group is asking this Board to do in this proceeding.


So let's just turn to paragraph 16, please.  And in that paragraph, it states that:

"To ensure that cross-subsidization does not continue in the future, and to eliminate any concern about whether PowerStream is undertaking economic evaluations appropriately or at all in respect of new and existing condominiums that are being converted, the SSMWG submits that PowerStream's smart suite metering program should be undertaken either through an affiliate or non-utility activity using a fully allocated cost model."


That's what it says; right?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, that's what it says.


MS. NEWLAND:  Can you point me to anywhere in your witness statement where you say -- where you state the position that the costs should be recovered, but only to the extent they are prudent? 

The two statements that I have -- that you have read and that I have read suggest that the costs should be removed entirely, and I am asking you to point to a place where your group suggests that that cost should be -- that revenue requirement should be adjusted, but only to the extent that the costs are not prudent.


Is there a place in your statement that you say that?


MR. MACLURE:  Possibly not, I guess.  Now, to the extent that it's a non-utility activity, I think we might be able to look at what that non-utility activity ends up and how the cost is done on a non-utility basis.


MS. NEWLAND:  We will get to that, but at this point in time, it is a utility activity; correct?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Now, if you require the activity of smart suite metering to be carried out in an affiliate or as a non-utility activity, you would agree that the cost of suite metering would not be recovered through distribution rates; true? That's the implication; correct?


MR. MACLURE:  They need not.


MS. NEWLAND:  You would agree that that would put PowerStream in the peculiar situation of providing a mandate -- mandated distribution service without the ability to recover the costs of the service in rates?  That's the end result?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes, they could be providing a mandated distribution activity.

MS. NEWLAND:  Without remuneration or cost --


MR. MACLURE:  I would say not at all without remuneration, they could get remunerated in any way that they wanted to.  As an affiliate, as an affiliate, they could potentially charge whatever they felt like for the service just as we do.


MS. NEWLAND:  But it's not the affiliate, Mr. Maclure, that has the obligation to provide the service; correct?


MR. MACLURE:  The obligation to provide does not come at no cost.  So from the point of view of looking at what the obligation is, I don't remember reading anything that said the LDC is obligated to provide the service at any cost.


MS. NEWLAND:  And that's not what we are talking about.


MR. MACLURE:  But we are.  We are talking about that because the cost that they are providing it at is $680, $780 or $880 per unit.


MS. NEWLAND:  I think difficulty, Mr. Maclure, that we have having with your evidence, your statement, and also your testimony today, is that your written statement does not suggest, and you have just confirmed that, it does not raise the possibility of an adjustment to revenue requirement to reflect what you would call imprudent cost, costs. It's talking about forcing the utility to move the business out of the utility entirely into an affiliate or operating it as a non-utility activity and reducing the revenue component by the entire amount of the suite metering costs.  You are not talking about an adjustment for excessive costs in your parlance, you are talking about 100 percent adjustment, and that's the problem we are having with your evidence.  Could you explain to the Board what position your group is taking on this issue?


MR. MACLURE:  Well, I think the position that we had taken is that the suite metering program, albeit mandated, should not be a program that is undertaken using ratepayer funds.  In the -- we wanted to bring this to the Board's attention in the event that the Board determine that with all the current rules in place around PowerStream and its obligations, that there needed to be some adjustment that was different than possibly we propose, and our preference was that it be completely done outside of the utility because we believe that it could be, then the Board could make that adjustment.


MS. NEWLAND:  All right.  In paragraph 16, continuing with the paragraph, further down in the paragraph, and you're still talking about requiring PowerStream to undertake its suite metering program through an affiliate or as a non-utility activity, you say:  This will put PowerStream's smart suite metering program on the same levelized playing field as the competitive SSM providers. But would you also agree, Mr. Maclure, that it would put PowerStream on a completely different playing field than its other distributors such as Toronto Hydro.


MR. MACLURE:  Certainly for the present.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Maclure, you will recall, I am sure, that until it sold its rental water heating business, Enbridge Gas Distribution, the regulated gas utility, operated its rental water heater business but as a non-utility service; you recall that?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I can recollect that.


MS. NEWLAND:  And that meant that the costs and revenues of that business were carved out of the regulated costs and revenues, correct, of the regulated utility?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  But you would also agree Enbridge Gas Distribution was not legislatively mandated to rent water heaters to its customers; is that correct?  Subject to check with counsel.


MR. MACLURE:  I believe that is right, yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  I would like to move now the Exhibit K1.6 which is the table that was filed this morning, the suite metering revenue requirement.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Now, this table was originally included in the material -- in the document brief that was filed on Friday in a different, in a slightly different form.  Can you just describe the difference between the table that was filed on Friday and the table that we are discussing today?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  The table that I filed on Friday, I actually had followed a template that was in PowerStream's evidence at Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 2, which was the calculation of the revenue requirement for the smart meter adder, and I followed the calculation for the grossing up of PILs that was included in that particular exhibit.  Over the weekend, I looked and I, in fact, prior to finding, somebody had suggested to me that it didn't look right what I was filing, and I said well I basically copied this particular document in terms of the methodology, so I assume that I must be right.  To be fair, I am not intimately familiar with the PILs calculations.  In hindsight, I realized that it tended to overstate the tax calculation.


MS. NEWLAND:  And so what --


MR. MACLURE:  Basically the difference was a tax calculation difference.

MS. NEWLAND:  And the difference in bottom line, in the revenue deficiency/sufficiency figure, we see in this table you are showing a revenue deficiency of 118, almost $119,000, and in the table that was filed on Friday what was that number?


MR. MACLURE:  700,000.


MS. NEWLAND:  So it went from 700,000 down to 119,000.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  In this table, I am looking at the calculation of working capital allowance on lines 4 through 6.

MR. MACLURE:  Um-hmm.


MS. NEWLAND:  Line six shows an amount of $174,198, you see that?  And I take it that number is 15 percent of the figure that is shown on line 17.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, which is repeated at line 5.


MS. NEWLAND:  Right.  And that figure online 17 which is the total operating expenses includes the figure included amortization amount online 16 of $212,854; is that correct?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MS. NEWLAND:  Are you aware, Mr. Maclure, that the Board’s EDR Handbook states that working capital allowance is calculated as -- with respect to 15 percent of controllable distribution expenses, and that amortization would not be included as a controllable distribution expense?


MR. MACLURE:  Not specifically, but as I say, what I was doing is following the methodology in another document so I guess that other document is incorrect.


MS. NEWLAND:  All right.  Would you accept that if the amortization component was removed, subject to check, that the revenue requirement online 20 would be reduced by another $30,000?


MR. MACLURE:  Subject to check, I could redo the calculations.


MS. NEWLAND:  And that, in turn, would reduce the revenue deficiency by $30,000 obviously, subject to check.


MR. MACLURE:  As I say, I can redo the calculation, yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And we have already heard you state that if you were to recalculate this table using the $110 per customer O&M charge as opposed to the general O&M charge for all classes, that you use the sufficiency -- I think you accepted the sufficiency would decrease by about $200,000 -- the deficiency.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, certainly.  Any change to any assumptions including the capital costs, including the number of customers associated with capital cost, the revenues, all those things we have spoken about throughout the day would ultimately change the bottom line number. 

I mean, as I said, I still after today am not even certain any longer how many customers we are talking about.  I don't know whether there are 4,700 customers or 900 customers.  So I don't know what the calculation is.  I don't know when these customers are going to produce a revenue stream.


MS. NEWLAND:  So I take it from that answer that you are not asking this Board to reduce the revenue requirement stipulated in the settlement agreement, which is $114.56 million, by the figure that is shown on this table, the 118 or $119,000?


MR. MACLURE:  Today, I don't think the Board has enough information.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

Questions from the Board:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Maclure, I just have a few questions.  You compete with PowerStream?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, we do.


MR. KAISER:  On a day-to-day basis, I assume?


MR. MACLURE:  We try.


MR. KAISER:  I have no reason for knowing this or suggesting this, but would PowerStream and Enbridge be the major companies in this market, the dominant companies?


MR. MACLURE:  No, I don't think that we would.  I don't think that in terms of -- the smart sub-metering business depends on the market, but the various smart sub-metering companies play roles in PowerStream's service territory, so that I would like to think that we are the dominant player in the smart sub-metering business, but certainly Stratacon is fairly dominant.


I know that Provident has many customers in PowerStream's service territory, simply because they associate more with certain developers than others. 

So there are different players.


MR. KAISER:  Let's back up.  You started in 2002.  You had your first sale in 2004.  That was the --

MR. MACLURE:  The first installation, so the sale would have been done earlier than that.


MR. KAISER:  That was the 700-unit building in Mississauga?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  PowerStream came into the market in '07 and apparently didn't sell anything, and had their first sale into '08. 

If we were to look at PowerStream's territory, you are selling there; correct?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Would you have a larger or smaller market share than PowerStream in their territory?


MR. MACLURE:  Based on this market, umm..., I think slightly larger than PowerStream's, based on these -- hm, let me see...


 MR. KAISER:  You both have essentially the same business model?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Now, one question that's come up that perplexes me, and you have touched on it yourself, is that we know you used in your Exhibit K1.6 this number of 4,700, but we have heard evidence there is another of 1,600 of these units they expect to purchase in '09, bringing it up to the 6,300 units, which ends up translating into the capital costs that they intend to put in in rate base as part of this application.

But we have heard -- and this is at the back part of tab 18 of - I think it's your material - that there were 540 of these things in service in '08 when they had some 4,700 units, so a little more than 10 percent.


By the time we got to '09, that number was up to 940 or so on 6,300, still under 20 percent.  Is that unusual?  Is that your experience, that the number of units that you would have generating revenue would be a fraction -- less than 20 percent of the number of units that you had actually bought?


MR. MACLURE:  No.  My experience would be that by the time we are ready to call and basically say that we are operational within a building, I would expect that the building would probably be 80 percent occupied within five months. 

Typically, most -- this is in new condos, obviously.  Typically developers have presold the building.  They have pre-sold the building to typically 85 percent, and gradually they move people in -- each building is a little bit different, but gradually moving them in in tranches of however quickly they can get people to move in the suites, because they want to -- firstly, they can't register the condo until they get it pretty well occupied.


MR. KAISER:  So how many revenue-generating units do you have today?


MR. MACLURE:  Enbridge Electric has approximately 23,000 units.


MR. KAISER:  How many of these meters would you have bought to date?


MR. MACLURE:  How many would we have bought?


MR. KAISER:  You have 23 --

MR. MACLURE:  We would have bought 23,000 -- no, we have -- let me rephrase that.  We probably only have work in progress of maybe 1,000, maybe 1,500.  We have a couple of buildings that are getting ready to have people moved in this month.  We finished construction and installation on meters a couple of weeks ago.


MR. KAISER:  Then my last question.  We have had some discussion of the forms of contract that PowerStream uses, and this is at tab 13.  You will recall there was this contract, called the term reference letter, that essentially said that PowerStream would have no upfront charge provided the condo corp granted PowerStream status as the exclusive metering and installation service provider in that building.


Do you essentially have the same arrangement?  You waive any upfront fee in return for an exclusivity?


MR. MACLURE:  I guess the difference with us is I wouldn't call it exclusivity.  We traditionally have entered into what I characterize as a 25-year commitment to the condominium corporation, and within their contract they have the right to terminate the agreement on behalf of themselves and the corporation, as a whole, meaning all the unit holders, at any time.


MR. KAISER:  They can terminate at any time and, if I heard your earlier evidence right, provided they paid you for the equipment that you had installed?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I suppose at depreciated cost?


MR. MACLURE:  At depreciated cost.


MS. SPOEL:  I understood -- I may have got this wrong, but I understood one of the objections your counsel was taking to the exclusive nature of the contract that PowerStream offered, or the arrangement, was that individual suite owners, individual owners of individual condominiums, would not be able to opt out; that it was the building as a whole.


Now, that's the same kind of exclusivity that you have?


MR. MACLURE:  No, no, I would --


MS. SPOEL:  So if I am an owner of a condominium that has a sub-meter provided by Enbridge Electric, I can personally opt out and the rest of the building is still in, or is it the building as a whole is in or out?


MR. MACLURE:  The building as a whole is in or out.


MS. SPOEL:  I just wanted to clarify that.  So in that sense, it's exclusive, in that someone else can't serve half the building?


MR. MACLURE:  No.  And if you think about it, they --

MS. SPOEL:  It makes sense.  I just wanted to make sure that I understood what we were talking about.


MR. MACLURE:  These meters, of course, where one meter closes, it serves twelve units or ten units, or whatever, and you can't divvy them up.


MS. SPOEL:  No, I understand the practicality.  I just wanted to make sure that I understand that aspect of the relationship is essentially the same.  You do a whole building or you don't do it at all?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  I think the difference, as I understand it - maybe I misunderstood what PowerStream was saying - is that I understood them to say that the condominium corporation for the common area, only, which might represent 30 to 60 percent of the load of the building, could opt out if -- and they were to take out their meters and allow somebody else to go in and supply just their corporation's common area, but the individual residents, the individual unit owners, could never opt out.


That was how I understood their evidence.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  So we have established you more or less have the same business model, and I take it probably sell more or less the same equipment, supply more or less the same equipment?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  Basically, the meters that Enbridge Electric uses and has been using right from the get-go are QuadLogic Meters, with the exception of that first building, which we inherited and meter base is in already.


MR. KAISER:  That's what PowerStream is using?


MR. MACLURE:  Now they are, yes.


MR. KAISER:  They are the ones that serve twelve, or whatever it is?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  So if we were to look at the potential allegation -- I am not sure whether you were really making that allegation or not, if we were looking at the anti-competitive aspect of this, if Enbridge had the same form of contract as you did, and I believe the only distinction is, as least I don't see it in their contract that the condo corp. has the right to terminate provided they buy the equipment back from the supplier, whether that's you in the case of your contract or PowerStream, then you would have no objection that their forms of contract were in some way anti-competitive they would be virtually identical to the form of contract you’re using.

MR. MACLURE:  I assume when you said Enbridge you meant PowerStream.

MR. KAISER:  That's the difference I see in substance between the contracts between Enbridge and PowerStream.

MR. MACLURE:  In terms of the two contracts, that is a substantive difference.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Maclure just to clarify one area, in your witness statement you were -- I am looking specifically at paragraph 16, you would like -- your group would like this business to be undertaken to an affiliate or as a non-utility activity using a fully allocated cost model. Then when I looked at Tab 14 where you purported to show the results of fully allocated cost model, you see that one page, that's your product, that's your group's product, it is not PowerStream's; right?

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And then as I understand from the discussion this afternoon is that this schedule under tab 14 has been replaced by schedule K1.6.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Again, on a fully allocated basis.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And then Mr. Buonaguro took you to some of the changes, specifically with respect to the OM&A being $110 as opposed to a higher figure, and then he discussed with you that it would be a change in the bottom line of the sufficiency/deficiency of at least $320,000 which should provide a sufficiency of more than $200,000, as I recall the record, as opposed to your deficiency of $118,000.

MR. MACLURE:  Yes, based on all those assumptions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And then Ms. Newland took you further to your assumption of how the working capital would be calculated not on the total OM&A or rather on the controllable part of the OM&A, and there was another $30,000 figure there.

MR. MACLURE:  Um-hmm.

MR. VLAHOS:  So if you were to redo this table, I am not asking you to redo it, one would see the $118,000 to change to -- by at least $230,000; is that fair?  Sorry, change to at least $350,000.

MR. MACLURE:  I think if we were to only make those changes, we would.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right, yes.  So, now tell me now what are your concerns why the Board should not – well, first of all, let me back up.  So you use that table under tab 14 to prove to the Board that if you were to use the fully allocated cost model, then there is the subsidy going to certain directions.

MR. MACLURE:  Um-hmm.

MR. VLAHOS:  Correct.

MR. MACLURE:  Um-hmm.

MR. VLAHOS:  So now am I take to take there is no subsidy.

MR. MACLURE:  Well, I think that what we have got is we still have some – clearly, we still have some unknowns.  The calculations that we have just been talking about assume that the $110 of an OM&A unit customer cost is a good number as opposed to the $179 that was actually in their evidence as the total OM&A.  So we have to start by making that assumption that that is, in fact, a good number and I don't know whether it's a good number or not. We have to make the assumption that the 4,700 customers and the capital associated with those 4,700 customers are good numbers, and I am not longer certain that those are good numbers because we have heard that it may only be 900 customers that are actually producing revenues at this point in time.  At the same time, we have gone back through some of the evidence and we’re not sure that the capital cost of $680 per customer is not $780 or $880.  $100 of additional capital cost per suite results in another $470,000 of capital, so there are a variety...

MR. VLAHOS:  I understand, Mr. Maclure, and there is a bunch of assumptions going to every line and we are not going to go through that.  But your original schedule did not question any of those, you had used those numbers.  Those questions have come up today.

MR. MACLURE:  Um-hmm.

MR. VLAHOS:  Is that fair?

MR. MACLURE:  That's fair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Just a clarification, sir.  You referred to tab 14, I think it's tab 24, sir.

MS. NEWLAND:  It's tab 14 in PowerStream's book and tab 24 in SSWMG book.

MR. VLAHOS:  Tab 24, I have Exhibit K1.5 in front of me.  MR. WARREN:  So that should be 24.

MR. KAISER:  The -- I guess this is PowerStream production.  The famous schedule the has the 540 units being in service at the end of 2008 and the 920 units being in service at the end of 2009, that's the one you can hardly read.  MR. O’LEARY:  Tab 18, sir, last page.

MR. KAISER:  Right, thank you.  My recollection is that this was produced in response to a Board Staff interrogatory; is that right Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  That's my understanding, it's attached to Board Staff interrogatory number 27.

MR. KAISER:  Just since this has now surfaced as an issue, and this was, am I right this was 27(c), is that response to 27(c)?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  And Ms. Newland, since it's your response to Board Staff interrogatory, can I just clarify, the question was: Provide a live Excel spreadsheet -- I don't know what a live spreadsheet is as opposed to a dead one -- but a live Excel spreadsheet, one where the formulae are visible, I guess that's what live is, that shows the calculation of the 2009 customer count by customer class including the effect of the suite unit. So am I interpreting this right that when I look at the answer that you gave to Board Staff, and this is the last page, the top line -- by the way if you can provide a copy that we can read that would be helpful.  I know it's not your fault it got reproduced but presumably there is a better copy somewhere.

MS. NEWLAND:  We will undertake to do that.

MR. KAISER:  Am I reading this correctly if I look at the top box and I look at 2007 - I forget who asked this, it was probably Mr. Shepherd - that there were no sales, nothing in service in 2007.  At the end of 2008, there were 524 in service; and at the end of 2009, 976 units generating revenue; am I reading that correctly?

MS. NEWLAND:  I believe so but Mr. Barrett was whispering in my ear so can I just check with him.


MR. KAISER:  Sure.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Kaiser, we will get back to you with a clarification.  What I have been told is typically when we are doing customer counts, we would take averages.

MR. KAISER:  You mean the average for the year?

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, so these may be averages, they may not be, Mr. Barrett did not prepare this table and I don't think we have the person here who did, so we will undertake to get back to you on that point.

MR. KAISER:  All right, that would be helpful.  As I say, if there is a clearer copy that can be generated, blow it up.   Thank you.

MS. HELT:  We just note that as Undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING J1.4: PROVIDE EXCEL CACLULATION OF 209 CUSTOMER COUNTS BY CUSTOMER CLASS INCLUDING EFFECT OF SUITE UNIT

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, you had something?


MR. WARREN:  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Did you have any re-examination?


MR. O'LEARY:  I do, and it's --

MR. KAISER:  Did you have any questions, I am sorry, Ms. Helt?


MS. HELT:  No, Board Staff has no questions.
Re-Examination by Mr. O'Leary:


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Maclure, I have a couple of questions.  They arise out of Mr. Vlahos's question to you about the exhibit you prepared, which is K1.6.


I'd ask, for the purposes of my questions, that you have that one, which is your analysis, and also the PowerStream, K1.4, which was also filed this morning.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes, I have that, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  In your evidence in-chief, you spoke about the fact that you included, if may paraphrase it, the commercial revenues on the analysis you prepared, K1.6, to provide a fulsome picture of all the revenues generated in respect of that building; correct?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Can you describe for us the main drivers of the costs that are involved in terms of installing the 4,700 suite meters?  In other words, are they driven by the residential rate class or the commercial group?


MR. MACLURE:  Oh, the bulk of the costs would, of course, be the residential group, because that's where the bulk of the customers are. 

Now, that said, if this was a retrofit building, there certainly would be some additional commercial meters if you are measuring every single part of common space, as opposed to having a bulk meter.


MR. O'LEARY:  Of the 4,700 meters, what number are we talking about?


MR. MACLURE:  Oh, those are all 4,700 of the residential meter.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  If I could then turn you to PowerStream exhibit, K1.4?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  I notice at the bottom that in terms of the revenues, these are their forecast of revenues which they compare against their calculations for the revenue requirement.  You will see in fact they have for new residential revenue -- and I haven't got the exact numbers, but you will see it's about $1 million when you add 677,000 and 363?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  You will see, then, they have subtracted from that, in fact, an amount attributable to the commercial side of the building, which would be the common elements; correct?

They have reduced their total by $144,000, so that their incremental revenue, as they see, relating to the suite metering for the residential units in the building is actually only $897,000?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.  Certainly the incremental revenue is just under 900,000.


MR. O'LEARY:  That is the figure that would relate to the suite meters that are installed in the residential units; is it not?  I may have confused you. 

Can I ask you to perhaps do it this way?  If you go back to your Exhibit K1.6?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  You have a total revenue that you forecast of 1.34 million, K1.6?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  And that includes the commercial revenues?


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


MR. MACLURE:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  Would it be appropriate to compare the revenue assumptions that PowerStream has put together of 897 against your meter revenue requirement calculations, even if they are reduced down to reflect the evidence today, because you are comparing the cost of individual suite metering these residential units against the revenues that they will generate?


MR. MACLURE:  Umm..., to be fair, Mr. O'Leary, I would really have to review what -- the rationale behind the decremental revenue they are having on the commercial side. 

Certainly you are not comparing apples and apples.  These are entirely different capacities.


MR. O'LEARY:  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  So then we have the question of argument.  We would like to do this as quickly as we can.  Would it be possible for PowerStream to get in its written argument by the end of business on Wednesday?  That would be two days.


MS. NEWLAND:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Then we would ask the intervenors to get their argument in by the end of business on Friday, and any reply by the end of business on Tuesday the following week.  Is that satisfactory?


MS. NEWLAND:  That is, sir.  I would note that there are a couple of undertakings outstanding, but we will undertake to prepare them and circulate them tomorrow.


MR. KAISER:  And then on the question of the rate order, before we broke, I think, Mr. Macdonald, you were suggesting, if I understood your position, just leave the existing interim order in place and deal with it once a decision has been reached.  Have you changed your mind on that?


MR. MACDONALD:  It's difficult, sir, because to sort of back out some amount for the suite metering program would be very difficult to do, which you have heard today.

I guess the option of keeping our interim rates, our current rates, until a decision is reached, I guess it depends on how long it would take.


MR. KAISER:  We obviously understand the problem, and the written argument is on a condensed schedule.  And I think we can undertake to, at the very outside, have a decision within a week of receiving the final argument.


MR. MACDONALD:  That would be quite acceptable, sir.  Part of our settlement was rates May 1st, so we will just adjust accordingly.


MR. KAISER:  So given that, it would be best just to stay with the existing rates.


MR. MACDONALD:  Yes, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Anything further?  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 5:41 p.m.
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